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CHAIRMAN’S MESSAGE
EEEE

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS AND FRIENDS,

Greetings to you all

Time flies, and the seasons change swiftly. As we release our 2024 annual report,
on behalf of all staff of Xingye Wulian Service Group Co. Ltd. (the “Company”,
together with its subsidiary, the “Group”), | would like to express our deepest
appreciation and utmost respect to our customers, investors, partners and friends

across society for their enduring trust and support!
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Over the past year, we continued to capitalize on our strength in high-
concentration regional focus, following the trend of the times and dedicating
ourselves to fulfilling the needs of property owners. Through swift upgrades and
iterations, the Group has realized the dual-drive model of “property management
+ commercial management” and quickly built the “urban services” layout, striving
to become a nationally recognized and regionally dominant integrated service
provider. Over time, we aim to transform into a modern, digital, platform-based
and ecosystem-oriented enterprise, rooted in property services, powered by life

and commercial services as twin engines, and centered on science and technology.

Over the past year, we have achieved a total revenue from property management

and services of RMB359.1 million, which is fairly stable compared to last year.

We are fully aware that high-quality development is the inevitable trend in the
industry development. As property services enter an era of premium quality,
delivering exceptional services will become the Company’s core competitive
advantage and lifeline. Leveraging big customer data as our driving force, we
deeply identify the pain points and demands of customers to provide more precise
services. Guided by the principles of putting customer first, prioritizing service
excellence and ensuring quality, we segment our customers and products, establish
corresponding standardized systems and ensure their effective implementation.
For diverse business sectors and client requirements, we develop tailored service

frameworks to provide services that align quality with value.

Centered on the non-residential sector, we offer comprehensive services covering
property management and value-added services across various business segments.
Our service projects include venues such as the Zhengzhou International
Convention & Exhibition Center, the new headquarters of Shuanghui, and
headquarters of Top 500 companies. While expanding our presence in industrial
parks covering sectors such as livelihood projects, technology, heavy industry and
chemical industry, we also maintain strong momentum in healthcare, elderly care

and educational institutions.
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CHAIRMAN’S MESSAGE
EREEE

We are committed to technology empowerment. Through the intellectual
platform developed by Wuxiang Intelligent, we utilize big data, cloud computing
and other information technologies to empower our basic services, so as to
enable the aggregation, visualization, analysis, innovation, and sharing of the data
resources across the entire zone. By increasing device adoption and implementing
intelligent upgrades, we are continuously exploring new pathways for low-carbon

operations.

In terms of value-added services, we concentrate on products and services
while analyzing customer consumption behaviors to realize precise marketing.
Capitalizing on local expertise, we source the most cost-effective solutions for
clients, accompanied by the creation of Xingye Enterprise Service, a dedicated
brand specializing in commercial property (asset) management and operations,
providing end-to-end customized services for the entire lifecycle to enterprises.
Meanwhile, it also develops in-person engagement platforms centered on building
tenants, enabling the clients within the same community to efficiently fulfill their

social, emotional, and business objectives in limited time and space.

In terms of investment and construction, we have made successful strides in the
hotel sector, with multiple key construction milestones progressing on schedule.
We are confident that upon completion, these projects will exert a practical and

effective capital driving effect.
In the past year, we maintained steady progress, continuously expanding our

service scope and enhancing integrated service capabilities, while advancing

towards market-driven professionalism.
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Wherever one’s ambitions lead, there are no bounds to what can be achieved.
Facing the opportunities and challenges of a new era, we will maintain our vision
of “Making Cities Better”, steering the course of high-quality development with
innovation as our oar and responsibility as our sail. With the unwavering support
of our shareholders and partners, we are confident in writing new chapters of
success, delivering outstanding performance to honor every trust and expectation

placed in us!
With concerted efforts and collaborations, we shall embrace a magnificant victory

and achieve mutual benefits. Let us draw a new grand picture of urban services

and strive for a promising future together!

Mr. Qiu Ming

Chairman, Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 27 March 2025
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
DREH

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Director

Qiu Ming

Non-executive Directors
Zhang Huiqi

Wang Jinhu

Liu Zhengiang

Independent non-executive Directors
Xu Chun

Feng Zhidong

Zhou Sheng

AUDIT COMMITTEE
Feng Zhidong (Chairman)

Zhou Sheng

Xu Chun

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Zhou Sheng (Chairman)

Feng Zhidong

Xu Chun

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Qiu Ming (Chairman)

Zhou Sheng

Xu Chun

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES
Qiu Ming
Eric Jackson Chang

COMPANY SECRETARY
Eric Jackson Chang

AUDITOR
Forvis Mazars CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants and Registered PIE Auditor
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SOLICITOR

Howse Williams

PRINCIPAL BANKER

China Construction Bank (Hanghai Dong Lu branch)
No. 63 Hanghai Dong Lu

Zhengzhou City

Henan Province

China

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR
Tricor Investor Services Limited

| 7/F Far East Finance Centre

| 6 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE IN THE CAYMAN ISLANDS

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman
KYT-1111, Cayman Islands

HEADQUARTERS AND REGISTERED OFFICE IN THE

PRC

Room 105, Ist Floor

No.| Gangwan Road

Guancheng Hui District, Zhengzhou City
Henan Province

China

PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG
24th Floor

Wyndham Place

40-44 Wyndham Street, Central

Hong Kong

WEBSITE

www.xingyewulian.com *

STOCK CODE
Stock Exchange: 9916

* Information on the website does not form part of this annual report
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBRE

RESULTS HIGHLIGHTS EERE

For the year ended 31 December

BE+-A=+-ALFE

2024 2023
—EMmEF —T==
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ETT ARETT
Key financial information FEMBEHR
Revenue Wz 359,074 358,943
Gross profit EF 107,152 97219
Net profit for the year FREHAEN] 45,067 40,181
Key financial ratios FEMFER
Gross profit margin (%) FEHME (%) 29.8% 27.1%
Net profit margin (%) R FE (%) 12.6% 11.2%
Earnings per share BRREN
— Basic and diluted (RMB cents) - EAREE(ARE D) 11.26 10.04
SUMMARY OF BALANCE SHEET BEEEERHME
At 31 December
®W+=-A=+—H
2024 2023
o1 -3 —T==
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ETT ARETT
Total assets BEMAEE 716,135 699,054
Cash and cash equivalent e RIRETEEY 223,944 210,684
Total liabilities SNt 216,164 244,024
Shareholders’ equity IR R 499,926 454,999
Current ratio (times) TEENE R (%) 2.4 2.1
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

Established in 1999, we are a reputable property management service provider
in Henan Province with a particular focus on offering property management and
value-added services. We provide a wide range of property management services
which include, among others, security, cleaning, greening and gardening, parking
space management, repair and maintenance for common areas and customer
services, and value-added services which include repair and maintenance for
exclusive use areas, renovation waste clearance, intermediary leasing services, etc.
We also provide our customers with property engineering services which include
the planning, design and installation of security and surveillance systems, access
control systems, carpark management systems and construction site management
systems, in order to enhance the quality of the property management systems of

our customers.

During the Year, our Group continued its business strategies to diversify its
portfolio of pipeline properties in both non-residential properties and residential
properties in provision of property management and value-added services. Thus,
our portfolio of properties under management expanded during the Year from
gross floor area (“GFA") of approximately 8.5 million sq.m. as at 31 December
2023 to approximately I1.0 million sq.m. as at 31 December 2024. As at
31 December 2024, our portfolio of contracted properties covered GFA of

approximately 5.1 million sq.m. in aggregate.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBHRR T

During the Year, we have entered into 57 new property engineering contracts
with an aggregated contract amount of approximately RMB37.4 million. As at
31 December 2024, the total contract sum for contracted engineering services
with remaining performance obligations amounted to contract sum for RMB49.7

million, which will contribute to our Group's revenue in the future.

Apart from property management and value-added services and property
engineering services, we are increasing our input on charging pile services to build
more and more charging stations in the area of both non-residential properties

and residential properties.

In line with the strategic review of the Company’s business and seeing the
opportunity in the property construction industry in the PRC, in 2023, our Group
acquired Henan Zheng Zhi Yue Real Estate Co, Ltd* (A IEZ IR B EBR A
7)) (“Zheng Zhi Yue"), in order to develop its property development business.
As at 31 December 2024, the Group (through Zheng Zhi Yue) held a property
under development, namely the Zhengzhou Zensun Centre Project located in
East Ruyi Road West and South Ruyi River West st Street, Zhengzhou City,
Henan Province, the PRC, with a total site area of approximately 14,923.11 sqm.
and GFA of approximately 44,655.14 sq.m. The Zhengzhou Zensun Centre
Project is at the construction stage and involves the development of a hotel and
saleable commercial units. As at the date of this report, the Zhengzhou Zensun
Centre Project has completed the main construction work. The construction of
the Zhengzhou Zensun Centre Project is expected to be completed by the end
of 2025.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue
Our Group's revenue was primarily generated from (i) property management and

value-added services; and (ii) property engineering services.

For the Year, our Group's total revenue was approximately RMB359.1 million,
which was fairly stable as compared to approximately RMB358.9 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023. Such changes was primarily resulted from the
increase in segment revenue from property management services while offset by

the decrease in segment revenue from property engineering services.

The following table sets out the breakdown of our revenue by type of services

during the years:

B Rk A

B 7% 51 g8

Uz
AEBNKSFEFEZRBMEERERIGE
A7 R ()ELIIZRTE ©

RAFE  AEBWRZBEBEHAARKE
39. BB BEE-_E-_=F+_A
= +—HIEFENOARKEIBIBE LA
BT FHEHTZANMEETER
BH D W =R IE N TRRGE D
R A o

TR S FELRBER B 20U S
BRAR -

2024 2023
kS £ 5
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFT AR¥ETT
Property management and M EIE MIBE MRS
value-added services
— Property management services —MEEEIR 297,328 82.8 274,148 764
— Value-added services — I (EARTS 5,498 1.5 4097 I
302,826 843 278,245 775
Property engineering services S E MRS 20,947 5.9 40,469 1.3
Others (Note) Hth(Brat) 35,301 9.8 40,229 112
Total #Et 359,074 100.0 358,943 100.0

Note:  “Others” comprises online group-buying services, charging pile services and club
house services (including catering and ancillary services) as well as intermediary
services (including real estate leasing and selling intermediaries service, and renovation

intermediaries service).
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BRERE (R EXRRILERE)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBHRR T

The following table sets out the breakdown of our revenue generated from a
person(s) or company(ies) who/which is or are independent of and not connected
with our Company and our connected persons and related parties (“Independent

Third Parties”) and our related parties during the years:

TRENEFERMREBILNAAF
NI BEEA L K AR )y BB 2 I &
BENALTHAB(BIE=ER ) LR
IR AR 77 B Uk s R AR

2024 2023
—EMEF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARBFT
Independent Third Parties BYE=F 306,125 85.3 289,267 80.6
Related parties (alipa) 52,949 14.7 69,676 194
Total #Et 359,074 100.0 358,943 100.0
Property management and value-added services VEEERIEERE

Our Group’s revenue generated from property management and value-added
services increased by approximately RMB24.6 million or 8.8% from approximately
RMB278.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately
RMB302.8 million for the Year. This increase was primarily resulted from: (i) the
expansion of properties under management through continuous expansion of
diversified property portfolio of both non-residential and residential properties
of which led to an increase in revenue generated from property management
services of approximately RMB23.2 million, and (i) the expansion of value-added
services which includes, for examples, provision of cooling services and garbage
cleaning services, which led to an increase in revenue generated from value-added

services of approximately RMB1.4 million.

Property engineering services

Revenue from property engineering services has decreased from approximately
RMB40.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately
RMB20.9 million for the Year, representing a decrease in revenue of approximately
RMB19.6 million or 48.4%. Such decrease was mainly affected by the sustained

downturn of the real estate market which led to lower demand of our services.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Others

Other revenue decreased from approximately RMB40.2 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023 to approximately RMB35.3 million for the Year,
representing a decrease of approximately RMB4.9 million or 12.2%. Such decrease

was primarily due to less intermediary services were provided during the Year.

Cost of Services

Our Group’s cost of services consisted of subcontracting costs, staff costs and
materials and consumables. We recorded a decrease in cost of services of
approximately RMB9.8 million or 3.7% from approximately RMB261.7 million
for the year ended 3| December 2023 to approximately RMB251.9 million for
the Year. Such decrease was generally attributable to the implementation of cost
reduction control measures by the Group, lowering the costs associated with the

projects undertaken during the Year.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

Our gross profit increased by approximately RMB10.0 million or 10.3% from
approximately RMB97.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to
approximately RMB107.2 million for the Year. Our gross profit margin was
approximately 29.8% for the Year as compared to that of approximately 27.1%
for the year ended 3| December 2023. The increase in the Group's gross
profit margin was mainly attributable to the implementation of cost reduction
control measures by the Group, lowering the costs associated with the projects

undertaken during the Year.

Other Income, Other Gains and Losses, Net

Other income, other gains and losses, net comprised losses from foreign exchange
differences, government grants, sundry income and interest income. Our other
income, other gains and losses, net decreased from approximately RMB5.7 million
for the year ended 3| December 2023 to approximately RMB0.4 million for the
Year. Such decrease was mainly attributable to the decrease in government grants
received while offset by decrease in losses from foreign exchange differences

recognised during the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBHRR T

Selling and Marketing Expenses

Our selling and marketing expenses primarily comprised marketing expenses
and staff costs for our marketing personnel. Our selling and marketing expenses
decreased by approximately RMBO.7 million or 29.2% from approximately
RMB2.4 million for the year ended 3| December 2023 to approximately RMB 1.7
million for the Year. Such decrease was consistent with our effort in cost cutting

measures related to selling and marketing activities during the Year.

Administrative Expenses

Our administrative expenses mainly comprised staff costs of our administrative
staff at our headquarters, office expenses and professional fees. Our administrative
expenses decreased by approximately RMB3.| million or 7.3% from approximately
RMB42.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately
RMB39.1 million for the Year. Such decrease was mainly attributable to decrease

in professional fee and events consultation fee during the Year.

Finance Costs
Our finance costs represented the imputed interest generated from rights of use

assets in connection with the lease contract payments for our leased properties.

Income Tax Expenses

Our income tax expenses slightly decreased by approximately RMBOQ.7 million or
4.2% from approximately RMB16.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2023
to approximately RMB16.0 million for the Year, which was mainly attributable to
the increased recognition of deferred tax assets, which stemmed from the larger

amount of expected credit losses identified during the Year.

Profit for the Year

As a result of the foregoing, our profit for the Year increased by approximately
RMB4.9 million or 12.2% from approximately RMB40.2 million for the year ended
31 December 2023 to approximately RMB45.1 million for the Year.

Dividend for the Year

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL POSITION

Property, Plant and Equipment

The net carrying value of property, plant and equipment amounted to
approximately RMB205.4 million as at 31 December 2024, representing an
increase by approximately RMB16.9 million or 9.0% as compared to approximately
RMB188.5 million as at 31 December 2023, was mainly resulted from additions in

construction in progress of RMBI7.1 million during the Year.

Properties under Development

Our properties under development amounted to approximately RMB141.0
million as at 31 December 2024, representing an increase by approximately
RMB10.3 million or 7.9% as compared to approximately RMBI130.7 million as
at 31 December 2023. Such increase was mainly resulted from the continuing

construction progress in our properties under development during the Year.

Trade Receivables

Our total trade receivables was approximately RMB59.7 million and trade
receivable net of loss allowance was approximately RMB55.7 million as at 31
December 2024, as compared to that of approximately RMB102.2 million and
RMB99.7 million, respectively, as at 3| December 2023. The decrease in both the
total gross amount of trade receivables and trade receivable net of loss allowance
were mainly due to the increase in repayment from the trade receivables,
resulting from the Group’s efforts in enforcing its trade receivable collection and

management measures during the Year.

In the provision of property management and value-added services to customers
(including related party customers), the Group mainly requires payments in
advance, and the terms for the provision of property engineering services to
customers (including related party customers) are mainly on credit and the credit

period is generally within 30 days.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEBRR N

Our gross amount of trade receivables from related parties amounted to
approximately RMB30.2 million as at 31 December 2024, representing a decrease
of approximately RMB43.9 million or 59.2% as compared to approximately
RMB74.1 million as at 3| December 2023, were associated with outstanding
property management fees generated from unsold properties under management
and property engineering services rendered to the related parties. As at the
date of this report, there were subsequent settlements of the trade receivables
from related parties of approximately RMBI14.0 million, which represented
approximately 46.4% of the gross amount of trade receivables from related parties
as at 31 December 2024.

Our gross amount of trade receivables from Independent Third Parties amounted
to approximately RMB29.4 million as at 31 December 2024, representing an
increase of approximately RMBI.3 million or 4.6% as compared to approximately
RMB28.1 million as at 31 December 2023. The increase was consistent with the
increase in revenue generated from Independent Third Parties. As at the date
of this report, there were subsequent settlements of the trade receivables from
Independent Third Parties of approximately RMB5.4 million, which represented
approximately 18.4% of the gross amount of trade receivables from Independent
Third Parties as at 3|1 December 2024.

The Group understands that its customers and their repayment ability have been
affected by the adverse business environment in the real estate market in the PRC,
nonetheless, the Group has taken proactive steps to recover the trade receivables,

thereby mitigating the defaults risk of the trade receivables.

In particular, the Group has (i) in accordance with its credit risk management
policy, conducted periodic review of the credit risk of the debtors, including
reviewing their financial position and assess if there were any increased credit
risk of debtors; (ii) maintained ongoing communications with the debtors to
understand the updated business operations of the debtors such as the expected
returns and cash flows of the debtors so as to assess the recoverability of the
outstanding trade receivables; and (iii) requested partial repayment of the trade
receivables from time to time. With the aforementioned efforts by the Group, the
Group managed to reduce the gross amount of the trade receivables from related
parties as at 31 December 2024 by approximately 59.2% as compared to the

corresponding amount as at 31 December 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Prepayments, Other Receivables and Other Assets

Prepayments, other receivables and other assets increased by approximately
RMBI17.5 million or 69.4% from approximately RMB25.2 million as at 31
December 2023 to approximately RMB42.7 million as at 31 December 2024.
Such increase was mainly due to the increase in prepaid subcontracting labour

costs of approximately RMB 7.2 million near end of 2024.

Trade Payables

Our trade payables primarily consisted of payables to our suppliers for their
products and our subcontractors for their provision of labour or services for
property management and value-added services and property engineering
services. Our trade payables amounted to approximately RMB24.3 million as at
31 December 2024, representing a decrease of approximately RMB30.7 million or
55.8% as compared to approximately RMB55.0 million as at 31 December 2023.
The decrease in trade payables was as a result of the timely settlement of our

trade payables during the Year.

Other Payables and Accruals

Our other payables and accruals mainly comprised other payables, payroll payables,
deposits, tax payables other than income tax and amounts due to related parties.
Our other payables and accruals amounted to approximately RMB89.0 million as
at 31 December 2024, representing a decrease of approximately RMB7.1 million
or 7.4% as compared to approximately RMB96.1 million as at 31 December 2023.
The main reason for the decrement was because more settlements were made

during the Year.

Contract Liabilities

Our contract liabilities represented advanced receipts for property management
and value-added services. Our contract liabilities increased from approximately
RMB85.4 million as at 31 December 2023 to approximately RMB96.6 million as at
31 December 2024, representing an increase of approximately RMBI .2 million
or 13.1%. The increase was mainly due to the increase in advances received from
customers of property management services and value-added services during the

Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBHRR T

Indebtedness

As at 3| December 2024 and 2023, we had no outstanding borrowings
and unutilised banking facilities. The Group’s lease liabilities decreased from
approximately RMB3.0 million as at 31 December 2023 to approximately RMBI.9
million as at 31 December 2024.

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital Structure

Our Group maintained a healthy financial position. As at 31 December 2024, the
current assets amounted to approximately RMB506.7 million, remained stable
as compared to approximately RMB507.1 million as at 31 December 2023. As
at 31 December 2024, cash and cash equivalents of our Group amounted to
approximately RMB223.9 million, representing an increase of approximately
RMB13.2 million or 6.3% as compared to approximately RMB210.7 million as at
31 December 2023. As at 3| December 2024, the cash and cash equivalents of

the Group were mainly denominated in RMB and Hong Kong dollars.

Gearing ratio is calculated based on the total debt (of which debt represents
interest-bearing borrowings) divided by the total equity as at the end of the
reporting period. As at 31 December 2024, our Group has no interest-bearing

borrowings and hence the gearing ratio was nil.

The capital structure of our Group is primarily equity which comprises issued

share capital and reserves.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Current Ratio

Current ratio is calculated based on the total current assets divided by the total
current liabilities at the end of the reporting period. The current ratio of our
Group is 2.4 times as at 31 December 2024 as compared to 2.1 times as at 3|
December 2023.

Charge of Group’s Assets and Pledge of Assets
As at 31 December 2024, none of the assets of our Group was pledged and

there were no charges on the Group's assets.

Contingent Liabilities
As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any significant contingent

liabilities.

Capital Commitments
As at 31 December 2024, the Group has capital expenditure commitments of

RMB282.1 million relating to construction in progress.

Foreign Exchange Risks

Our Group mainly operates in the PRC with most of the transactions settled
in RMB. Therefore, the Group is not exposed to significant foreign currency
exchange risk except certain bank balances denominated in Hong Kong dollars
that were held by the Company. Currently, the Group did not enter into contracts
to hedge its exposure to foreign exchange risk, but the management will continue
to monitor the foreign exchange exposure, and take prudent measures to reduce

the foreign exchange risk.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBHRR T

EMPLOYMENT AND REMUNERATION POLICY
As at 31 December 2024, our Group had 730 employees. We generally

determine employees’ compensation based on their qualification, position,
seniority and performance. Pursuant to relevant laws and regulations in the PRC,
we participate in various employee social security plans that are organised by
applicable local municipal and provincial governments, including pension, medical,
matemnity, work-related injury and unemployment benefit plans. Total staff-related
cost, including Directors’ emoluments, was approximately RMB85.1 million (2023:
RMB63.3 million) during the Year.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

Our Group did not have any material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries,

associates and joint ventures during the Year.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any significant investments

accounting for more than 5% of the Group’s total assets.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR
CAPITAL ASSETS

There was no specific plan for material investments or capital assets as at 3|
December 2024. In the event that the Group is engaged in any plan for material
investments or capital assets, the Company will make announcement(s) and

comply with relevant rules under the Listing Rules as and when appropriate.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FUTURE OUTLOOK

Our Group will continue to strengthen our position in the property management
service and property engineering service by implementing the following
strategies: |. Enhance service quality and deepen our expertise in the non-
residential property services sector. 2. Select high-growth, high-value projects for
management and selectively pursue mergers and acquisitions within the property
management industry. 3. Participate in an early stage of construction projects by
leveraging our experience and ability in property management services with a
view to winning the property management collaborations at a later stage of the
projects. 4. Continue to improve our level of intelligence, reduce costs, improve
efficiency, and enhance overall operational efficiency. 5. Continuously develop
applications and increase the investment in intelligent and automated equipment
in project management to improve customer experience. 6. Focus on value-
added services, adopt a customer-centric approach, precisely develop and provide
service products, extend service length, and increase satisfaction with value-
added services to enhance overall satisfaction with property management services.
The acquisitions completed so far and the entry into new business segment in
investment, development and construction of non-residential properties have laid
a solid foundation for the Group to explore and develop more potential and high-

profitability opportunities.

The Group is committed to pursuing a path of high-quality development. We
will enhance the overall quality of property services in terms of infrastructure and
equipment maintenance and construction, landscaping of parks, and improvement
of customer service. We will focus on researching customer needs, developing
service products, and providing more accurate services; actively promoting digital
transformation, using artificial intelligence technology to offer efficient solutions
for diverse scenarios, empowering property services with artificial intelligence to
comprehensively improve operational efficiency and service quality; and striving
to enhance brand awareness and influence, broaden service boundaries, extend
service length, develop featured and specialized services, and boost market

competitiveness.

B Rk A

RRRE

AEB B EERBERIATRERINA
BTEYFEE RS MY X TRREH
HHIGZ ¢ 1 RFTIRIS @ E - RBIEEE
MERGER -2 BESKE - Sf4E
HESHEEE EEBEUSKYEEENT
EAUWGHRE - 3~ FIARFIEDREER
B NN S EERIAR FHMER
UBBRIMEEEAE -4 BEBIRS
BREALKF - BRAER - BT EEES
MK -5 FHEFMBEAERF - 871 E
EEPERL  ABEREBRARET
BEFER -6 BEEERE  UKPR
b RBERBEREREER - THRR
BRE ReBEMEEREADEE
ERBOMEE - BAIE TROKREE
HAREERE BRMERIFEED
XEMEBOR  RAKBEEER T
FRERE S BB N NS R R o

AEBBERERLEERRIHE - &
RRERERERR BRSLEE -
HERBIRTTSZ 7 EIARTTBEYE
REEE - HFIBEHARTLFR
FRERGER  REERKERS - Bi%
HEHF(EL  UATEREMAZ
TS RRESMERTE  AATERE
EEMERT - 2HETEE XXMM
BmE BORTmENBERTE
N mERBER  THRBEE - %
RIEFENBERS - fATISHFE

F35 2024 | BEEYBRSEEERAR 2|



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBHRR T

In the future, we will strive to build a smart ecosystem, advancing towards
becoming a comprehensive service operator that is intelligent, ecological, and
people-oriented. Leveraging the Intemet of Things, artificial intelligence, and big
customer data technologies, we will enhance responsiveness; vigorously develop
value-added services, open up the “last mile” resources, and strive to build a
community economic ecosystem; elevate brand awareness and influence, create a
warm community culture, and achieve co-creation of humanistic values; fulfill social
responsibilities, optimize public energy consumption, and be the guardians of green
development and urban resilience. We will keep our mission and responsibilities
in mind, acting as efficiency innovators empowered by technology, as well as
designers of beautiful life scenarios. By linking space, resources, and human needs,
with customer demands as the origin, technological innovation as the engine, and
social responsibility as the mission, we will adapt to the rapid development of the
times in the fiercely competitive market environment, and reward shareholders
and investors with even better performance, as well as return the care and

support from our employees, the community and departments at all levels.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

QIU MING

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Qiu Ming (“ZEBA”) (“Mr. Qiu”), aged 39, was appointed as our executive
Director, chairman of our Board and our chief executive officer on 28 April
2023. Mr. Qiu is the chairman of the nomination committee of the Company

(“Nomination Committee”).

Mr. Qiu has over 16 years of experience in various execution and management
roles in real estate industry. During the period from April 2009 to August 2013,
he was an architectural planning officer at the technology centre of Henan Zensun.
During the period from August 2013 to January 2016, Mr. Qiu was a deputy
manager at the technology centre of Henan Zensun. During the period from
January 2016 to September 2017, Mr. Qiu was the manager at the technology
and standardization centre of Henan Zensun. During the period from September
2017 to January 2021, Mr. Qiu was a deputy general manager of the research and
development and standardization centre of Henan Zensun. During the period
from January 2021 to 27 April 2023, Mr. Qiu was an assistant to the president
and general manager of the research and development and standardization centre
of Henan Zensun. Since August 2022, Mr. Qiu was appointed as a director of
Zhejiang Zanyu Technology Co., Ltd* (I EFEFERMNHBRRA A, a listed
company on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (Stock code: 2637).

Mr. Qiu obtained a bachelor degree majoring in urban planning from North China
University of Water Resources and Electric Power* (Z=1L/KFI7KE EFr) in
2009.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EFERERERE

ZHANG HUIQI

Non-executive Director

Ms. Zhang Huiqi (3RE#) (“Ms. Zhang”), aged 35, was appointed as our
Director on 12 August 2019 and was re-designated as our non-executive Director
on |7 September 2019. Ms. Zhang joined our Group as a supervisor from
September 2013 to May 2017 and re-joined our Group in 12 August 2019 and is

primarily responsible for our Group's business development and investor relations.

Ms. Zhang obtained a bachelor’s degree in business administration (economic
information management) from Beijing Forestry University (1 RAREE K E2) in the
PRC in July 2011, a master of science degree in management from University of
Leicester in the United Kingdom in January 2014 and a master of science degree
in project and enterprise management from University College London in the
United Kingdom in November 2015.

In addition, Ms. Zhang is currently a director of Global Medical REIT Inc, a
company listed on the New York Stock Exchange (Stock Code: GMRE) which is

principally engaged in the real estate investment business in the United States.

Ms. Zhang is the sole director of Foison Amber Development Limited (“Foison
Amber Development”) and Fast Achieve Global Limited (“Fast Achieve”),
which are immediate shareholder and intermediate holding company of our
Group, respectively and interested in 56.59% of the issued share capital of
our Company by virtue of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (“SFO”). Ms. Zhang is also the protector and a discretionary
beneficiary of the family trust (“Blossom Trust”) established on 16 August 2019
by Ms. Huang Yanping as settlor, which ultimately owns 56.59% of our Group.
Ms. Zhang is entitled to control the exercise of approximately 56.59% of the total
issued share capital of our Company by virtue of the SFO.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

WANG JINHU

Non-executive Director

Mr. Wang Jinhu (E£F&) (“Mr. Wang”), aged 55, was appointed as our
Director on 12 August 2019 and was re-designated as our non-executive Director
on 17 September 2019. Mr. Wang joined our Group in May 2017 and is primarily
responsible for providing strategic advice to our Board. Mr. Wang is currently a
vice president of Henan Zensun Real Fstates Co,, Ltd* (AR [ERE B XA R A F)).

Mr. Wang has over 31 vyears of experience in the real estate and property
management industry. Mr. Wang has been serving as a director of Xingye IOT
Management since May 2017. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Wang served
as the construction supervisor from September 1993 to June 1995, then the
statistical officer from July 1995 to February 1997 of Zhengzhou Huayu Real Estate
Development Co,, Ltd* (ESJNZEXSE i EEFIEE B BR A &), which is principally
engaged in real estate development and operation. From March 1997 to
December 1997, from January 1998 to March 1999, from April 1999 to October
2000, Mr. Wang served as a sales personnel, a manager of the strategic planning
department and a manager of the real estate management service department,
respectively, in Henan Xingye Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.* (Ji] g £E %
FEHERZEER /A 8]), which is principally engaged in real estate development.
From November 2000 to January 2003, Mr. Wang served as the head of the
landscape and decoration department; from January 2003 to January 2005, he
served as a general manager of the project department; from January 2005 to
June 2006, he served as an assistant to the chief executive officer; from June 2006
to October 2008, he served as a marketing director and as an assistant to the
executive officer; from October 2008 to April 2009, he served as an assistant to
the executive officer, the head of the landscape support center and technology
centre and in April 2009, he was promoted to the position of vice president
in Henan Zensun Real Estates Co., Ltd.* (A& IEf& & ¥ A R A R]), which is

principally engaged in real estate development.
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Mr. Wang graduated from University of Henan (RIFAE28) in the PRC in July
1993 with a major in geography and completed a senior management business
administration course at Tsinghua University (B2 A28) in the PRC in October
2010. Mr. Wang also obtained the certificate of senior construction engineer in
March 2008 granted by Tianjin Personnel Bureau* (KEM AE/F).

LIU ZHENQIANG

Non-executive Director

Mr. Liu Zhengiang (ZI#&5&) (“Mr. Liu™), aged 65, was appointed as our
Director on 12 August 2019 and was re-designated as our non-executive Director
on |7 September 2019. Mr. Liu joined our Group in May 2017 and is primarily
responsible for providing strategic advice to our Board. Mr. Liu is currently a vice
president of Henan Zensun Real Estates Co., Ltd* (A fG IE B AR A 7).

Mr. Liu has over 20 years of experience in the property management and real
estate industry. Mr. Liu has been serving as a director of Xingye IOT Management
since May 2017. Prior to joining our Group, Mr Liu served as a deputy general
manager and a supervisor of the property management centre from October
2004 to October 2005, a deputy supervisor of the land development committee
from January 2007 to August 2008, a deputy director of the land development
centre from September 2008 to April 2009, a director of the land development
centre from April 2009 to October 2011, and was further promoted to the
position of vice president in October 201 | of Henan Zensun Real Estates Co,,
Ltd.* ORI FEIEPE B ¥ AR A F]), which is principally engaged in real estate
development. Mr. Liu also served as an assistant to the general manager and head
of real estate management service and customer service department of Henan
Xingye Real Estate Development Co., Ltd* (i m E ¥ EHERERR A R)
from October 2005 to January 2007.

Mr. Liu obtained a bachelor’s degree in physics, majoring in radio physics, in June
1983 from the University of Zhengzhou (BB KXE2) in the PRC and graduated
from the University of Zhengzhou (EJMKZ) in the PRC in November 2006
with a major in business administration. Mr. Liu also obtained the certificate of
senior engineer of construction and installation in the PRC granted by Tianjin
FEMAZED) in March 2008.

Personnel Bureau® (
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XU CHUN

Independent non-executive Director

Mr. Xu Chun (#%&) (“Mr. Xu™), aged 48, was appointed as our Director on
9 September 2019 and was re-designated as our independent non-executive
Director on |7 September 2019. Mr. Xu is a member of the Nomination
Committee, the audit committee (“Audit Committee”) and the remuneration
committee (“Remuneration Committee”) of the Company. He is mainly

responsible for supervising and providing independent advice to our Board.

Mr. Xu has more than 20 years of experience in the real estate industry. From
August 1999 to August 2004, Mr. Xu worked as a deputy chief of technical quality
division of Jiangsu Huajian Construction Co., Ltd. (Shenzhen branch)* (T #k&
ERERRH AR A BRIID AR, which is principally engaged in building
construction. From September 2004 to December 2004, he worked as a civil
engineer of Shenzhen Hongwei Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.* (O&3IISE
FEHERZEGBR A F]), which is principally engaged in real estate development.
From December 2004 to April 2013, he worked in the Longban area in Shenzhen
Wanke Development Co., Ltd* (RYITTEEIEER AR AF]) (formerly known
as Shenzhen Wanke Real Estate Co., Ltd* (&I EEIEHERR R R)),
which is principally engaged in real estate development with his last position as a
general manager. From April 2013 to April 2020, he worked as a vice president
in Zhuoyue Real Estate Holdings Co., Ltd* (EE £ BB A F)), which
is principally engaged in real estate development. From May 2020 to May 2021,
Mr. Xu was appointed as the vice president of Sinic Holdings (Group) Company
Limited, a company formerly listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 2103), and also served as the chairman of the board of Shenzhen,
Dongguan and Huizhou regions, and with his last position as vice president and
the chairman of the board of Bay Area Regions (including Shenzhen, Dongguan,
Huizhou, Zhongshan and Zhuhai regions). From June 2021, he was appointed
as the chairman of Huachuang Chengkai Holding (Shenzhen) Group Co. Ltd.*
CGEAPR AR ORI £E AR A F]) and Shenzhen Huaan Investment
Development Co. Ltd* (RYITTELIREBERBR A R]).
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Mr. Xu obtained a bachelor's degree in construction engineering from China
University of Mining and Technology (FF B2 RE) in the PRC in July 1999, a
master of construction and civil engineering degree in Southeast University (327
KE) in the PRC in April 2005. Mr. Xu has also obtained an executive master of
business administration degree from Tsinghua University (/&2 A228) in the PRC
in January 2019.

FENG ZHIDONG

Independent non-executive Director

Mr. Feng Zhidong (M7 3R) (“Mr. Feng”), aged 51, was appointed as our
Director on 12 August 2019 and was re-designated as our independent non-
executive Director on |7 September 2019. Mr. Feng is the chairman of the
Audit Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee. He is mainly

responsible for supervising and providing independent advice to our Board.

Mr. Feng has nearly 30 years of experience in financial management, capital
operations and managing investor relations. In particular, Mr. Feng was a deputy
general manager of the capital department of Yue Xiu Enterprises (Holdings)
Limited from December 2009 to July 2016. Mr. Feng was also a general manager
of the investor relations department of a group company of Yuexiu Property
Company Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 123) from April 2012 to April 2016. Mr. Feng was an independent
non-executive director of OKG Technology Holdings Limited (formerly known as
LEAP Holdings Group Limited), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 1499) from August 2015 to November 2017.

In addition, Mr. Feng has served as (i) the chairman of the board and a director of
Guangzhou Yueting Network Technology Co., Ltd* (MR EREEHR AR
2 a]), which is principally engaged in internet parking services, since June 2016;
and (i) the chairman of the board and a director of Guangzhou Yueting Capital
Management Co., Ltd* (EMIHEEAREIEGR A F]), which is principally
engaged in parking management and corporate management services, since
August 2018.
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Since June 2022, Mr. Feng has served as the independent non-executive director
of KH. Group Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands
whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
[557).

Since October 2022, Mr. Feng has served as the independent non-executive
director of Xinda Investment Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1281).

Since September 2024, Mr. Feng has served as the independent director of
Guangdong Dongfang Precision Science & Technology Co., Ltd,, a company
incorporated in the PRC whose shares are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
(stock code: 0026 1.5Z).

Mr. Feng obtained a bachelor’s degree in international accounting from the
Renmin University of China (FF B AR KE) in the PRC in July 1995 and
obtained a master’s degree in business administration from South China University
of Technology (ZEfGIE T KE) in the PRC in February 2004. Mr. Feng has also
completed the mergers and acquisitions executive program from the Business
School of Sun Yat-sen University (8 1LIKE2) in the PRC in March 2015 and
the Global Entrepreneur Leadership Program from the PBC School of Finance
at Tsinghua University (B2 A2 R 38 0% BEMR) in the PRC in July 2019. In
addition, Mr. Feng obtained the certificate of specialty and technology (intermediate
level) in accounting in the PRC granted by the Ministry of Finance of the PRC in
May 1999.
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ZHOU SHENG

Independent non-executive Director

Mr. Zhou Sheng (JAE#) (“Mr. Zhou”), aged 52, was appointed as our Director
on 12 August 2019 and was re-designated as our independent non-executive
Director on |7 September 2019. Mr. Zhou is the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee and a member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination
Committee. He is mainly responsible for supervising and providing independent

advice to our Board.

Mr. Zhou has more than 25 years of experience in the legal field in the PRC. From
July 1999 to February 2002 and from March 2002 to November 2006, Mr. Zhou
worked as an associate in Beijing Weiheng Law Firm (3t T E & 2RI = T15FT)
and Beijing Saide Tiangin Law Firm* (1t /AT B2 K E) 2R ET5FT), respectively,
both located in Beijing, China. Mr. Zhou started as an associate at Beijing City
Zhong Zhou Law Firm* (b H NN ETEFR), a law firm located in Beijing
China, in November 2006 and is currently the director and a senior partner of the

law firm.

Mr. Zhou obtained a bachelor’s degree in materials engineering from Jiangxi
University of Science and Technology (T #5932 T K&2) (formerly known as
Nanfang Yejin College (7368 % £ Fz%)) in the PRC in June 1995. He also
obtained a bachelor's degree in law from China University of Political Science and
Law (FREEBUEKRER) in the PRC in July 1999. He further obtained a master's
degree in business administration from Peking University (1£ R AZ2) in the PRC
in July 2013.
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Senior Management

Mr. Yang Xiaohui (#%B21&) (“Mr. Yang”), aged 47, joined our Group in May
2023 and is primarily responsible for our Group's property-based service. Mr. Yang
has over |3 years of experience in real estate development and operation and
property management. Mr. Yang has been serving as the deputy general manager
of Xingye IOT Management since May 2023. Prior to joining our Group, Mr Yang
served as the general manager of Dengzhou Handu Real Estate Co., Ltd.* (BS/H
TEAE 2B A7) from June 2018 to May 2023. From March 2016 to June
2018, Mr. Yang served as the Xuchang regional project manager of Henan Junjing
Real Estate Co., Ltd* (A F & = ME B R 2 A]), where he was mainly engaged
in the project engineering management. From October 2012 to March 2016,
Mr. Yang served as the project director of Dijing Lanwan Project under Henan
Hongxinda Real Estate Co,, Ltd* (R 7R {5iZ B % AR A 7)) located in Yanling
County, Xuchang City, where he was mainly responsible for the development and

operation of the entire project.

Mr. Yang obtained a bachelor’s degree in Civil Engineering from Henan University
of Urban Construction in July 2019. In addition, Mr. Yang obtained the qualification
of Registered Supervision Engineer of the PRC in November 2014. In May 2016,
he obtained the qualification of Class | Registered Constructor of the PRC, and
was granted the engineer qualification by the Department of Human Resources

and Social Security of Henan Province.
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Ms. Guo Hong (3B4L) (“Ms. Guo™), aged 52, joined our Group in January 2016

and is primarily responsible for our Group's daily operations.

Ms. Guo has over |6 years of experience in the real estate and property
management industry. Ms. Guo served as a manager in the general administrative
department of Xingye IOT Management from January 2016 to July 2017 and
served as a supervisor from May 2017 to September 2019. She was also
promoted to the position of supervisor in November 2017 in Henan Wuxiang
Intelligent Technology Co., Ltd* (AIESYIRE BERHE AR A F)). She has been
a deputy general manager of Xingye IOT Management since August 2017. Prior
to joining our Group, Ms. Guo served as a sales consultant and sales manager in
Henan Minghui Real Estates Co., Ltd* (A& BRIEE ZBR A F]), which is
principally engaged in real estate development and operation, from May 1997 to
September 1998 and from September 1998 to September 2000, respectively.
From July 2001 to September 2004 and from September 2004 to September
2011, Ms. Guo served as an assistant to the general manager and deputy general
manager, respectively, in Henan Runhua Shangwu Service Co., Ltd.* (i F B %=
AR AR A A)), which is principally engaged in housing rental and business
information consulting services. From May 201 | to December 2015, Ms. Guo
served as a manager in the general department of Henan Jianzheng Real Estate
Co., Ltd* (] B3 IE B HEEE B IR /A §)), which is principally engaged in real estate

development and operation.

Ms. Guo obtained a bachelor’s degree in labour economics management from
Henan University of Economics and Law (] B8 B &8 BUE K22 (formerly known as
Henan College of Economics (7] 7 B 4€2285%)) in the PRC in December 1999.
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Mr. Xie Fude (#EE) (“Mr. Xie”), aged 52, is primarily responsible for
our Group'’s engineering management for project development and property
management services. Mr. Xie has over 20 years of experience in real estate
and property management services. He has been serving as the deputy general
manager and engineering center manager of the Company since March 2023.
Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Xie served in various positions, including the
chief project manager of Henan Water Conservancy Construction Engineering
Co., Ltd* (AREA/KFRETIZEBRAF]) from July 1998 to May 2002 and a
project manager of Henan Dongfeng Construction Engineering Co., Ltd* (ZF 1
HEEETEFR2AA]) from June 2002 to October 2004, and an engineering
manager of Zhengzhou Hengji Industrial Co., Ltd. * (E0JNEEEZE AR A F])
from March 2005 to December 2008. From April 2009 to March 2023, Mr. Xie
successively served as an engineering manager and the project general manager of

Henan Zensun Real Estates Co,, Ltd.* (R f IEf B ¥ A R A A)).

Mr. Xie obtained a bachelor's degree in Civil Engineering in December 201 1. In
addition, Mr. Xie obtained the qualification certificates of Engineer and Senior
Engineer granted by Henan Provincial People’'s Government in July 2010 and July
2012 respectively, and a certificate of honor of the 10th Guangsha Prize granted
by China Real Estate Association and the Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural
Development in 2023.
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Mr. Zhai Yubo (BF1E) (“Mr. Zhai”), aged 4, joined our Group in January
2021 and is primarily responsible for our Group's administration, outreach,
legal affairs and human resources management. Mr. Zhai has over |8 years of
experience in administrative management and human resource management. Mr.
Zhai has been serving as the head of the administrative and personnel center of

the Company since January 2023.

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Zhai successively served as the human
resource manager of CR Vanguard (Z£JH& %), Changzhou Jingiao Real Estate
Development Co, Ltd* (BMEEFEHERZE AR A F]) and Yutong Bus (F
I H) respectively, from September 2006 to March 201 1. Mr. Zhai served
as the human resource manager of Henan Zensun Real Estates Co., Ltd.* (A
MIEFEEZEABPRAF]) from April 2011 to March 2015, and a manager of the
administrative and personnel department of Henan Zensun Property Management
Co., Ltd* (AR EEWEEIEABR A 7)) from March 2015 to December 2022,
respectively. Mr. Zhai graduated from Nankai University in the PRC in June 2006
with a major in administrative management and obtained a bachelor's degree in

law.

* English translation of company names in Chinese or another language which are marked

with “*” are for identification purpose only.
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REPORT OF OUR DIRECTORS

Our Directors present their annual report together with the audited consolidated

financial statements of our Group for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

Our Company is an investment holding company and together with its
subsidiaries engages in property management and value-added services, property
engineering services and property development. The activities and particulars of
our Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in note 14 to the consolidated

financial statements.

An analysis of our Group's revenue and results by principal operating segments for

the Year is set out in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The results of our Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated statement

of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on pages 95 and 96.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the Year.

BUSINESS REVIEW
Our Group was established in 1999, with a particular focus on offering property

management and value-added services for non-residential properties.

A detailed business review of our Group for the Year and a discussion of our
Group's future business development and the key risks and uncertainties of our
Group are set out in “Chairman’s Message” on pages 2 to 5, “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 9 to 22 and the section headed "“Key Risks and

Uncertainties” on page 36 of this annual report.

An analysis of our Group's performance for the Year using financial key
performance indicators is provided in the “Chairman’s Message” on pages 2 to
5, “Financial Highlights” on page 8 and “Financial Summary” on page 204 of this

annual report.
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Key Risks and Uncertainties
The below outlined certain key risks and uncertainties identified by our Group

that may affect our Group's business, financial position and results of operations.

Our Group's business performance is primarily susceptible to our portfolio of
properties under management for property management services and contracted
engineering services for property engineering services. Our Group's business
growth on our pipeline properties will likely be affected by the general economic
condition affecting the real estate market, delivery and development schedule of
our contracted properties by property developers and any change in laws and

regulation for our operation in the PRC.

Our Group's current level of profitability also depends on the Group's ability to
control operating costs (especially in relation to our labour and subcontracting
costs) and the Group’s profit margins and results of operations may be materially
and adversely affected by the fluctuations in labour or other operating costs
in response to the regulatory laws on minimum wages and demand on labour
supply, etc.). The Group may not be able to procure new property management
service contracts as planned or at desirable pace or price; termination or non-
renewal of the Group's property management agreements for a significant number
of properties could have a material adverse effect on business, financial position

and results of operations.

Our Group's financial risks, management objectives (including capital management)
and policies are set out in notes 34 and 36 to the consolidated financial

statements.

In response to these possible risks and uncertainties, the Group continues to
implement a series of internal controls and strategies to cope with the possible
risks and changes. The Group also develops and reviews strategies, policies
and guidelines on risk control which enable the Group to monitor closely and
formulate business strategies to respond to risks promptly and effectively. The
Group also actively proposes measures to minimise any potential business impact

on the Group from these possible risks and uncertainties.
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Environmental Policies and Performance

Our Group has established occupational safety and sanitation systems,
implemented the national occupational safety and sanitation rules and standards,
and provided employees with workplace safety training on a regular basis. We
promote the importance of environment protection and implement environmental
friendly policies in the operation, including green office measures with accredited
international environmental management certification. We are committed to act
in an environmentally responsible manner and review our environmental policies

and activities from time to time to enhance environmental sustainability.

Our Company will issue separately an Environmental, Social and Governance
Report under Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Code as specified

in Appendix C2 to the Listing Rules.

Relationship with Stakeholders
Our Group recognises that our employees, customers and suppliers are our key
stakeholders and are dedicated to maintaining a good relationship with them to

build a solid foundation for the sustainable development of our Group.

Our Group offers comprehensive compensation to our employees, including
salary, bonuses and cash subsidies, and we also provide on-the-job training to
our employees. We generally determine employees’ compensation based on
their qualification, position, seniority and performance. We have established
occupational safety and sanitation systems, implemented the national occupational
safety and sanitation rules and standards, and provide employees with workplace

safety training on a regular basis.

In order to improve our communication with customers and their satisfaction,
our Group has established a mobile phone application “Ai Ban (E )" for
our property management services among us and the property users. The
advancement in technology facilitates an effective and efficient interaction among us
and the users and allows us to respond promptly to the customers’ needs, which
in turn can also improve our operation planning and efficiency, our service quality

and our customers’ satisfaction rates.
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Our Group has established a long-term and stable working relationship with our
suppliers. We will continue to maintain our assessment on the quality of suppliers,
review the procurement processes to ensure the supply chain sustainability and

uphold high corporate standard when carrying out our services.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations
As far as the Company is aware of, the Group has complied with applicable
laws and regulations promulgated by the relevant regulatory bodies which are

significant to the operations of the Group.

SHARE CAPITAL

There was no movement in the Company's issued share capital during the Year.

Details of the movements in our Company's share capital during the Year are set

out in note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of our Company during the Year are set out

in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

Distributable reserves of the Company at 31 December 2024 amounted to

approximately RMB246.3 million.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under our Company’s articles of
association (“Articles of Association”) or the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands which would oblige our Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis

to existing Shareholders.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to the
Shareholders by reason of their shareholding in the Company. If the shareholders
are unsure about the taxation implications of purchasing, holding, disposing of,
dealing in or exercising of any rights in relation to the shares of the Company, they

are advised to consult an expert.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of our Group for each of the

last five financial years is set out on page 204 of this annual report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither our Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed
any of our Company's listed securities (including sale of treasury shares) during the

Year.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of our Company during the Year and up to the date of this annual

report are:

Executive Director:
Qiu Ming (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Non-executive Directors:
Zhang Huigi

Wang Jinhu

Liu Zhengiang

Independent non-executive Directors:
Xu Chun

Feng Zhidong

Zhou Sheng

Our Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules and our Company considers that all of the independent non-

executive Directors are independent.
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Each of our Directors has entered into a service agreement or letter of
appointment with our Company for a term of three years. No Director being
proposed for re-election at the 2024 AGM has a service contract with our
Company or any of its subsidiaries which are not determinable within one year

without payment of compensation, other than normal statutory obligations.

The biographical details of our Directors and senior management of our Group

are set out on pages 23 to 34 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

During the Year, the Group was engaged in provision of property management
and value-added services and property engineering services to Henan Zensun
Corporate Development Group Co, Ltd* (A f IEFE (P ¥ EREEBREEA
7)) ("Zensun Development”) and its subsidiaries (the “Zensun Development
Group”), Zensun Enterprises Limited (“Zensun Enterprises”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Zensun Enterprises Group"), Ever Diamond Global Company Limited
(“Ever Diamond”) and its subsidiaries (the “Ever Diamond Group”, together
with Zensun Development Group and Zensun Enterprises Group, collectively as

the “Zensun Group”).

Ever Diamond and Zensun Enterprises are ultimately owned as to 100% and
71.99% by a discretionary trust established by Ms. Huang Yanping (‘“Ms. Huang")
as settlor and protector. As Ms. Huang is the mother of Ms. Zhang, our non-
executive Director, both Zensun Enterprises Group and Ever Diamond Group
are connected entities of Ms. Zhang. Additionally, Zensun Development Group
are connected entities of Ms. Zhang as Ms. Zhang is entitled to control more than
30% of voting power at a general meeting of members of Zensun Development
Group. Therefore, Ms. Zhang is considered interested in the transactions with
Zensun Development Group, Zensun Enterprises Group and Ever Diamond

Group.
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Our Group’s transactions with Zensun Group are set out in note 3| to the
consolidated financial statements. For details of the particulars of the transactions
with Zensun Group, please refer to the section headed “Continuing Connected

Transactions”.

Save as disclosed above, no transactions, arrangements and contracts of
significance in relation to our Group's business to which our Company, its holding
company, fellow subsidiaries or subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or
any entity connected with a Director had a material interest, whether directly or

indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the Year.

Save as disclosed above, there was no contract of significance between our
Company or any of its subsidiaries, and a controlling shareholder of our Company
or any of its subsidiaries at the end of the Year or at any time during the Year.
Additionally, no contract of significance for the provision of services to our
Company or any of its subsidiaries by a controlling shareholder of our Company

or any of its subsidiaries was entered into during the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of our Company's business were entered into or existed during
the Year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION
Under the Company's Articles of Association, and subject to the applicable laws

and regulations, the Directors and officers of the Company shall be indemnified
out of the assets and profits of the Company from or against all actions, costs,
charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of them may incur or
sustain in or about the execution of their duty in their offices. Such permitted
indemnity provision has been in force throughout the Year. Our Company has
arranged for appropriate insurance coverage for Directors’ and officers’ liabilities
in respect of potential legal actions against our Directors and senior management

arising from corporate activities.
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DIRECTORS EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST
PAID EMPLOYEES

Details of the remuneration of our Directors, together with those of the five
highest paid employees of our Group for the Year are set out in notes 9 and 10

to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS

AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SECURITIES
As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of our Directors and

chief executive of our Company in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures
of our Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) which were notified to our Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short
positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO), or any interest or short positions which were required, pursuant to section
352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, or any interests
and short positions which have to be notified to our Company and the Stock
Exchange, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Companies (the “Model Code") as set out in Appendix C3 of the Listing

Rules, were as follows:
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Long Positions
(i) Interests in Shares

Name of Director

EENR

Capacity in which the interests are held

REREESR

Ms. Zhang Interest of controlled corporation (Note)
R L RE AR K ()

Number of Share held
FrishRiE B

226,350,000 56.59

REPORT OF OUR DIRECTORS
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50 )
() RERBHREE

Approximate percentage

of the issued share capital (%)

EERTRAMYE DL (%)

Note: 226,350,000 Shares are directly held by Foison Amber Development, which is
indirectly wholly-owned by Vistra Trust (BVI) Limited, the trustee of the Blossom
Trust. The Blossom Trust is a discretionary trust established by Ms. Huang as
the settlor, with Ms. Zhang acting as the protector and Ms. Zhang and her
descendants being the discretionary beneficiaries. Foison Amber Development
is wholly-owned by Fast Achieve. Fast Achieve is a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Glory Reach Enterprises Limited (“Glory Reach”), which in turn is wholly-owned
by Vistra Trust (BVI) Limited, as the trustee of the Blossom Trust. Foison Amber
Development, Fast Achieve and Glory Reach are holding companies of the
Company, each of them is an associated corporation of the Company under the
SFO. Pursuant to the trust instrument governing the Blossom Trust, Ms. Zhang
as the protector of the Blossom Trust has the control over the Blossom Trust.
Accordingly, Ms. Zhang as protector of the Blossom Trust is considered to be

interested in the Shares held by Foison Amber Development.
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(ii)

44

Interests in ordinary shares of associated corporations of our

Company

Name of

Director

EENR

Name of Capacity in which

associated corporation

HHER A E R EESHAESH

the interests are held

(i) REREHEHZBE BIRF A9z

Ms. Zhang Glory Reach Interest in controlled corporation
(Note I)
SRt gRiE KL (M)
Ms. Zhang Fast Achieve Interest in controlled corporation
(Note 2) (Note 1)
skt (ffaE2) &z KL (M)
Ms. Zhang Foison Amber Development Beneficial owner (Note 1)
(Note 2)

R (MEF2) HRIEE

i

BEmlA AR

Approximate

percentage of

the issued

Number of share capital
shares held (%)
LB RTRAE

FrsiRIBEE #AE D %)
100 100

100 100

50,000 100

Notes:

(2)

XINGYE WULIAN SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD.

226,350,000 Shares are directly held by Foison Amber Development, which is
indirectly wholly-owned by Vistra Trust (BVI) Limited, the trustee of the Blossom
Trust. The Blossom Trust is a discretionary trust established by Ms. Huang as the
settlor, Ms. Zhang acting as the protector and Ms. Zhang and her descendants
being the discretionary beneficiaries. Foison Amber Development is wholly-
owned by Fast Achieve. Fast Achieve is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Glory Reach,
which in tum is wholly-owned by Vistra Trust (BVI) Limited, as the trustee of the
Blossom Trust. Foison Amber Development, Fast Achieve and Glory Reach are
holding companies of our Company, each of them is an associated corporation
of our Company under the SFO. Pursuant to the trust instrument governing the
Blossom Trust, Ms. Zhang as the protector of the Blossom Trust has the control
over the Blossom Trust. Accordingly, Ms. Zhang as protector of the Blossom Trust
is considered to be interested in the Shares held by Foison Amber Development
and the total issued share capital of Foison Amber Development, Fast Achieve and
Glory Reach.

Ms. Zhang is a director of both Fast Achieve and Foison Amber Development.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of our Directors or
chief executive of our Company had any interests or short positions in the
Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of our Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which: (a) were notified
to our Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they are taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); (b) were required, pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or
(c) have to be notified to our Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Neither our Company nor any of its subsidiaries were a party to any arrangements
to enable our Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares
in, or debentures of, our Company or any other body corporate and neither our
Directors nor any of their spouses or children under the age of 18, had any right
to subscribe for the securities of our Company, or had exercised any such right at

any time during the Year.
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CAPITAL RAISING ACTIVITIES AND THE USE OF

PROCEEDS FROM GLOBAL OFFERING

On 9 March 2020 (the “Listing Date”), the Shares of our Company were
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and 100,000,000 new Shares
were issued in the Global Offering. After deducting the underwriting fees and
commissions and other estimated expenses in connection with the Global
Offering of ordinary Shares of par value HK$0.01 each of our Company, including,
a public offering in Hong Kong of 50,000,000 Shares and an international
offering of 50,000,000 Shares, in each case at a price of HK$1.99 per Share,
net proceeds from the Global Offering amounted to approximately HK$167.8
million (equivalent to RMB149.6 million). In accordance with our announcement
on 31 January 2023 and the supplemental announcement on | March 2023 (the
“2023 Announcements’), we have updated the expected timetable for use
of proceeds and change in use of proceeds, for details, please refer to the 2023
Announcements. As at 31 December 2024, our Group had utilised approximately
RMB89.6 million of the capital raised as follows:

Utilised
net proceeds

Planned
amount of the
net proceeds asat
PR REBEN for its
HEmE 2003
AZB-=F
+ZA
=4-Rf
BEIRFE
HERH
RMB'million
AREEER

intended use

Intended use of the net proceeds

Percentage

g i
HEREN
FisERE
RMB'million
ARBEET

BAL

3| December utilised during

BEXBRRDRERBEMS

MIEAE

ARABIBRMR —_ZE-_TF=ZANB(L
mHE DRBSHAERET - BERE
BRESEE FR 577 100,000,0000% FTA% © FORk £
NARFREEOI B T T @AY (B HE
78 7N 53 50,000,000 A% A% 1 B2 B B 3%
50,000,000/ f% 17 + BREH UGN
| 9B T ERGTE ) 2ERESHENE
HEBRAMASUREMAETAYIE 2
REBEEMEHRIBFELYBI678BEETT
(HERARK 1496BETT) - IBRIBEFHRM
RZZE-_=F—A=+—HHNAEER
—E-ZF-ZA—HMERAS(=F
ZEFRE]) R EHASRER
REHNERLEEAERERR &
BE2H T =2 - NZT-MN
F+-A=+—H AEECEW A
TEAMESENESTHNNARKESCH

e —

&I ¢

Unutilised

net proceeds

Net proceeds asat  Expected timeline
for the usage of

the unutilised net proceeds

3| December
2024
RZBZME
+ZA
=+-H
FBAME
HERH
RMB'million
ARBEET

the Year

AEE
EERME
HERH
RMB'million
ARBEET

ABRMERE
FENRRERRR

) Selective acquisition of stitable ERICIESE 40.1% 600 - - 600 On or before
acquisttion targets for the expanson ~~ WUBIERABR £ 3| December 2025
of our business R-Z-nfE

TZR=T—H%zAl

1) Enhancement of our property RARM 202% 302 21 90 - NA
engineering sevices WETIRRK ol

3)  Enhancement of our property AR 29.7% 445 %7 178 - NA
management services NEERRK ol

4) General working captal —HheEae 10.0% 149 149 - - NA

Tam
1496 618 268 600
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Taking into account the slow recovery of the property market, the Board decided
to devote more resources to enhance the property management and property
engineering services businesses and at the same time continue to seek suitable

targets for acquisitions and investments or cooperations.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Major Customers

For the Year, the revenue attributable to the largest customer of the Group
accounted for approximately 9.2% of our Group's total revenue of the Year and
the five largest customers of the Group accounted for approximately 19.5% of

our Group's total revenue of the Year.

During the Year, save for Ms. Zhang's interests in Zensun Group, none of our
Directors, or any of their close associates, or any of the Shareholders (who to the
best knowledge of our Directors own more than 5% of our Company's issued
share capital) had any interest in our Group's five largest customers. For details of
the interest of Ms. Zhang in the transactions with Zensun Group, please refer to

the section headed “Continuing Connected Transactions”.

Major Suppliers

For the Year, the purchases from the largest supplier of our Group accounted
for approximately 43.9% of our Group's total purchases in the Year and the five
largest suppliers of the Group accounted for approximately 58.1% of our Group’s

total purchases in the Year.

During the Year, none of our Directors, or any of their close associates, or any of
the Shareholders (which to the best knowledge of the Directors own more than
5% of our Company's issued share capital) had any interest in our Group's five

largest suppliers.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions undertaken in the normal course of

business are provided under note 31 to the consolidated financial statements of

this annual report. Save as disclosed in the section headed "“Continuing Connected

Transactions”, the Board confirmed that none of these related party transactions

constitute a connected transaction or a continuing connected transaction as

required to be disclosed under Chapter [4A of the Listing Rules.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Pursuant to Chapter [4A of the Listing Rules, the following transactions

are continuing connected transactions which are subject to the disclosure

requirements under Chapter [4A of the Listing Rules.

48

2022 Master Property Management Framework
Agreements

On 20 October 2022, the Company entered into a master property
management framework agreement with each of Ever Diamond (the
“2022 Ever Diamond Master Property Management Framework
Agreement”’), Zensun Development (the 2022 Zensun Development
Master Property Management Framework Agreement”) and
Zensun Enterprises (the 2022 Zensun Enterprises Master Property
Management Framework Agreement”), respectively (collectively, the
“2022 Master Property Management Framework Agreements”),
pursuant to which the Company agreed to provide property management
and value-added services to Ever Diamond Group, Zensun Development
Group and Zensun Enterprises Group, for a term commencing from |
January 2023 to 31 December 2025.
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The 2022 Master Property Management Framework Agreement and the
annual caps were approved by independent shareholders of the Group
during our extraordinary general meeting held on |5 December 2022.
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For the year ended/ending 3| December

BE+-A=+—HLFE

2023
—E—==
RMB’ million
ARWEER
2022 Ever Diamond Master Property - —F 2.7
Management Framework Agreement KIBYEEIE
FEREZR ek
2022 Zensun Development Master —E-F 32
Property Management Framework EEERYEER
Agreement HBAER ek
2022 Zensun Enterprises Master Property —Z — —4F 289
Management Framework Agreement EEEEMEER
FEREZR Wp e
Aggregate annual caps FELRAEE 44.8

2024 2025
—g-mE —¥-EF
RMB’ million RMB’ million
ARBEER AR¥BER
129 13.0

3.7 39

31.6 323

48.2 49.2

Details of the 2022 Master Property Management Framework Agreements
have been set out in the announcement and circular of the Company dated
20 October 2022 and 24 November 2022, respectively.

During the Year, the actual transaction amounts paid and payable by Ever
Diamond Group, Zensun Development Group and Zensun Enterprises
Group to the Group for the property management and value-added
services were RMBI0.| million, RMB3.4 million and RMB19.7 million,

respectively.
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2022 Master Property Engineering Framework
Agreements

On 20 October 2022, the Company entered into a master property
engineering framework agreement with each of Ever Diamond (the
“2022 Ever Diamond Master Property Engineering Framework
Agreement’’), Zensun Development (the “2022 Zensun Development
Master Property Engineering Framework Agreement”) and
Zensun Enterprises (the “2022 Zensun Enterprises Master Property
Engineering Framework Agreement”), respectively (collectively, the
“2022 Master Property Engineering Framework Agreements’),
pursuant to which the Company agreed to provide property engineering
services which include the planning, design and installation of security and
surveillance systems, access control systems, carpark management systems
and construction site management systems to Ever Diamond Group,
Zensun Development Group and Zensun Enterprises Group, for a term

commencing from | January 2023 to 31 December 2025.
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The 2022 Master Property Engineering Framework Agreement and the
annual caps were approved by independent shareholders of the Group in
our extraordinary general meeting held on 15 December 2022.

2023
—=2=—=
RMPB’ million
AR®EER
2022 Ever Diamond Master Property - —F 129
Engineering Framework Agreement KIBYE TR
FERESR 1 a%
2022 Zensun Development Master B F 19.3
Property Engineering Framework FRHERMETLR
Agreement HBAEZR ek
2022 Zensun Enterprises Master Property —Z — — 4 266
Engineering Framework Agreement FRHEEMETRR
FERESR 7 e%
Aggregate annual caps FELRAEE 58.8
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For the year ended/ending 3| December

BE+-A=1+—HLHFE

2024 2025
—E-MF —E-EREF
RMB’ million RMB’ million
ARBEERT AR¥BER
129 1.6

203 213

29.7 32.1

62.9 65.0

Details of the 2022 Master Property Engineering Framework Agreements
have been set out in the announcement and circular dated 20 October
2022 and 24 November 2022, respectively.

During the Year, the actual transaction amounts paid and payable by Ever
Diamond Group, Zensun Development Group and Zensun Enterprises
Group to the Group for the property engineering services were RMB0.9
million, RMB5.6 million and RMB3.3 million, respectively.
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Master Construction Framework Agreement

On 5 July 2023, the Company entered into a master construction
framework agreement with Zensun Development (the “Master
Construction Framework Agreement”), pursuant to which Zensun
Development Group agreed to provide construction services to the
Company for the period commencing from 26 December 2023 to 31

December 2025.

The Master Construction Framework Agreement and the annual caps were
approved by independent shareholders of the Group in our extraordinary
general meeting held on 19 October 2023.

The annual caps for the period from 26 December 2023 to 31 December

3.

BRI
R-ZB-ZF+ARR  ADAHE
ER B RATRRBIER TS ([
RAMERIGHE]) - Bl FEERE
SERE ¢57;7_¢+ A
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FR7 -
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.ﬁiﬂx%ﬁ’\f T__FtAt+AI
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2023 and each of the two financial years ended/ending 31 December 2025 —E - =F+-_A=+—HI-EE
ZFELEREDHIREBE—_T_H
F+ZA=+—BHIERETBFEE
EFE LREIIAT -

are set out as below.

For the period

from
26 December
2023 to
31 December
2023
B=2== For the year ended/ending
+=AZ=+7<H BE
HEE 31 December
—g=-= +-A=+—HLEHFE
+=A=+—H 2024 2025
1-HAR o1 5 “2°HEF
RMPB’ million RMB’ million RMB’ million
AR®EERT ARWEERT ARWEER
Annual caps FELIR 36.8 212.6 244.5
Details of the Master Construction Framework Agreement have been set BRBERBGREZFHBD RN B

52

out in the announcements dated 5 July 2023 and 16 August 2023 and
circular dated 27 September 2023, respectively.

During the Year, the actual transaction amount paid and payable by the
Company to Zensun Development Group for the construction services was
RMB27.2 million.
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Ms. Zhang is our non-executive Director and one of our controlling
shareholders and therefore is a connected person of our Company. As at
the date of this annual report, 100% of the number of issued shares in Ever
Diamond and 71.99% of the number of issued shares in Zensun Enterprises
are ultimately owned by a discretionary trust established by Ms. Huang,
who is the mother of Ms. Zhang, as settlor and protector, with Vistra
Trust (Singapore) Pte. Limited as trustee and Ms. Huang and Ms. Zhang as
beneficiaries under the discretionary trust. In addition, Zensun Development
is a 30%-controlled company held indirectly by Ms. Zhang. Accordingly, Ever
Diamond Group, Zensun Development Group and Zensun Enterprises
Group are considered associates of Ms. Zhang and connected persons of
our Company under the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the transactions under
the 2022 Master Property Management Framework Agreements, the
2022 Master Property Engineering Framework Agreements and Master
Construction Framework Agreement constitute continuing connected

transactions for our Company under Chapter |4A of the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to Rule [4A.55 of the Listing Rules, each of the aforesaid
continuing connected transactions have been reviewed by independent
non-executive Directors of the Company. The independent non-executive
Directors confirmed that each of the aforesaid continuing connected

transactions of the Group for the Year have been entered into:

(i)  inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(i) on normal commercial terms; and

(i) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them and
on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the

Shareholders as a whole.
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Pursuant to Rule [4A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Company has engaged
the auditor of the Company to conduct certain procedures in respect of
the continuing connected transactions of the Group in accordance with the
Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagement 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagement Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised) “Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing
Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
The Board has received a letter from the auditor containing the findings and
conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions disclosed by
the Group and confirming the matters set out in Rule 14A.56 of the Listing

Rules.

In accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagement
3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagement Other than Audits or Reviews
of Historical Financial Information”, the auditor has also reported to the
Board that for the Year, nothing has come to their attention that any of the

aforesaid continuing connected transactions:

(i) have not been approved by the Board;

(i) were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing

policies of the Group;

(i) were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with the

relevant agreement governing such transactions; and

(iv) have exceeded the relevant annual caps for the Year as set by the

Company.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS FEIRR

As at the 31 December 2024, according to the register of interest in Shares and N-ZTE-mME+—_A=+—H ' RBEX
underlying Shares and short positions kept by our Company pursuant to Section NEBRES MBS (EHEXVERE 3365
336 of Part XV of the SFO and so far as is known to or can be ascertained after FEZRMOEBEIRDERZ AR ED
reasonable enquiries by our Directors, the persons (other than our Directors or - AREBEEE RSN EEEIE
chief executive of our Company) who were directly or indirectly interested in 5% THIEMET  HEXBEEGS AN T
or more in the Shares and underlying Shares of our Company are as follows: B8 R AR D 5%s A FiERS 2 AT (E

FEAARBERITHABRINMT

Long positions in the Shares of our Company RAQBRGZIFE

Approximate percentage

of the issued share capital

Name of shareholder Nature of interests Number of Shares held of our Company (%)
EARDTERT

A EENE FrisiR13 8B IRABATE 2 Lk (%)

Vistra Trust (BVI) Limited Trustee of a trust (Note) 226,350,000 56.59
EREXFEA (M)

Glory Reach Interest in controlled corporation (Note) 226,350,000 56.59

R YA E R ()

Fast Achieve Interest in controlled corporation (Note) 226,350,000 56.59

piibed RE AR ()

Foison Amber Development Beneficial owner (Note) 226,350,000 56.59

RINER EaEAAMRE)

Eco-Victory Limited Beneficial owner 73,650,000 1841

BEARAT EsBAA

Note: 226,350,000 Shares are directly held by Foison Amber Development, which is MEE - 226,350,000 % % 17 H 88 30 3 R B 5%

indirectly wholly-owned by Vistra Trust (BVI) Limited, the trustee of the Blossom B - MR A Vistra Trust (BV))
Trust. The Blossom Trust is a discretionary trust established by Ms. Huang as the Limited (2 EFFANZFEA)HELE
settlor, with Ms. Zhang acting as the protector and Ms. Zhang and her descendants HE - BEEERBELTERME
being the discretionary beneficiaries. Foison Amber Development is wholly-owned BT ARG - AR T#
by Fast Achieve. Fast Achieve is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Glory Reach, which FREAUNRKLZ T REEF ARG
in turn is wholly-owned by Vistra Trust (BVI) Limited, as the trustee of the Blossom HHEA RINBRBBEZEHESR -
Trust BERRENZEMBAR - MaE

AllER Vistra Trust (BVI) Limited({E & &2 2
RN RERE ©
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, no person other than our
Directors whose interests are set out in the above section headed "Directors’
and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Securities”, had registered
an interest of 5% or more in the issued share capital of our Company, and short
positions in the Shares and underlying Shares, that was required to be recorded in

the register of interest pursuant to Section 336 of Part XV of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN A COMPETING BUSINESS

In order to avoid any future competition with our Group, on I8 February 2020,
the controlling shareholders, Ms. Zhang, Foison Amber Development, Glory
Reach and Fast Achieve (the “Controlling Shareholder(s)"), entered into a
deed of non-competition (the “Deed of Non-Competition™) in favour of our
Company and its subsidiaries. Pursuant to the Deed of Non-Competition, each of
the Controlling Shareholders has undertaken and covenanted with the Company
that, she/it shall not, and shall procure that her/its close associates and entities or
companies controlled by her/it (other than a member of the Group) not to, at
any time during the restricted period, among other things, directly or indirectly,
either on her/its own account or in conjunction with or on behalf of any person,
firm or company (in each case whether as a shareholder, partner, agent, employee
or otherwise) carry on, engage, participate, be concerned or interested in or in
any way assist in or provide support (whether financial, technical or otherwise) to
any business similar to or which competes (either directly or indirectly) or is likely
to compete with any business which is the same as, similar to or in competition
with the current business of our Group, namely the engagement of business as
the property management and value-added service provider to non-residential
properties and property engineering service provider in Zhengzhou, Henan
Province and any parts of the world where our Group or any member of our

Group conducts or will conduct its business (the “Restricted Business).
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Each of the Controlling Shareholders had undertaken and covenanted with
the Company that if any new business opportunity which directly or indirectly
competes, or may lead to competition with the Restricted Business is made
available to any of our Controlling Shareholders, her/its close associates and/
or any company or entity controlled by her/it, directly or indirectly, whether
individually or together (other than our Group), she/it will or will direct or procure
the relevant close associates and/or controlled company to direct such business
opportunity to our Group with such required information to enable our Group to
evaluate the merits of the relevant business opportunity. The relevant controlling
shareholder will provide or procure the relevant close associates and/or controlled
company to provide our Group with all such reasonable assistance to secure such

business opportunity.

The independent board committee of our Company comprising all independent
non-executive Directors will be responsible for deciding and given the authority to
decide, without attendance by any Directors with beneficial or conflicting interest
in the new business opportunities referred to our Group by our Controlling
Shareholders (or their respective close associates or controlled companies/entities
other than members of our Group), the exercise of the pre-emptive right under
the Deed of Non-Competition. None of our Controlling Shareholders and their
relevant close associates and controlled companies (other than our Group) shall
pursue the relevant business opportunity unless our Company decides not to

pursue such business opportunity.

During the Year, the Company had not received any information from any of
the Controlling Shareholders in respect of any new business opportunity which
directly or indirectly competes, or may lead to competition with the Restricted
Business which were made available to any of our Controlling Shareholders, her/
its close associates and/or any company or entity controlled by her/it, directly or
indirectly, whether individually or together (other than our Group). Further, each
of the Controlling Shareholders has made an annual declaration to the Company
that she/it had fully complied with her/its obligations under the Deed of Non-
Competition during the Year. The independent non-executive Directors had
reviewed the compliance of the terms of the Deed of Non-Competition and the
enforcement of undertakings under the Deed of Non-Competition, and based on
the above, confirm that each of the Controlling Shareholders have complied with

her/its obligations under the Deed of Non-Competition during the Year.
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Ms. Zhang, our non-executive Director and one of our Controlling Shareholders,
and her close associates have been conducting other business or holding interest
in Henan Zensun Property Management Co., Ltd.* (A IEPE Y EIE AR
A 8]) (“Zensun PM"), a company established in the PRC and indirectly wholly-
owned by Zensun Development as at the Listing Date, which focused primarily on

property management services for residential properties.

In the fourth quarter of 2020, Zensun Development Group sold 91% of its
shareholding in Zensun PM to an Independent Third Party. Following the disposal,
Zensun Development Group remained 9% shareholding interest in Zensun PM
and Ms. Zhang ceased to be a substantial shareholder of Zensun PM. During
the Year, none of our Directors were interested in any business apart from our
Group's business, which competed or was likely to compete, either directly or

indirectly, with our Group's businesses.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

No equity-linked agreements were entered into by our Group during the Year or
subsisted at the end of the Year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Detailed information on our Company’s corporate governance practices is set out

in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 61 to 84 of this annual report.

PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the latest practicable date prior to the issue of this annual report, our
Company has maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules,
based on the information that is publicly available to our Company and within the

knowledge of our Directors.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the Board
on the basis of the merit, qualifications and competence of the employees. The
emoluments of the Directors are decided by the Board after recommendation
from the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the time commitment
and responsibilities of the directors, the Company's operating results, individual

performance and comparable market statistics.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Details of the retirement benefit schemes for the employees of the Group are set

out in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There was no significant event after the reporting period and up to the date of

this annual report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the Year.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
The 2025 AGM will be held on Friday, 6 June 2025 and the notice of 2025 AGM
will be published and despatched to the Shareholders in the manner as required

by the Listing Rules in due course.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed for the following periods:

For the purpose of determining the Shareholders who are entitled to attend and
vote at the 2025 AGM expected to be held on Friday, 6 June 2025, the register
of members of the Company will be closed from Monday, 2 June 2025 to Friday,
6 June 2025, both days inclusive. In order to qualify for attending and voting at
the 2025 AGM, all transfer documents should be lodged for registration with the
Company's Hong Kong Share Registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited at |7/F
Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m.
on Friday, 30 May 2025.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by Forvis Mazars CPA
Limited, who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for reappointment at
the 2025 AGM.

On behalf of the Board
QIU MING

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
27 March 2025
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Our Company is committed to maintain a high standard of corporate governance.
The Board believes that the adoption and adherence to the recognised standards
of corporate governance principles and practices are one of the key factors to
the success of our Company. Good corporate governance provides a framework
for our Group to safeguard the interests of our Shareholders, enhance corporate
value, improve its accountability and transparency in operations, and formulate its

business strategies and policies.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company recognises the importance of good corporate governance for
enhancing the management of the Company as well as preserving the interests of
the Shareholders as a whole. The Company has adopted corporate governance
practices based on the principles and code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code as set out in the Appendix Cl to the Listing Rules (the “CG
Code") as its own code of corporate governance practices.

The Board is of the view that, the Company has complied with the relevant
code provisions contained in the CG Code during the Year, save and except for

deviations which are explained below :

Pursuant to Code Provision C5.1 of the CG Code, Board meetings should be
held at least four times a year at approximately quarterly internals. Although only
two regular Board meetings were held during the Year, the Board considered
that sufficient meetings had been held as business operations were under the
management and the supervision of the executive Directors. In addition, senior
management of the Group has provided to the Directors the information in
respect of the Group's business development and activities from time to time and,

when required, ad hoc Board meetings were held to discuss such matters.

Pursuant to Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and
chief executive of the Company should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. The Company is of the view that it is in the best interest
of the Company that Mr. Qiu Ming, with his profound expertise in the property
business, shall continue in his dual capacity as chairman and chief executive officer.
The Board believes that the balance of power and authority for the present
arrangement will not be impaired and is adequately ensured by the current Board
composition and structure taking into account the background and experience of
the Directors.

The Board will continue to review and monitor its code of corporate governance
practices of the Company with an aim to maintaining a high standard of corporate

governance.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

BY DIRECTORS AND RELEVANT EMPLOYEES
Our Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3 to the

Listing Rules. Our Company has made specific enquiries with all Directors and
each of them confirmed that they have compiled with the required standards set
out in the Model Code during the Year.

Our Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities transactions
by the relevant employees of our Group who are considered likely to be in
possession of unpublished inside information of our Company or its securities on
no less exacting terms than the Model Code in relation to their dealings in the
securities of our Company pursuant to Code Provision C.1.3 of the CG Code. To
the best knowledge and belief of our Directors, all relevant employees have fully

complied with the required standard of such code.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Overall Accountability

The Board is accountable to the Shareholders and in discharging its corporate
accountability, every Director is required to pursue excellence in the interests
of our Shareholders and fulfil his or her fiduciary duties by applying the required
level of skills, care and diligence to a standard in accordance with the statutory

requirements.
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Board Responsibilities and Delegation

Our Company is headed by an effective Board which is responsible for leadership
and control of our Company and formulating strategic directions and monitoring
performance of our business. The executive Director is delegated with the
authorities and responsibilities for the day-to-day management of our Group,
operational and business decisions within the control and delegation framework
of our Group. The non-executive Directors (“NEDs”) (including independent
non-executive Directors (“"INEDs")) of the Company contribute valuable views,

professional opinions and proposals for the Board's deliberation and decisions.

The Board is also responsible for maintaining and reviewing the effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control systems of our Group. It has carried
out review of the existing implemented systems, including control measures of

financial and operational compliance of our Group.

The Board has established Board committees and has delegated various
responsibilities to these Board committees as set out in their respective terms of
reference.

Daily management and administration functions are delegated to the management.
The Board delegated various responsibilities to the senior management of our
Company. These responsibilities include implementing decisions of the Board,
directing and coordinating day-to-day operation and management of our
Company in accordance with the management strategies and plans approved by
the Board, formulating and monitoring the operation and production plans and

budgets, and supervising and monitoring the control systems.

The Board reserves for its decisions all major matters of our Company, including
appointment of new Directors, approval of financial statements, dividend policy,
significant accounting policies, material contracts, significant appointments such as
company secretary and external auditors, terms of reference of Board committees,
major corporate policies such as code of conduct, and other significant financial

and operational matters.
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All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of our Company
and may, upon request, seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at our Company's expenses for discharging their duties to our
Company. The Directors having material interest in the matter shall abstain from
voting at such Board meeting and the INEDs with no conflict of interest shall
attend at such meeting to deal with the matters. All Directors ensure that they
can give sufficient attention to discharge their responsibilities to the affairs of our
Company and our Directors have disclosed to our Company the identity and
nature of offices held in any public organisation and other significant commitments

on an annual basis.

Composition of the Board

The Board currently comprises seven Directors including one executive Director,
three NEDs and three INEDs. Among our seven Directors, one of the Directors
is female and the rest of them are male. The biographical details of our Directors
and the senior management of our Group are set out on pages 23 to 34 of this
annual report. The Board members do not have any family, financial, business or

other material/relevant relationship(s) with each other.

Executive Director, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

As at the date of this annual report, there is one executive Director, namely Mr.
Qiu Ming. He is also the Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
of our Company. He is primarily responsible for the overall management and
strategic planning of our Group's business operations. He provides strategic
direction to our Group, takes primary responsibility for ensuring good corporate
governance practices with necessary procedures established and ensures the

effective implementation of corporate strategy and policies.

Non-executive Directors

As at the date of this annual report, there are three NEDs, namely Ms. Zhang
Huigi, Mr. Wang Jinhu and Mr. Liu Zhengiang. Ms. Zhang Huigi is primarily
responsible for our Group'’s business development and investor relations. Mr.
Wang Jinhu and Mr. Liu Zhengiang are primarily responsible for providing strategic
advice to the Board.
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Independent Non-executive Directors and their Independence

As at the date of this annual report, there are three INEDs including Mr. Xu Chun,
Mr. Feng Zhidong and Mr. Zhou Sheng. Our Company has appointed a sufficient
number of INEDs in accordance with Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10A of the Listing
Rules. With Mr. Feng Zhidong's working experience and academic background in
accounting, our Company considers that he possesses the appropriate professional
qualifications, accounting and related financial management expertise as required
under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

Our Company has already received annual confirmation letters of independence
from all the INEDs and each of them have declared fulfiiment of all the guidelines
for assessing independence in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
Accordingly, the Board considers that all INEDs are independent as defined in the
Listing Rules.

All our Directors, including the NEDs and INEDs, have entered into service
agreements or letter of appointment with our Company for an initial term of
three years. Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company, all Directors

must retire by rotation at least once every three years.

In compliance with Code Provision B.1.2 of the CG Code, an updated list of our
Directors identifying their role and function are available on the websites of our
Company (www.xingyewulian.com) and the Stock Exchange (www.hkex.com.hk).
Our Company will review the composition of the Board from time to time to
ensure that the Board possesses the appropriate and necessary expertise, skill
and experience to meet the needs of our Group’s business and to enhance the

Shareholders’ value.
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Board Meetings and Directors’ Attendance Records

Regular Board meetings should be held at least four times a year involving active
participation, either in person or through electronic means of communication, of a
majority of Directors. At least 14 days’ notice for each regular meeting should be
given to all Directors. All such minutes should be kept by our Company Secretary
and are open for inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable notice by
any Director. Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairman should at least

annually hold meetings with the INEDs without the presence of other Directors.

During the Year, two regular Board meetings of the Company were held to
review, consider and approve, among others, annual and interim results and to
review the business operations, corporate governance and the effectiveness of

internal control systems and risk management of the Group.

Liability Insurance for our Directors
Our Company has arranged for appropriate liability insurance to indemnify its
Directors against liabilities arising out of legal action on corporate activities. Such

insurance coverage will be reviewed on an annual basis.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND CONTINUOUS
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes in order
to effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure that their contribution
to the Board remains informed and relevant. Each newly appointed Director is
provided with necessary induction and information to ensure that he/she has a
proper understanding of our Company’s operations and businesses as well as his/

her responsibilities under relevant statues, laws, rules and regulations.

All Directors should participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. Internally-facilitated briefings for
Directors would be arranged and training materials or briefings on relevant topics
such as updates on the Listing Rules and relevant financial or accounting standards

would be provided to Directors where appropriate.
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During the Year, all Directors (including Mr. Qiu Ming, Ms. Zhang Huiqi, Mr.
Wang Jinhu, Mr. Liu Zhengiang, Mr. Feng Zhidong, Mr. Zhou Sheng and Mr.
Xu Chun) participated in continuous professional development activities by
reading newspaper, journals and materials and attending training sessions relating
to directors’ duties and responsibilities, corporate governance and regulatory
updates. Our Company updates Directors constantly on the latest developments
regarding the Group's business and other applicable regulatory requirements, to
ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate governance
practices. All Directors have provided to our Company with their training records
on a regular basis, and such records have been maintained by the Company for
accurate and comprehensive record keeping. During the Year, according to the
training records maintained by the Company, all of our Directors have (i) attended
seminars/webinars/conferences/forum (including anti-bribery and corruption
training) and (i) read newspapers, joumals and updates relating to the economy,
general business, real estate, corporate governance and director’s duties and

responsibilities.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three Board committees including the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee to
assume responsibilities for and to oversee particular aspects of our Company's
affairs. All Board committees of our Company are established with specific written
terms of reference which deal clearly with their authorities and duties. The terms
of reference of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee are posted on our Company's website and the Stock Exchange’s

website and are available to Shareholders upon request.

All Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their
duties and are empowered to obtain independent’ professional advice at our

Company's expenses in appropriate circumstances.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of three INEDs, namely Mr. Feng Zhidong, Mr.
Zhou Sheng and Mr. Xu Chun. Mr. Feng Zhidong, the chairman of the Audit
Committee, possesses the appropriate professional qualifications, accounting and
related financial management expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the
Listing Rules.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are in compliance with the CG
Code. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are, among others, to review
the financial information, oversee the financial reporting system, risk management
and internal control procedures, and to be primarily responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal

of the external auditor.
During the Year, two Audit Committee meetings were convened. The Audit

Committee had performed the followings tasks, among others :

(i)  reviewed the annual results for the year ended 3| December 2023 and

interim results for the six months ended 30 June 2024;

(i) reviewed the appropriateness and effectiveness of risk management and

internal control systems for the Year;

(i)  reviewed the effectiveness of the Company's internal audit function;

(iv) discussed with the auditor of the Company and reviewed their audit

findings;

(v)  reviewed the auditor's remuneration;

(vi) reviewed all non-audit services provided by the auditors (if any) to
determine the provision of such services would affect the independence of

the auditors; and

(vii)  performed the corporate governance functions and reviewed the corporate

governance policies and practices.
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After due and careful consideration with all necessary financial information, and
reports from management and the external auditors, the Audit Committee noted
that no suspected fraud or irregularities, significant internal control deficiencies, or
suspected infringement of laws, rules, or regulations had been found in respect of
the Group, and concluded at the Audit Committee meeting held on 27 March
2025 that the risk management and intemal control systems were adequate and
effective. Details of the review over the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems conducted by the Audit Committee was disclosed in the section

headed "Risk Management and Internal Control” in this annual report.

On 27 March 2025, the Audit Committee meeting was convened to review our
Group's consolidated financial statements for the Year, including the accounting
principles and practices, in conjunction with our Company's management and
external auditor; and appropriateness and effectiveness of risk management
and internal control systems. The Audit Committee endorsed the accounting
treatment adopted by our Company, and the Audit Committee had to the best of
its ability assured itself that the disclosure of the financial information in this annual
report has complied with the applicable accounting standards and the Listing
Rules and the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The
Audit Committee therefore resolved to recommend for the Board's approval the

consolidated financial statements for the Year.

The Audit Committee also recommended to the Board the reappointment of
Forvis Mazars CPA Limited as the auditor of our Company and that the relevant
resolution shall be put forth for its Shareholders' consideration and approval at the
2025 AGM.
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Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee consists of three INEDs, namely Mr. Zhou Sheng,
Mr. Feng Zhidong, and Mr. Xu Chun. Mr. Zhou Sheng is the chairman of the

Remuneration Committee.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are in compliance with
the CG Code. The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include but
are not limited to (1) making recommendations to the Board on the Company's
policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior management's remuneration
and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing
remuneration policy; (2) reviewing and approving the management's remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board's corporate goals and objectives; (3) making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-executive Directors;
(4) reviewing and approving compensation payable to executive Directors and
senior management of the Company for any loss or termination of office or
appointment to ensure that it is consistent with contractual terms and is otherwise
fair and not excessive; (5) determining the criteria for assessing employee
performance, which should reflect the Company’s business objectives and targets;
and (6) ensuring that no Director or any of his/her associates (as defined in the

Listing Rules) is involved in deciding his/her own remuneration.

During the Year, one Remuneration Committee meeting was held to, among
others, review and approve the remuneration of the executive Director, the
NEDs and INEDs.

Details of our Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 9 to the consolidated

financial statements.
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Pursuant to Code Provision E.|.5 of the CG code, the remuneration of the senior

management by band for the Year is set out as below :

Remuneration band

Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 % 1,000,000/ 7T
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee consists of three members, being one executive
Director, namely Mr Qiu Ming and two INEDs, namely Mr. Zhou Sheng and Mr.
Xu Chun. Mr. Qiu Ming is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are in compliance with
the CG Code. The primary duties of the Nomination Committee include but are
not limited to (1) reviewing the structure, size and composition (including without
limitation, gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service) of the Board at least annually
and making recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy; (2) identifying individuals suitably
qualified to become Board members and selecting or making recommendations
to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships; (3)
assessing the independence of independent non-executive Directors; and (4)
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment
of Directors and succession planning for Directors, in particular the chairman and
the chief executive officer, taking into account the Company’s corporate strategy
and the mix of skills, knowledge, experience and diversity needed in the future,

together with the Board, as appropriate.
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Nomination Policy

In identifying suitable candidates, the Nomination Committee shall consider
candidates on merit and against the objective criteria such as integrity,
experience, skill and ability to commit time and effort to carry out the duties and
responsibilities, with due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. The
recommendations of the Nomination Committee will then be put to the Board
for decision.

During the Year, one Nomination Committee meeting was held to, among others,
review the current structure and composition of the Board and recommended
Mr. Liu Zhengiang, Mr. Wang Jinhu and Mr. Xu Chun to retire, and being eligible,
offered themselves for re-election in the Company’s annual general meeting held
on Il June 2024 pursuant to Article 84(1) and (2) of the Articles of Association
and Code Provision B.2.2 of the CG Code.

Under Article 84(1) and (2) of the Articles of Association, at each AGM,
one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is
not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-
third) shall retire from office by rotation. According to Article 83(3)
of the Articles of Association, any Director appointed by the Board to
fill a casual vacancy or by way of addition to their number shall hold
office only until the next following AGM, and shall then be eligible for
re-appointment. Every Director shall be subject to retirement at least once every

three years by rotation or offers herself/himself for re-election.
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Board Diversity Policy

Our Company recognises and embraces the benefit of having a diverse Board
and considers the increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential element
in supporting the attainment of our strategic objectives and its sustainable
development. Our Company has adopted a board diversity policy which sets out
the objective and approach to achieve and maintain diversity of the Board (the
“Board Diversity Policy”).

The Nomination Committee is delegated by the Board to be responsible
for reviewing and ensuring the effectiveness and compliance with the Board
Diversity Policy. The Nomination Committee will consider the Board diversity
from a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and

length of service.

The Nomination Committee shall consider candidates on Board appointments on
merit and against objective criteria, with due regard for the benefits and diversity
on the Board. Having reviewed the Board Diversity Policy and the Board's
composition, our Company is satisfied that the composition of the Board satisfies

the Board Diversity Policy.

The Board under the assistance of the Nomination Committee shall review and
reassess the Board Diversity Policy on an annual basis to ensure its implementation

and continued effectiveness.
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Diversity in Workforce

Our Company recognises the importance of diversity in workforce throughout
our Group as a matter of corporate governance. Our Group is committed to
ensuring that recruitment at all levels, including the Board, adheres to range of

selection criteria in order to consider a pool of talented individuals.

Our Group will continue to take gender diversity into consideration during
recruitment. As at 31 December 2024, our Group had 730 employees with an
overall gender ratio between male and female at approximately 60% and 40%,
respectively. The Nomination Committee considers that the existing workforce
composition has achieved gender diversity, and endeavours to discuss and agree
on measurable objectives and plans for achieving diversity, periodically and when

necessary.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the Code
Provision A2.| of the CG Code. During the Year, the Board had reviewed our
Company's corporate governance policies and practices, training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management, our Company's
policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements and
our Company's compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this Corporate

Governance Report.
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LEERRSE
ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF DIRECTORS ESHERCH
The attendance records of each Director at the Board and Board committee TREINAFEEETSNESTLZESD
meetings during the Year are set out in the table below : 2 REBFENEEDE

Attendance/Number of Meetings held
HERR SBTHERRH
Audit Remuneration = Nomination Annual

Committee Committee Committee General

Meeting
BELEREE FHESE REZET RFEEFAE

Executive Director HITEE

Mr. Qiu Ming EREE 22 N/A N/A /1 /1
TEA TiEA

Non-executive Directors  FHTEE

Ms. Zhang Huigi SREHLZ L 22 N/A N/A N/A /1
TiEH NiEA NiEH

Mr. Wang Jinhu FeREE 22 N/A N/A N/A /1
TiEH TiEH TiEH

Mr. Liu Zhengiang GG bt 22 N/A N/A N/A /1
TEHR TER TER

Independent W FEHTESE

non-executive Directors
Mr. Xu Chun "ERE 22 22 /1 /1 /1
Mr. Feng Zhidong BEREE 2 22 I/1 N/A /1
TER
Mr. Zhou Sheng BT A4 22 22 /1 I/ I/
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REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS
The remuneration paid/payable to Forvis Mazars CPA Limited, in respect of audit

services for the Year amounted to RMB920,000 and non-audit services for the
Year amounted to RMB80,000.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Statements and Financial Reporting

Our Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements of our Group that give a true and fair view in
accordance with applicable accounting standards and Companies Ordinance (Cap.
622 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

Our Directors also acknowledge their responsibilities to ensure that the
announcements in relation to the consolidated financial statements on annual
and interim results of our Group are published in a timely manner, within three
months and two months respectively of the year end and the half-year period

end.

The reporting responsibility of the external auditor of our Company on the
consolidated financial statements of our Group are set out in “Independent
Auditor's Report” on pages 85 to 94.

Going Concern

Our Directors, having made appropriate enquiries, are not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon
our Group's ability to continue as a going concem. Our Directors are of the view
that our Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for
the foreseeable future and that, for this reason, it is appropriate for our Group to

adopt the going concem basis in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board recognises its overall responsibilities for maintaining sound and effective
risk management and internal control systems including conducting an annual
review on their effectiveness for achieving long-term sustainable development of
our Group. The risk management and internal control systems, under a defined
management structure with limits of authority, are designed for our Group to
identify and manage the significant risks to pursue its business objectives, safeguard
its assets against unauthorised use or disposition, enhance effectiveness and
efficiency of its operations, ensure the maintenance of proper accounting records
for reliable financial reporting, and ensure compliance with relevant laws and
regulations. Such systems are designed to manage our risk exposures, primarily
our operational risk, legal risk and liquidity risk, rather than eliminate risks of failure
in the achievement of our Group’s business objectives and can only provide

reasonable, but not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board is responsible for the determination of our Group's risk profile within
its acceptable tolerance levels in business operation, oversight of management
in the design, implementation and monitoring of overall risk management
process from risk identification, risk assessment, establishment of appropriate risk
responses and regular risk evaluation and monitoring, so as to ensure the systems

are effectively established and maintained.

The internal audit department is responsible for performing independent review
of the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems. During the Year, the internal audit department examined key issues in
relation to the accounting practices and all material controls and provided its

findings and recommendations for improvement to the Audit Committee.
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The Audit Committee assists the Board in establishing formal arrangements to
apply financial reporting and interal control principles in accounting and financial
matters to ensure compliance with the Listing Rules and all relevant laws and
regulations. The Board has authorised the Audit Committee to be responsible
for the oversight of our Group's risk management and interal control systems
and reviewing the effectiveness of such systems on a yearly basis. Such review
covers all important aspects of supervision, including financial, operational and
compliance monitoring. Subject to recommendation from the Audit Committee,
our Company will appoint external internal control advisor to perform periodic
review of our Company's internal control system to evaluate the effectiveness
and formulate plans and recommendations for improvement of its internal control

measures and policies.

The Board, as supported by the Audit Committee as well as the internal audit
department, reviewed the risk management and intemal control systems for the
Year, and considered that the risk management and internal control systems
of our Group are effective and adequate. The review of the risk management
and internal control systems of our Group is an ongoing process and the
Board maintains a continuing commitment to strengthen our Group’s control

environment and processes.

The Company has adopted a code of conduct (“Code of Conduct”) for its
Directors and relevant employees to ensure that both Directors and relevant
employees are kept abreast of and fulfil a set of defined ethical obligations and
appropriate behaviours when conducting businesses and/or performing their
duties. The Company has also established and implemented procedures for (i)
collection, evaluation and publication of information to ensure timely reporting
of inside information to the Board and the Shareholders; and (ii) responding to
external enquiries about the Group’s affairs. With a view to identifying, handling
and disseminating inside information in compliance with the SFO, procedures
including preclearance on dealing in Company's securities by designated Director,
notification of blackout period and securities dealing restrictions to relevant
Directors and employees, identification of project by code name and dissemination
of information on a need-to-know basis have been implemented by the Group to

guard against possible mishandling of inside information within the Group.
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DISCLOSURE OF INSIDE INFORMATION
The Group acknowledges its responsibilities under the SFO and the Listing

Rules and the overriding principle that Inside Information should be announced
immediately when it is the subject of a decision. The procedures and internal

controls for the handling and dissemination of Inside Information are as follows:

. the Group conducts its affairs with close regard to the disclosure
requirement under the Listing Rules as well as the "“Guidelines on Disclosure
of Inside Information” published by the Securities and Futures Commission

of Hong Kong in June 2012;

. the Group has formulated inside information policies and disclosed its
policies on fair disclosure by pursuing broad, non-exclusive distribution of
information to the public through channels such as financial reporting, public

announcements and its website;

. the Group has strictly prohibited unauthorised use of confidential or Inside

Information; and

. the Group regularly reminds the directors and employees about due
compliance with all polices regarding the Inside Information, as well as keeps

them appraised of the latest regulatory updates.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chang, Eric Jackson (SR13E) (“Mr. Chang”) is our Company’s company
secretary appointed on 21| July 2022 and responsible for the Group’s corporate
secretarial functions. Mr. Chang has over 20 years of experience in accounting,
auditing, financial management and corporate governance matters. Prior to
joining the Company, Mr. Chang has over |0 years of working experience
in Hong Kong listed companies, and has worked as a senior manager in
PricewaterhouseCoopers. Mr. Chang is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants.

The company secretary is responsible for facilitating the Board process, as well
as communication among board members. Mr. Chang has confirmed that he has

attended not less than |5 hours of relevant professional training during the Year.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Board recognises the importance of maintaining a clear, timely and effective
communication with the Shareholders and investors of our Company. The Board
also recognises that effective communication with our Company’s investors is
critical in establishing investor confidence and to attract new investors. Therefore,
the Company has established a Shareholders’ communication policy with the
objective of maintaining a high degree of transparency to ensure the Shareholders
and the investors of our Company will receive accurate, clear, comprehensive
and timely information of our Group through a range of communication channels,
including the publication of annual reports, interim reports, announcements and
circulars. Any significant events of our Group fall to be disclosed will be published
in a timely, accurate and complete manner through the websites of our Company
and the Stock Exchange, so as to safeguard our Shareholders' rights of information

and participation.

The Company reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the Shareholders’
communication policy for the Year, and considered that the Shareholders’
Communication Policy remained effective and was properly implemented given

the multiple channels of communication in place.

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting/Right to
call an Extraordinary General Meeting

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles of Association, any one or more members
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
paid up capital of our Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of
our Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board
or the secretary of our Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit
of such requisition. If within twenty-one days of such deposit the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist himself may do so in the same
manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist as a result of

the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist by our Company.
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Procedures for putting forward proposals at
Shareholders’ meeting

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to propose new resolutions at
the general meetings under the Cayman Islands Companies Law, However,
Shareholders may request our Company to convene an extraordinary general
meeting following the procedures under Article 58 of the Articles of Association as

set out above.

Pursuant to Article 85 of the Articles of Association, no person other than a
Director retiring at the meeting shall, unless recommended by the Directors for
election, be eligible for election as a Director at any general meeting unless a
notice signed by a member (other than the person to be proposed) duly qualified
to attend and vote at the meeting for which such notice is given of his intention
to propose such person for election and also a notice signed by the person to be
proposed of his/her willingness to be elected shall have been lodged at the head
office or at the registration office. The period for lodgment of the notices required
under Article 85 will commence on the day after the despatch of the notice of
the general meeting appointed for such election and end no later than seven days
prior to the date of such general meeting and the minimum length of the period
during which such notices to our Company may be given will be at least seven

days.

If a shareholder wishes to propose a person for election as a Director at a general
meeting, he/she shall deposit a written notice at our Company'’s principal place of
business in Hong Kong at 24th Floor, Wyndham Place, 40-44 Wyndham Street,
Central, Hong Kong. The written notice must state the full name of the person
proposed for election as a Director, including the person’s biographical details as
required by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules, and be signed by the Shareholder

concerned and that person indicating his/her willingness to be elected.
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Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board
For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders may send written
enquiries to our Company. Our Company will not normally deal with verbal or

anonymous enquiries.

A Shareholder may send an enquiry to the Board at the Company’s principal place
of business in Hong Kong at 24th Floor, Wyndham Place, 40-44 Wyndham Street,
Central, Hong Kong for the attention of the Board in written form, which shall
state the nature of the enquiry and the reason for making the enquiry. In addition,
Shareholders can contact Tricor Investor Services Limited, the Hong Kong share

registrar of our Company, for any questions about their shareholdings.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS/INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Board considers that having active communications with our Shareholders
and investors is important and this will enhance transparency and clarity in public
disclosures by our Company. Any significant events of our Group fall to be
disclosed will be published in a timely, accurate and complete manner through
the websites of our Company and the Stock Exchange, so as to safeguard our

Shareholders’ rights of information and participation.
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Our Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with Shareholders
and in particular, through annual general meetings and other general meetings.
At the annual general meeting, Directors (or their delegates as appropriate)
are available to meet Shareholders and answer their enquiries. The notice of
the general meetings together with relevant documents will be sent out to
Shareholders at least 2| clear days before the annual general meeting and at least
[4 clear days before all other general meetings. The notice contains details on the
procedures for voting by poll as well as other relevant information related to the

proposed resolutions.

POLICIES RELATING TO SHAREHOLDERS

Dividend Policy

This dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) sets out the principles and guidelines
that the Company will apply when considering the declaration and payment of
dividends to the Shareholders.

The Company may, subject to the Cayman Companies Law, from time to time in
general meeting declare dividends in any currency to be paid to the Shareholders
but no dividend shall be declared in excess of the amount recommended by the
Board. The Board may from time to time determine to pay to the Shareholders
such interim dividends as appear to the Board to be justified by the profits of
the Company and in particular (but without prejudice to the generality of the
foregoing) if at any time the share capital of the Company is divided into different
classes, the Board may determine to pay such interim dividends in respect of
those shares in the capital of the Company which confer on the holders thereof
deferred or non-preferential rights as well as in respect of those shares which
confer on the holders thereof preferential rights with regard to dividend and
provided that the Board acts bona fide the Board shall not incur any responsibility
to the holders of shares conferring any preference for any damage that they
may suffer by reason of the payment of an interim dividend on any shares having
deferred or non-preferential rights and may also pay any fixed dividend which
is payable on any shares of the Company half-yearly or on any other dates,

whenever such profits, in the opinion of the Board, justifies such payment.
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According to the Dividend Policy, in deciding whether to propose a dividend and

in determining the dividend amount, the Board shall take into account, inter alia :

(@) financial results of the Group;

(b)  shareholders’ interests;

(c)  current and projected financial performance of the Group;

(d) growth and investment opportunities;

(e)  other macroeconomic and microeconomic factors; and

(f)  other factors that the Board may deem relevant from time to time.

The Board will continually review the Dividend Policy and reserves the right in its
sole and absolute discretion to update, amend, modify and/or cancel the Dividend

Policy at any time.

DISCLAIMER

The contents of the section headed "Shareholders’ Rights” are for reference and
disclosure compliance purposes only. The information does not represent and
should not be regarded as legal or other professional advice from our Company
to the shareholders. Shareholders should seek their own independent legal
or other professional advice as to their rights as shareholders. Our Company
disclaims all liabilities and losses incurred by the shareholders in reliance on any

contents of the section headed "Shareholders’ Rights".

CONCLUSION

Going ahead, the Group will continue to review regularly its corporate
governance practices to maintain high level of transparency, to enhance the
Company’s competitiveness and operating efficiency and to ensure its sustainable

development and to generate greater retums for the stakeholders.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

forvss
mazars

To the members of
Xingye Wulian Service Group Co. Ltd.
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Xingye Wulian Service
Group Co. Ltd. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set
out on pages 95 to 203, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 3| December 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2024, and
of its consolidated financial performance and consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance.

B ZEEERE

Forvis Mazars CPA Limited
BRI EE B AMERAE

42nd Floor, Central Plaza

18 Harbour Road,

Wanchai,

Hong Kong

BEABTALE ISRPIRESE
Tel E&E: (852)2909 5555

Fax & H.: (852)2810 0032

Email ‘25 #5: info.hk@forvismazars.com
Website #811t: forvismazars.com/hk
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
("HKSAS") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA"). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the “Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements”
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide

a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements for the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,

we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (contq)

Key audit matter

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B BERE

FARENSEH g

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

AR EER

HMETEXSNARERRETER

Recoverability of trade receivables and contract assets

EZEUSBERSHEERTEIKTE

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amounts of trade
receivables and contract assets were Renminbi (“RMB”)
55,717,000 and RMB4 1,147,000, respectively, which totally
accounted for approximately 9% of the current assets of the
Group.

RIZ-WNF+-A=1t—H EZREFBELENE
EMREED B/ ARE (T AR ])557170007t R AR
#41,1470007C - A MG BERERBEEI9% -

We identified the recoverability of trade receivables and
contract assets as a key audit matter due to the significance of
the financial impact on the consolidated financial statements
and the significant judgements exercised by management in
estimating the expected credit losses of trade receivables and
contract assets, including the existence of historical payment
record, forward-looking factors and any other available
information that may impact the estimated expected credit loss.
ﬁiﬁHQE%FEHQ?XIE&/—\Z@EFE’J—M&Z@’I‘EE%‘JE*
FREFR  ARHEUSAMBRRNUBEEM
BEX HEEERHEEZRKFARS ’Uﬁ?ﬁ’ﬁﬁ
HMEEFARAFLERAE SRS FEBREXN
e  AEMRERR AR EAT RN EREBRNEM
Hi [ 1S EH -

Relevant disclosures are included in Notes 2, 19 and 20 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BRARBEHIINGR A MEMKRME2 - 19520 °

Our procedures, among others, included:

#AmiEF B (AR aR)

. Understanding of how management assessed the
expected credit losses of trade receivables and contract
assets, and evaluating the design and implementation of
key control relating to the monitoring of the recoverability
of trade receivables and contract assets;

- THREEEFLEIRKFENANEERIEE
BEOTXANTERHERE S RETEREL
HE AR 1 R BRI B R b MY RRGRT R B

. Evaluating the objectivity, capabilities and competence of
the external independent professional valuer (*“Valuer™);

« AMESNERBI B EMAER ([HER ) 2 F 8T - 8
BB

. Evaluating and testing the methodologies and data/
parameters used by management, including the ageing
of trade receivables and contract assets, historical loss

information, probability of default, and expected loss;

« AHMERARERERATEREE 28 BEE

SERFERSHEERK - BEBBER - Y
RN FERREIE
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (contq)

Key audit matter

T

FARENSEH g

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BMETERRNARERRETER
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Obtaining an understanding from the Valuer about the
methodologies used and the key inputs and assessing the
appropriateness of these methodologies and assumptions
used by the Valuer in calculating the expected credit loss;
G EED T ARFTE M e A M R 8 A BUR - IRT
L ERMERT R EEBER A ERNZET A
KRR EEE M

Reviewing management's assessment of the forward-
looking factors, such as the anticipation of the customers'
operation, forecast industry situation and overall
economic conditions;
EHEREH AR MERRNNE - fInERPEE
EVIEER - 1TRATRIRR N B RN -

Checking, on a sample basis, the subsequent settlement
of trade receivables and contract assets against cash
receipts and the related supporting documentation;
REREREES LIRS WIE MARRBERA X e s E
FEWTRIA R A B ENBEREEBR

Engaging our valuation specialist to evaluate the
appropriateness of methodologies used and key inputs
adopted in the valuation model; and
BHEEMANGESRENEERLFRANEMRTT
ENERBABBNESEETIHE &

Checking the adequacy of the disclosures of the trade
receivables and contract assets in the consolidated
financial statements.
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Key audit matter

T
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FARENSEH g

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BMETERRNARERRETER

Assessment of the net realisable values of properties under development

FFEFIRAYRZ =5 FE

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amounts of properties
under development (“"PUD") situated in Mainland China
were approximately RMB140,973,000. The Group carried
out assessment on the net realisable values at the end of the
reporting period and compared them to the carrying amounts.
The Group has appointed a Valuer to assist in determining the
net realisable values of PUD.

RZZB_WOF+_A=+—H URFEABHFHEE
mE(THEPYE]D REEQS R AR 140973000

T BRBEYURESHRMAERFEETTHE X
HEEEETLER - BEXECZE—RMAEMNBEE
EREPYEN R HIRFE -

The management of the Group has estimated the net realisable
values of PUD based on independent external valuation. We
identified the assessment of net realisable values of PUD as a
key audit matter because of the significance of financial impact
on the consolidated financial statements and the determination
of net realisable values of PUD involved critical accounting
estimates on the selling price, variable selling expenses and
estimated costs to completion of PUD.
BERBEEEEBREB NG HEHREP YR A ER
FFEETT T A o RS EFER YR Z A2 FE
BAIRERETFE  RAHEREMBHRRNOPER
5K BREERBEPYERNAZEIFEY R HFHES
MERNHEER AR EEERIR TG RANER
SrHERT

Relevant disclosures are included in Notes 2 and |8 to the

consolidated financial statements.

BRARBEEHIIN A BRRME2M18

Our procedures, among others, included:

#AmiEF BE(EhER)

. Conducting site visiting to the property development

site and discussing with management the progress of the

PUD;

- HYEBRSHMETEMER  HEREMNWMAE
hYENERIEN

. Understanding the valuation processes and methodology,

significant assumptions adopted and key inputs used in
determining the net realisable values of PUD;

c THEAREBERETYEAERFEZGERFK
A - RAAERBRR X R EABE

. Assessing the reasonableness of management's key

estimates:

«  FHMEEREEX2MEFNAIEN

(i)  assessing the reasonableness of the estimated
selling price derived by making reference to the
recent market transactions, such as the prevailing
market price of the comparable properties with
similar size, usage and location;

() FHE2EOHNMEIZELNAETEEN
B PlIIALUEE - BERUENAE
LB KR ERITE
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (contq) FARESIE )

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

PR EER BMETERRNARERRETER

(i) evaluating the appropriateness of the basis for
determining the net realisable value of PUD and
assessing the reasonableness and consistency of the

key assumptions used by management; and

(i) FIHETHETDEAZERFENKERS
BE - UHEEEEMEANTIEZRRES
BEN—B M

(i) evaluating, on a sample basis, the reasonableness
of management’s estimates of the construction
costs to be incurred to complete the PUD and the
selling costs based on relevant documents, such as
development project cost estimates and existing
construction contracts.

(i) MRBEFABHEBRANEERREGEEAREH
X REEEEFEEEBYTKAE
FYIRMABRARERANREERAEENE
I e

. Assessing the appropriateness of the methodology and
the reasonableness of significant assumptions adopted by
external independent professional valuer determining the
net realisable values of PUD; and

© FHESNERBMERMAEMNEEMERYRAEE
FERMERBZTZRAEENTIERRRESS
B2 Rk

. Evaluating the competence, capabilities and objectivity of
external independent professional valuer.

« FAMEINBBMERMEEMEEE - eI REE
/|\ﬂ_: °

90 XINGYE WULIAN SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2024



OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the Company's 2024
annual report but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon, which we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s
report, and the environmental, social and governance report (the “ESG report”)

for the year 2024, which is expected to be made available to us after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not and will not express any form of assurance conclusion

thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information identified above and, in doing
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of this
auditor's report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. VWWe have nothing to report in this

regard.

When we read the ESG report for the year 2024, if we conclude that there is a
material misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the matter to
those charged with governance and take appropriate action considering our legal

rights and obligations.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
IFRS Accounting Standards issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to

fraud or error.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (contg)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concemn,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concemn and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to

do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's

financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes
our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
our agreed terms of engagement and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of

this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these

consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (contq)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement

and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional

omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the

Group's intermal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the

directors of the Company.

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going
concemn. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or

conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concem.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B RBERE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (contq)

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to express
an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in interal control that we identify during our
audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Forvis Mazars CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 27 March 2025

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is:

Tsoi Wa Shan

Practising Certificate number: PO75 4
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
mEBRsRAEMERRER

YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2024
RE—F_pIF{ = A=1—FIFE

2024 2023
kS £ 5
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Fi=E AR®TR ARBETTT
Revenue s 5 359,074 358943
Cost of services AR FS A AR (251,922) (261,724)
Gross profit EF 107,152 97219
Other income, other gains and losses, net HA A ~ H i das K
B 1E% R 6 427 5,707
Selling and marketing expenses HERZHEAY (1,661) (2,371)
Administrative expenses T2 (39,056) (42,218)
Impairment losses on financial and eRRkEHNEEREERE
contract assets 34 (5,772) (1,342)
Finance costs BT RRAR 7 (107) (120)
Profit before tax BR#E AT R 8 60,983 56,875
Income tax expense FTiEBiR X I (15,916) (16,694)
Profit for the year FRiER 45,067 40,181
Profit for the year attributable to: TS EFEREF
Equity holders of the Company RATHERFE A 45,053 40,173
Non-controlling interests JEF | REZS 14 8
45,067 40,181
Earnings per share attributable to AREESKHEAELER
equity holders of the Company 27
Basic and diluted EARREE RMBI1.26 cents ~ RMBI0.04 cents

13 AE®112653 AR I10045
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FeRRIREtZEIRESR

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
HE—T-mF+—_A=+—HIEFE

2024
—FoNEF

Notes RMB’000
BRE ARETR

Other comprehensive income (loss)
for the year
Item that will not be reclassified subsequently to

profit or loss:

FREMBEUA (BIR)

HETBET DR ERa Y
HH -
M ERE

2023

— =

RMB'000
ARETT

Currency translation differences 2,977 3,356
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to Hig AJgEEF 72 18 a i

profit or loss: HH
Exchange differences on translation of foreign  HEBINEREEE ZEH =

operations | (3,103) (2,004)
Total other comprehensive (loss) income FRAEMEHE (EER)

for the year DON L] (126) 1352
Total comprehensive income for the year FRZHEUIAHLEE 44,941 41,533
Total comprehensive income UTEEZEIALE :

attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company RARERFEA 44,927 41,525
Non-controlling interests FEFE I R 14 8

44,941 41,533
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
ARE AR R

AT 31 DECEMBER 2024
R-ZFE-—pF+=-H=+—H

2024 2023
—ZTmEF —ZT—=
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥Tx ARETIT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment W -~ BB NMERE 15 205,443 188,536
Right-of-use assets FREEE |6 1,794 2,139
Deferred tax assets ELEFRIEEE |7 2,190 1,261
209,427 [91,936
Current assets MENEE
Properties under development FEER Y% 18 140,973 130,738
Trade receivables B 5 W IR 19 55,717 99,675
Contract assets BREE 20 41,147 39,202
Prepayment, other receivables and FARTRRIE ~ B EBGRIE K
other assets Hih&E 21 42,739 25232
Restricted bank deposits SERIRTTIFEK 22 2,188 1,587
Cash and cash equivalents HE MReEEY 22 223,944 210,684
506,708 507,118
Current liabilities mEAaE
Trade payables B S EMNFUE 23 24,302 54,959
Other payables and accruals H b e 58 M T E 24 88,988 96,079
Contract liabilities X OR=NE 25 96,555 85,423
Tax payable FERIH IR 906 384
Provisions B 26 1,887 827
Lease liabilities HEAE 16 343 1,107
212,981 238,779
Net current assets MEEERE 293,727 268,339
Total assets less current liabilities EEHBRTHEE 503,154 460,275
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
GFEMBERRR

AT 31 DECEMBER 2024

R —E-pF+—-H=+—H

2024 2023
—ZTmEF —ZT—=
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR ARBT T
Non-current liabilities FERENEE
Provisions Bt 26 998 2717
Lease liabilities HEAaE 16 1,595 1938
Deferred tax liabilities R IEAE |7 590 590
3,183 5,245
NET ASSETS BERE 499,971 455,030
Capital and reserves BERR#E
Share capital &7 27 3,572 3,572
Reserves i 28 496,354 451,427
Equity attributable to equity holders of the RAREmRTE ARMLER
Company 499,926 454,999
Non-controlling interests JEF | REZS 45 3]
TOTAL EQUITY RESiBE 499,971 455,030

These consolidated financial statements on pages 95 to 203 were approved and FIOSEIHEMZERAMBREE R =
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 27 March 2025 and signed on E_RE=A-_t+t+tRESSESHER

its behalf by: KETIEE - WHTIIIATREREE
Qiu Ming Zhang Huiqi
xR SR
Director Director
EFE EE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
HE-T-mE A= ALFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company
KRAREHBNES

Reserves
i

Statutory Non-

NIE Share Merger surplus  Exchange Other  Retained controling Total

captal  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total  interests equity
AT Pz
R At B ENER EtER  REEN it et |
RMBO00O RMBOOO ~ RMBOOO ~ RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBOOO
ARETT ARBTL ARMTL ARBTR ARETT ARMTR ARBTT ARMTR ARETR
(Note27) (Note28(2)) (Note 28(b)) (Note 28(c) (Note28(d)) (Note 28(e))
(Wek27) (Weks@) (Wskse) (Msks(o) (ks (PHshse)

Asat | January 2023 W-F-ZE-f-A I M (1584 B 2%l 1890 ISI319 413474 B 437
Prof for the year ERE - - - - - -l In 8 48l

Other comprehensive income ~ EH2EWA () :

(loss):
Itern tht will not be reclossfied EfTeEls Bz

subsequenty to proft orloss: EatEs -
Currency translation differences ERZE - - - - 3356 - - 33% - 3356
ltem that may be reclssfed AR TR ENEE

subsequenty to proftorloss: EatEs -
Exchange differences on transiation of B EHER 2B}

foreign operations B - - - - (2004) - - (2004) - (2004)
Total comprehensive income EREEREE

forthe year - - - - 1352 - 40173 41505 8 41533
Transactions with owners: SWEAET2RA:
Contrbutions and disrbutions HERAE
Transfer from retained profts EREREET - - - 911 - S 1) - - -
Totaltransactions with owners HEBNETIR AR - - - 4911 - ) - - -
Asat 31 Decernber 2023 OS2

=t-f 351 e (158%4) 28810 3713 1890 186581 454999 3 455030
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
RAESEEHR
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

E LT U= A= —HIFFEE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

KOTREREARIE

Reserves

fife

Statutory Non-

Share Share Merger surplus ~ Exchange Other  Retained controlling

capital ~ premium reserve reserve reserve reserve profits interests  Total equity
R Hia5l
Bx  RREE  AHRE  BHER  EXGR  HMGR  REEA it iz RN
RMB'0O0  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'OO0  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARETn ARETn ARETn ARBTR ARETR
(Note27) (Note28(a)) (Note28(b)) (Note28(c)) (Note28(d)) (Note 28(e))
(Witrr)  (Wits) (Wikase)  (WEkas() (Wikse)  (Mitas(e))

Asat | Januery 204 N-E-RE-A-H 35T 63T (15,894) 28810 3713 1,890 186,581 454999 3 455,030
Proft for he year Emigh - - - - - - B0 408 14 4506
Other comprehensive income (loss): ~ EM2EWA(BHE) :
Hem that il ot be redassfed subsequenty ZEFEEH7HE

10 proft or loss: BEHEE -
Cuency transation dfferences EXZE - - - - 52 = = wn = W
Hem that may be recossfed subsequenty to 2 AEEHHEZ

proft oross: BEHEE -
Bichange dferences ontrenseionof ~— BEENEH R ZR

foreign operations - - - - (310 - ) - (10
Tota comprehensive incore for the year - ERZANALE - - - - (126) S 1 X1 14 4
Transactions with owners: EREARTZRA:
Contrbutons and distrbutions RERAF
Transfer rom retained profts ERRRERN - = = 4816 = - (4819) - - -
Totd transactions with owners BEEAETIRALE - - = 4816 = - (4819 - - -
As at 3| December 2024 WZECRETZA

=t-H 3570 637 (15,894) 33,626 3587 1890 226818 499926 45 49971
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mERERE

YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2024
RE—F_pIF{ = A=1—FIFE

2024 2023
o1 £ —T==
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARBFIT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES BEEy
Profit before tax BrEE AT A 60,983 56,875
Adjustments for: HATBIBEL TR -
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment — ¥1% « HiE Mk #EITE 2,033 1,189
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEERE 345 345
Finance costs BT RRAR 107 120
Interest income B A (176) (784)
Exchange loss, net P& 1 E518 558 3 1,023
Provision for assurance-type warranties REBEBEREE (659) (174)
Impairment losses on financial and eRkEHNEEREER
contract assets 5,772 [,342
Operating cash flows before movements SEESEEF 2KE
in working capital RaRg 68,408 59,936
Changes in working capital: EEELEEH)
Restricted bank deposits ZRIBITIF (601) (1,487)
Properties under development R (10,235) -
Trade receivables B ZREWE 7,869 (18,710)
Contract assets BREE (6,274) (16,229)
Prepayment, other receivables and TR - B A EUGRIA &
other assets HEMEE (24,244) (5,855)
Trade payables B F RN RIE (30,657) 11,283
Other payables and accruals H b FE < 5R18 K FEET B 33,078 28,822
Contract liabilities BHRE 11,132 18,570
Cash generated from operations KEMSIRE 48,476 76,330
Income tax paid =ANIZIEES (16,322) (17.227)
Net cash from operating activities RETHMSHRLENR 32,154 59,103
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
GAERERER
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

E LT U= A= —HIFFEE

2024 2023
o1 £ —T==
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFR ARETT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEH
Purchase of property, plant and equipment EEWE  HENMERE (18,940) (5,891)
Investment deposit paid to a third party XNFE=FNREERNE (141,000) (300,000)
Collection of investment deposit from a AE=HIKEEREERE
third party 141,000 300,000
Repayment to a related party A B Hs 7 & K - (216,510)
Net cash outflows arising from acquisiton of ~ WE—ZRHBAREANRS
a subsidiary M FRE 33 - (94,854)
Interest received EUF S 176 784
Net cash used in investing activities RETHFARSEHE (18,764) (316471)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and R RAZEMILMCRD)
cash equivalents B 13,390 (257,368)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning HEHVIRERFELEEY
of the reporting period 210,684 467,723

Effect on exchange rate changes ERFEHTE (130) 329

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the SREHRRERIRNEEEY -
reporting period, represented by bank MSRITRIRSERES
and cash balances 22 223,944 210,684
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
Xingye Waulian Service Group Co. Ltd. (the “Company”) is an exempted

company with limited liability incorporated under the laws of the Cayman
Islands. The Company's share were listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 9 March 2020.
The address of the registered office of the Company and the address of its
principal place of business are located at Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive,
PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KYI-1111, Cayman Islands and 24th Floor,
Wyndham Place, 40-44 Wyndham Street, Central, Hong Kong respectively.
The Company is an investment holding company and the principal activities
of its subsidiaries are set out in Note |4 to the consolidated financial

statements.

The Company and its subsidiaries are herein collectively referred to as the

“Group”.

The Group is principally engaged in property management and value-added
services, property engineering services and property development. The
revenue of property management and value-added services mainly comes
from properties under management, which were developed by the Group’s
related parties — Ever Diamond Global Company Limited and its subsidiaries
(collectively, “Ever Diamond Group™), Zensun Enterprises Limited and its
subsidiaries (collectively, “Zensun Enterprises Group”) and Henan Zensun
Corporate Development Group Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries (collectively,
“Zensun Development Group”).

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the immediate holding
company of the Company is Foison Amber Development Limited, a limited
liability company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI"). The
ultimate holding company of the Company is Vistra Trust (BVI) Limited, as
the trustee of the Blossom Trust, a discretionary family trust established in
the BVI on 16 August 2019 by Ms. Huang Yanping (“Ms. Huang") as the
settlor, with Ms. Zhang Huigi (“Ms. Zhang") acting as the protector and her
descendants and herself being the discretionary beneficiaries. Ms. Zhang is

also a non-executive director of the Company.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE T _mEf—A=+—HILFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with IFRS Accounting Standards, which collective term includes all
applicable individual IFRS Accounting Standards, IAS Standards and IFRIC
Interpretations issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. The
consolidated financial statements also comply with the applicable disclosure

requirements under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the

Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules").

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a basis
consistent with the accounting policies adopted in the 2023 consolidated
financial statements except for the adoption of the new/revised IFRS
Accounting Standards that are relevant to the Group and effective from
the current year as set out below. The consolidated financial statements are

presented in Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values are rounded to the nearest

thousand, unless otherwise indicated.

Changes in accounting policies

The Group has applied, for the first time, the following new/revised IFRS

Accounting Standards that are relevant to the Group:

Amendments to IAS | Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current

Amendments to IAS | Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

Amendments to |AS 7

and IFRS 7

Supplier Finance Arrangements

Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contq)
Changes in accounting policies (Contd)

Amendments to IAS I: Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current

The amendments aim to promote consistency in applying the requirements
by helping companies determine whether, in the statement of financial
position, debt and other liabilities with an uncertain settlement date should
be classified as current (due or potentially due to be settled within one
year) or non-current. The amendments include clarifying the classification

requirements for debt a company might settle by converting it into equity.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any significant impact on

the consolidated financial statements.
Amendments to IAS I: Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

The amendments specify that covenants to be complied with after the
reporting date do not affect the classification of debt as current or non-
current at the reporting date. Instead, the amendments require a company
to disclose information about these covenants in the notes to the

consolidated financial statements.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any significant impact on

the consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7: Supplier Finance
Arrangements

The amendments introduce new disclosure requirements to enhance the
transparency of supplier finance arrangements and their effects on an entity’s

liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any significant impact on

the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
(E_EUF+ = A=+—HIFFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contq)
Changes in accounting policies (Contd)

Amendments to IFRS 16: Lease Liability in a Sale and

Leaseback

The amendments require a seller-lessee to subsequently determine
lease payments arising from a sale and leaseback in a way that it does
not recognise any amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right of
use it retains. The new requirements do not prevent a seller-lessee from

recognising in profit or loss any gain or loss relating to the partial or full

termination of a lease.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any significant impact on

the consolidated financial statements.

A summary of the material accounting policies adopted by the Group is set

out below.

Basis of measurement

The measurement basis used in the preparation of these consolidated

financial statements is historical cost.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contq)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements
of the Company and all of its subsidiaries. The financial statements of
the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting year as that of the

Company using consistent accounting policies.

All intra-group balances, transactions, income and expenses and profits
and losses resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in full. The
results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the Group
obtains control and continue to be consolidated until the date when such

control ceases.

Non-controlling interests are presented, separately from equity holders of
the Company, in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income and within equity in the consolidated statement
of financial position. The non-controlling interests in the acquiree, that are
present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the acquiree’s net assets in event of liquidation, are measured
initially either at fair value or at the present ownership instruments’
proportionate share in the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. This choice of measurement basis is made on an acquisition-
by-acquisition basis. Other types of non-controlling interests are initially
measured at fair value, unless another measurement basis is required by
IFRS Accounting Standards.

Allocation of total comprehensive income

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the equity holders of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income is attributed to the equity holders
of the Company and the non-controlling interests even if this results in the

non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE T _mEf—A=+—HILFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contd)
Basis of consolidation (Contd)
Changes in ownership interests

Changes in the Group's ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result
in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying
amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests are adjusted to
reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference
between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted

and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly

in equity and attributed to the equity holders of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on disposal is
calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest determined
at the date when the control is lost and (i) the carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling
interests at the date when the control is lost. The amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to the disposed
subsidiary are accounted for on the same basis as would be required if the
holding company had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
Any investment retained in the former subsidiary and any amounts owed by
or to the former subsidiary are accounted for as a financial asset, associate,

joint venture or others as appropriate from the date when the control is

lost.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those retumns
through its power over the entity. The Group reassesses whether it controls

an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one

or more of the elements of control.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contq)
Subsidiaries (Contq)

In the Company's statement of financial position which is presented in Note
38 to the consolidated financial statements, an investment in subsidiary is
stated at cost less impairment losses. The carrying amount of the investment
is reduced to its recoverable amount on an individual basis, if it is higher
than the recoverable amount. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for

by the Company on the basis of dividends received and receivable.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress,
properties under development are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable
costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its
intended use. Repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during

the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is provided to write-off the cost less accumulated impairment
losses of property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress,
properties under development, over their estimated useful lives from the
date on which they are available for use and after taking into account their
estimated residual values, using the straight-line method at following annual
rates. Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated on a reasonable basis

and depreciated separately:

Machinery 9.5%
Electronic equipment and others 19% to 31.67%
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal
or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the item) is included in profit or loss in the period in

which the item is derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE T _mEf—A=+—HILFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contq)
Financial instruments
Financial assets

Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets are recognised when and only when the Group becomes a

party to the contractual provisions of the instruments and on a trade date

basis.

A financial asset is derecognised when and only when (i) the Group's
contractual rights to future cash flows from the financial asset expire or (ii)
the Group transfers the financial asset and either (a) it transfers substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset, or (b) it neither

transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of

the financial asset but it does not retain control of the financial asset.

If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of

a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial

asset.

If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset,

the Group recognises the financial asset to the extent of its continuing

involvement and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay.

Classification and measurement

Financial assets (except for trade receivables without a significant financing
component) are initially recognised at their fair value plus, in the case of
financial assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL"),
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the

financial assets. Such trade receivables are initially measured at their

transaction price.

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as (i) measured at

amortised cost; (i) debt investment measured at FVOCI; (iii) equity

investment measured at FVOCI]; or (iv) measured at FVPL.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contq)
Financial instruments (Contd)

Financial assets (Cont'd)

Classification and measurement (Cont'd)

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the
Group's business model for managing the financial assets and the financial
asset's contractual cash flow characteristics. Financial assets are not
reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Group changes
its business model for managing them, in which case all affected financial
assets are reclassified on the first day of the first annual reporting period

following the change in the business model.

Financial assets measured at amortised cost
A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the

following conditions and is not designated at FVPL:

(i) itis held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial

assets in order to collect contractual cash flows; and

(i) its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount

outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the
effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses
arising from impairment, derecognition or through the amortisation process

are recognised in profit or loss.

The Group's financial assets at amortised cost included trade receivables,
contract assets, other receivables and other assets, restricted bank deposits

and cash and cash equivalent.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE T _mEf—A=+—HILFE

112

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contq)
Financial instruments (Contd)

Financial liabilities

Recognition and derecognition

Financial liabilities are recognised when and only when the Group becomes

a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

A financial liability is derecognised when and only when the liability is
extinguished, that is, when the obligation specified in the relevant contract is

discharged, cancelled or expires.

Classification and measurement
Financial liabilities are initially recognised at their fair value plus, in the case
of financial liabilities not carried at FVPL, transaction costs that are directly

attributable to the issue of the financial liabilities.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade payables, other payables and
accruals and contract liabilities. All financial liabilities, are recognised initially
at their fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method, unless the effect of discounting would be

insignificant, in which case they are stated at cost.

Impairment of financial assets and other items

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses (“ECL") on
financial assets that are measured at amortised cost and contract assets to
which the impairment requirements apply in accordance with IFRS 9. Except
for the specific treatments as detailed below, at each reporting date, the
Group measures a loss allowance for a financial asset at an amount equal
to the lifetime ECL if the credit risk on that financial asset has increased
significantly since initial recognition. If the credit risk on a financial asset has
not increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures the

loss allowance for that financial asset at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contq)
Financial instruments (Contd)

Impairment of financial assets and other items (Cont'd)
Measurement of ECL

ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses (i.e. the present value

of all cash shortfalls) over the expected life of the financial instrument.

For financial assets, a credit loss is the present value of the difference
between the contractual cash flows that are due to an entity under the

contract and the cash flows that the entity expects to receive.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default
events over the expected life of a financial instrument while |2-month
ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from
default events on a financial instrument that are possible within |2 months

after the reporting date.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis, the financial instruments
are grouped based on the following one or more shared credit risk
characteristics:

(i)  past due information

(i) nature of instrument

(i)  nature of collateral

(iv)  industry of debtors

(v)  geographical location of debtors

(vi)  external credit risk ratings
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE T _mEf—A=+—HILFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contd)
Financial instruments (Contd)
Impairment of financial assets and other items (Cont'd)
Measurement of ECL (Cont'd)
Loss allowance is remeasured at each reporting date to reflect changes in
the financial instrument’s credit risk and loss since initial recognition. The
resulting changes in the loss allowance are recognised as an impairment
gain or loss in profit or loss with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying

amount of the financial instrument.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of default for
internal credit risk management purposes as historical experience indicates
that the Group may not receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full

if the financial instrument that meets any of the following criteria.

(i)  information developed intemally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals held by the

Group); or
(i) thereis a breach of financial covenants by the counterparty.
Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that default has
occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due unless the

Group has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a

more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contq)
Financial instruments (Contd)

Impairment of financial assets and other items (Cont'd)
Assessment of significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort. In particular, the following information

is taken into account in the assessment:

. the debtor’s failure to make payments of principal or interest on the

due dates;

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial

instrument’s external or internal credit rating (if available);

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results
of the debtor; and

. actual or expected changes in the technological, market, economic or
legal environment that have or may have a significant adverse effect
on the debtor’s ability to meet its obligation to the Group.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes
that the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since
initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE T _mEf—A=+—HILFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contq)
Financial instruments (Contd)
Impairment of financial assets and other items (Cont'd)
Low credit risk

A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

(i) ithasalow risk of default;

(i) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow

obligations in the near term; and

(i) adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer

term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower

to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

Simplified approach of ECL

For trade receivables and contract assets without a significant financing
components, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECL.
The Group recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECL at each
reporting date and has established a provision matrix that is based on its

historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific

to the debtors and the economic environment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A IS ERRMIRE

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

HE—ZT-NF+—_A=+—HIFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contg 2. EXEFEER g

Financial instruments (Cond) €MT R »)

Impairment of financial assets and other items (Contd) PHEERAMIBEEZHE )
Credit-impaired financial asset EEREC zHEE

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a BRE—THNZIEEEMESHE
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset ENEARBEEREESTRE
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired include 2B ZeREENDHIREER
observable data about the following events: H e EELREERENFE

BREBREA NSRRI BREUE

(a) significant financial difficutty of the issuer or the borrower. @ BITASBRAHEREXRYEK
E -

(b) abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event.

b) ERAH WENIBH=

e

(c)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons (0 ERANERALREEZA
relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted to the BIR R # A R B S& AR
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise AmEEZ AR EERARE
consider. ER T TEEEBHNESR

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or (d) fERABAREHEESETEM
other financial reorganisation. B &4 o

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because (e) HEBHAREBUHZEMEEN
of financial difficulties. SEIRTISELk o

(f)  the purchase or origination of a financial asset at a deep discount that N MUREFTHNEENEESRE
reflects the incurred credit losses. EUTRMEELEEZEEIE -

Write-off Wi

The Group writes off a financial asset when the Group has no reasonable A ASIBETEEAN e S MEE Y

expectations of recovering the contractual cash flows on a financial asset in IO ENIRERER » KE

its entirety or a portion thereof. The Group has a policy of writing off the BelfiiemEE - NEFEREW

gross carrying amount based on historical experience of recoveries of similar [B] £ L& BE /Y 18 1T 48 B0 ) 72 il 85 42

assets. The Group expects no significant recovery from the amount written FEmEMNESE - AEBRFEET2 X

off. However, financial assets that are written off could still be subject B EIMIESZE - Rt » BEE X

to enforcement activities under the Group’s procedures for recovery of #2ER(IER)% - EoiENLE

amounts due, taking into account legal advice if appropriate. Any subsequent BEA RS AREE U [ 8 2 70

recovery is recognised in profit or loss. AR P R SR B 7 T1TE)  {F

{AEERE IR SN B IER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE T _mEf—A=+—HILFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contq)
Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
equivalents represent bank and cash balances and short-term highly liquid

investments which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and

which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers within IFRS 15

Nature of goods or services

The nature of the goods or services provided by the Group s as follows:

(i)  Property management and value-added services

(i) Property engineering services

(i) Others comprises online group-buying services, charging pile services

and club house services, including catering and ancillary services.

Identification of performance obligations

At contract inception, the Group assesses the goods or services promised in

a contract with a customer and identifies as a performance obligation each

promise to transfer to the customer either:

(@) agood or service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct; or

(b) a series of distinct goods or services that are substantially the same

and that have the same pattern of transfer to the customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contq)
Revenue recognition (Contq)
Revenue from contracts with customers within IFRS 15 (Contd)

Identification of performance obligations (Cont'd)

A good or service that is promised to a customer is distinct if both of the

following criteria are met:

@

(®)

the customer can benefit from the good or service either on its own
or together with other resources that are readily available to the

customer (i.e. the good or service is capable of being distinct); and

the Group’s promise to transfer the good or service to the customer
is separately identifiable from other promises in the contract (i.e. the
promise to transfer the good or service is distinct within the context
of the contract).

Timing of revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when (or as) the Group satisfies a performance

obligation by transferring a promised good or service (i.e. an asset) to a

customer. An asset is transferred when (or as) the customer obtains control
of that asset.

The Group transfers control of a good or service over time and, therefore,

satisfies a performance obligation and recognises revenue over time, if one

of the following criteria is met:

@

(®)

the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits

provided by the Group'’s performance as the Group performs;

the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset (for example,
work in progress) that the customer controls as the asset is created

or enhanced; or
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE T _mEf—A=+—HILFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contq)
Revenue recognition (Contq)

Revenue from contracts with customers within IFRS 15 (Contd)

Timing of revenue recognition (Cont'd)

(c) the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative

use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment

for performance completed to date.

If a performance obligation is not satisfied over time, the Group satisfies
the performance obligation at a point in time when the customer obtains
control of the promised asset. In determining when the transfer of control
occurs, the Group considers the concept of control and such indicators as

legal title, physical possession, right to payment, significant risks and rewards

of ownership of the asset, and customer acceptance.

Revenue or income is recognised on the following bases:

Property management and value-added services

For property management services, the Group bills a fixed amount for
services provided on a semi-annual basis and revenue is recognised over the

service period on a straight-line basis because the customer simultaneously

receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group.

For value-added services, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
related value-added services are rendered. Payment of the transaction is due

immediately when the value-added services are rendered to the customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contq)
Revenue recognition (Contq)
Revenue from contracts with customers within IFRS 15 (Contd)

Property engineering services

Revenue from the provision of property engineering services is recognised
over time, using an input method to measure progress towards complete
satisfaction of the services, because the Group's performance does not
create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date. The input
method recognises revenue based on the proportion of the actual costs
incurred relative to the estimated total costs for satisfaction of the property

engineering services.

Club house services, including catering and ancillary services

Revenue from club house services, including catering and ancillary services,
is recognised at a point in time when food, beverages and other services are
delivered to or rendered to the customer, generally on the acceptance of

the services by the customer.

Online group-buying services
Revenue from online group-buying services is recognised at a point in time
when control of the goods is transferred to the customer, generally on the

acceptance of the goods by the customer.

Charging pile services
For charging pile services, the customers need to pay in advance, and
revenue is recognised at a point in time when the related services are

rendered.

Intermediary services, including real estate leasing and selling intermediaries
service, and renovation intermediaries service

For intermediary services, the revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the related services are rendered which is generally the time when the

transacting parties first come into an agreement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—
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A AR R EE

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE T _mEf—A=+—HILFE

2.

122

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contq)
Revenue recognition (Contq)

Income from financial assets

Interest income from financial assets is recognised using the effective interest
method. For financial assets measured at amortised cost that are not credit-
impaired, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount
of the assets while it is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying

amount net of loss allowance) in case of credit-impaired financial assets.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

If the Group performs by transferring goods or services to a customer
before the customer pays consideration or before payment is due, the
contract is presented as a contract asset, excluding any amounts presented
as a receivable. Conversely, if a customer pays consideration, or the Group
has a right to an amount of consideration that is unconditional, before
the Group transfers a good or service to the customer, the contract is
presented as a contract liability when the payment is made or the payment is
due (whichever is earlier). A receivable is the Group's right to consideration
that is unconditional or only the passage of time is required before payment

of that consideration is due.

For a single contract or a single set of related contracts, either a net contract
asset or a net contract liability is presented. Contract assets and contract

liabilities of unrelated contracts are not presented on a net basis.

For property management and value-added services and charging pile
services, it is common for the Group to receive from the customer the
whole or some of the contractual payments before the services are
completed or when the goods are delivered (i.e. the timing of revenue
recognition for such transactions). The Group recognises a contract liability
until it is recognised as revenue. During that period, any significant financing
components, if applicable, will be included in the contract liability and will be

expensed as accrued unless the interest expense is eligible for capitalisation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contq)

Contract assets and contract liabilities (Contd)

On the other hand, for property engineering services, in accordance with
the standard payment schedules of the Group, payments are normally not
due or received from the customer until the services are completed or
when the goods are delivered. However, for such transactions, revenue is
recognised over time and therefore, a contract asset is recognised until it
becomes a receivable or payments are received. During that period, any
significant financing components, if applicable, will be included in the contract

asset and recognised as interest income.

The Group receives payments from the customer which are largely in line
with the timing of revenue recognition and no significant contract assets or

contract liabilities are recognised.

Foreign currency translation

[tems included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities
are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates (the “functional currency”). Hong Kong Dollars
("HK$") is the Company's functional currency. Since the Group’s main
operation is carried out in the People’s Republic of China (the "PRC"), the
amounts shown in the consolidated financial statements are presented in
RMB.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency
using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions
and from the translation at period-end exchange rates of monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or

loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A PSRRI Y

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE T _mEf—A=+—HILFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contq)
Foreign currency translation (Contd)

The results and financial position of all the group entities that have a
functional currency different from the presentation currency (“foreign

operations”) are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

. Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented
and, where applicable, goodwill and fair value adjustments on the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising on an acquisition of a
foreign operation which are to be treated as assets and liabilities of

that foreign operation, are translated at the closing rate at the end of

the reporting period;

. Income and expenses for each income statement and statement of

comprehensive income are translated at average exchange rates;

. All resulting exchange differences arising from the above translation
and exchange differences arising from a monetary item that forms part

of the Group’s net investment in a foreign operation are recognised as

a separate component of equity;

. On the disposal of a foreign operation, which includes a disposal of
the Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, a disposal involving
the loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint arrangement or an associate
that includes a foreign operation of which the retained interest is no
longer equity-accounted for, the cumulative amount of the exchange
differences relating to the foreign operation that is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the separate component

of equity is reclassified from equity to profit or loss when the gain or

loss on disposal is recognised;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contq)

Foreign currency translation (Contd)

. On the partial disposal of the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation which does not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of the cumulative
amount of the exchange differences recognised in the separate
component of equity is re-attributed to the non-controlling interests

in that foreign operation and are not reclassified to profit or loss; and

. On all other partial disposals, which includes partial disposal of
associates or joint ventures that do not result in the Group losing
significant influence or joint control, the proportionate share of the
cumulative amount of exchange differences recognised in the separate

component of equity is reclassified to profit or loss.

Properties under development

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Development costs include acquisition costs, construction
costs, borrowing costs capitalised and other direct costs attributable to
such properties during the construction period. Net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. On
completion, the properties are reclassified to properties held for sale at the

carrying amount.

Properties under development are classified as current assets when the
construction of the relevant properties commences unless the construction
period of the relevant property development project is expected to

complete beyond normal operating cycle.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
(E_EUF+ = A=+—HIFFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contd)

Impairment of non-financial assets, other than

goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews internal and
external sources of information to assess whether there is any indication
that its property, plant and equipment or right-of-use assets may be
impaired or impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists or may
be reduced. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset
is estimated, based on the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use. Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the

smallest group of assets that generates cash flows independently (i.e. cash-

generating unit (the "CGU")).

If the recoverable amount of an asset or a CGU is estimated to be less than
its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset or CGU is reduced to

its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised as an expense in

profit or loss immediately.

A reversal of impairment losses is limited to the carrying amount of the asset
or CGU that would have been determined had no impairment loss been

recognised in prior periods. Reversal of impairment losses is recognised as

an income in profit or loss immediately.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contq)
Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events, when it is probable that
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation, and when a reliable estimate of the amount of
obligation can be made. Expenditures for which a provision has been
recognised are charged against the related provision in the period in which
the expenditures are incurred. Provisions are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. Where
the effect of the time value of money is material, the amount provided is
the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle
the obligation. Where the Group expects a provision to be reimbursed,
the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when the

reimbursement is virtually certain.

The Group provides for warranties in relation to the provision of property
engineering services for general repairs of defects occurring during the
warranty period of two years. Provisions for these assurance-type warranties
granted by the Group are recognised based on sales volume and estimation

of the level of repairs, discounted to their present values as appropriate.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income over the years necessary to match the grant
on a systematic basis to the costs that it is intended to compensate. Where
the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a deferred income
account and is released to profit or loss over the expected useful life of the

relevant asset by equal annual instalments.

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease at inception
of the contract. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in

exchange for consideration.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE T _mEf—A=+—HILFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contd)
Leases (Contd)
As lessee
The Group applies the recognition exemption to short-term leases and
low-value asset leases. Lease payments associated with these leases are

recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group has elected not to separate non-lease components from lease
components, and accounts for each lease component and any associated

non-lease components as a single lease component.

Amounts payable by the Group that do not give rise to a separate
component are considered to be part of the total consideration that is

allocated to the separately identified components of the contract.

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the

commencement date of the lease.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises:

(@) the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

(b) any leases payments made at or before the commencement date, less

any lease incentives received;

(c) anyinitial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

(d) an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling and
removing the underlying asset, restoring the site on which it is located
or restoring the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease, unless those costs are incurred to

produce inventories.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contq)

Leases (Contd)

As lessee (Cont'd)

Subsequently, the right-of-use asset is measured at cost less any accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses and adjusted for any
remeasurement of the lease liability. Depreciation is provided on a straight-
line basis over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful lives of
the right-of-use asset (unless the lease transfers ownership of the underlying
asset to the Group by the end of the lease term or if the cost of the right-
of-use asset reflects that the Group will exercise a purchase option — in
which case depreciation is provided over the estimated useful life of the

underlying asset) as follows:

Buildings 8—10 years

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease

payments that are not paid at the commencement date of the contract.
The lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability
comprise the following payments for the right to use the underlying asset

during the lease term that are not paid at the commencement date:

(@) fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease

incentives receivable;

(b)  variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate;

(c)  amounts expected to be payable under residual value guarantees;

(d) exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably certain

to exercise that option; and

(e) payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term

reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate the lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE T _mEf—A=+—HILFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contq)
Leases (Contd)
As lessee (Cont'd)

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the

lease, or where it is not readily determinable, the incremental borrowing

rate of the lessee.

Subsequently, the lease liability is measured by increasing the carrying

amount to reflect interest on the lease liability and by reducing the carrying

amount to reflect the lease payments made.

The lease liability is remeasured using a revised discount rate when there
are changes to the lease payments arising from a change in the lease term

or the reassessment of whether the Group will be reasonably certain to

exercise a purchase option.

The lease liability is remeasured by using the original discount rate when
there is a change in the residual value guarantee, the in-substance fixed lease
payments or the future lease payments resulting from a change in an index
or a rate (other than floating interest rate). In case of a change in future

lease payments resulting from a change in floating interest rates, the Group

remeasures the lease liability using a revised discount rate.

The Group recognises the amount of the remeasurement of the lease
liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset. If the carrying amount of
the right-of-use asset is reduced to zero and there is a further reduction in

the measurement of the lease liability, the Group recognises any remaining

amount of the remeasurement in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contq)
Leases (Contd)
As lessee (Cont'd)

A lease modification is accounted for as a separate lease if:

(@

(®)

the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the right

to use one or more underlying assets; and

the consideration for the lease increases by an amount commensurate
with the stand-alone price for the increase in scope and any
appropriate adjustments to that standalone price to reflect the

circumstances of the particular contract.

When a lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, at the

effective date of the lease modification,

@

(®)

©

©)

©

the Group allocates the consideration in the modified contract on the

basis of relative stand-alone price as described above.

the Group determines the lease term of the modified contract.

the Group remeasures the lease liability by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate over the revised lease

term.

for lease modifications that decrease the scope of the lease, the
Group accounts for the remeasurement of the lease liability by
decreasing the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset to reflect the
partial or full termination of the lease and recognising any gain or loss

relating to the partial or full termination of the lease in profit or loss.

for all other lease modifications, the Group accounts for the
remeasurement of the lease liability by making a corresponding

adjustment to the right-of-use asset.

FE I RRME

YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2024

HE—ZT-NF+—_A=+—HIFE

2. EXEEER@®

HE )

EBABNA ()
HEIRATIER - BEBHBIES
BBHE A

() ZIEHUE BN —TESK % IEAE

(®)

iNGEN

BB EMERENmEAHEE
#E K

HERERNNSERENE
BABELERNEBERLS
REASTE R BRI % ESE
BRELNEMEEFHE -

SIERAARNELER B BER

BREHEARE

(@)

(d)

(®)

AEBESRE DAY EBE
BBEREDEEEERTAK

PNy - ] -
DB TELIEE]

BHMHE

& M
A
)
B

$%@%ﬁﬂ MEIERTHEHfE
A% FHEETHE
ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%ﬁuiﬁﬁgﬁf
BfE-

FhARRAE & #8E A S &2k
B AKES BB ERE
BEMNREEHHEREET
EHETE - URREDHEE
R EMEE RN R a R
DREEL I ZAERBNE
(OEY6ET Sl

SR R EENmE - &
SESEEUEREEEFL
HEARSEHER B2 BT
BARK-

FH2024 | EEYBRFEEERAR 131



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE T _mEf—A=+—HILFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contq)
Employee benefits
Short term employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave and the cost of non-monetary

benefits are accrued in the year in which the associated services are

rendered by employees.

Defined contribution plans

The obligations for contributions to defined contribution retirement scheme
in Hong Kong are recognised as expense in profit or loss as incurred. The

assets of the scheme are held separately from those of the Group’s entities

established in Hong Kong in an independently administered fund.

In accordance with the rules and regulations in the PRC, the employees
of the Group's entities established in the PRC are required to participate
in defined contribution retirement plans organised by local governments.
Contributions to those plans are expensed as incurred and other than these

monthly contributions, the Group has no further obligation for the payment

of retirement benefits to its employees.

Taxation

The charge for current income tax is based on the results for the period as
adjusted for items that are non-assessable or disallowed. It is calculated using

tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the

reporting period.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, any deferred tax arising from initial recognition of
goodwill, or other asset or liability in a transaction other than a business

combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither the

accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss is not recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contq)
Taxation (Contd)

The deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is recovered or the
liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or

substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary

differences, tax losses and credits can be utilised.
Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investment in
subsidiaries and associates, except where the timing of the reversal of the

temporary differences is controlled by the Group and it is probable that the

temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Related parties
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the

Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group

or of the holding company of the Group (if any).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE T _mEf—A=+—HILFE

2.

134

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contq)

Related parties (Contd)

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions
applies:

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of the same group
(which means that each holding company, subsidiary and fellow

subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or
an associate or joint venture of a member of a group of which

the other entity is a member).

(i) both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity

is an associate of the third entity.

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to
the Group. If the Group is itself such a plan, the sponsoring

employers are also related to the Group.

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contq)
Related parties (Contd)
(b)  (Contd)

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the
entity or is a member of the key management personnel of the

entity (or of a holding company of the entity).

(viiil) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the Group or

to the holding company of the Group (if any).

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who
may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person in their

dealings with the entity and include:

(@)  that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(b)  children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(c) dependants of that person or that person’s spouse or domestic

partner.

In the definition of a related party, an associate includes subsidiaries of the

associate and a joint venture includes subsidiaries of the joint venture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE T _mEf—A=+—HILFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contq)
Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item reported
in the consolidated financial statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the chief operating decision makers for

the purpose of allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of,

the Group's various lines of business and geographical locations.

Operating segments that meet the quantitative thresholds are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of products
and services, the type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory

environment. Other operating segments may be aggregated if they share a

majority of these criteria.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates and assumptions concerning the future and judgements are
made by the management in the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements. They affect the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses, and disclosures
made. They are assessed on an on-going basis and are based on experience
and relevant factors, including expectations of future events that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Where appropriate,

revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period of revision

and future periods, in case the revision also affects future periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contd)
Critical accounting estimates and judgements (Contq)
(I) Key sources of estimation uncertainty

0

Measurement of progress toward complete satisfaction of property
engineering services

The Group uses the input method to measure the progress
toward satisfaction of the performance obligations, and
specifically, the proportion of actual costs incurred relative
to the estimated total costs. The Group determined that the
input method is the best method in measuring the progress
of the property engineering services because there is a direct
relationship between the Group's effort (i.e. costs incurred)
and the transfer of goods and services to the customer. The
Group recognises revenue on the basis of the costs expended
relative to the total expected costs to complete the services.
Actual costs incurred include direct and indirect costs in the
process of transferring goods and services from the Group to
customers. The Group adopts cost-plus method when setting
the price for each contract. Therefore, the proportion of actual
costs incurred relative to the total expected costs can reflect
the progress toward satisfaction of the property engineering
services. Since the duration of the performance obligation is
relatively long and it may fall in two accounting periods, the
Group will review the contract, revise the budget and adjust

the revenue accordingly as the contract is carried forward.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
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2.

138

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contq)
Critical accounting estimates and judgements (Contq)
(I) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Contd)

(i)

(iif)

XINGYE WULIAN SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD.

Provisions

Significant management estimates are involved in the
determination of the cost of assurance-type warranty to be
incurred during the warranty period. Accordingly, management
exercises considerable judgement in determining whether there
is a present obligation as a result of a past event at the reporting
date, whether it is more likely than not that such warranty
services will result in an outflow of resources and whether
the amount of the obligation can be reliably estimated with
reference to the size of the project, relevant correspondence
and contracts with customers. Management estimates the cost
for warranty services with regard to the Group'’s experience in

addressing such matters.

Loss allowance for ECL

The Group's management estimates the loss allowance for
trade receivables and contract assets by using various inputs
and assumptions including risk of a default and expected loss
rate. The estimation involves high degree of uncertainty which
is based on the Group's historical information, existing market
conditions as well as forward-looking estimates at the end of
each reporting period. Where the expectation is different from
the original estimate, such difference will impact the carrying
amount of trade receivables and contract assets. Details of the
key assumption and inputs used in estimating ECL are set out in

Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contq)
Critical accounting estimates and judgements (Contq)
(I) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Contd)

(V)

v)

Discount rates for calculating lease liabilities — as lessee

The Group uses the lessee’s incremental borrowing rates to
discount future lease payments since interest rates implicit in
the leases are not readily determinable. In determining the
discounts rates for its leases, the Group refers to a rate that
is readily observable as the starting point and then applies
judgement and adjusts such observable rate to determine the

incremental borrowing rate.

Net realisable value on properties under development

Properties under development are stated at the lower of
the cost and net realisable value. Based on the experience of
the directors of the Company and the nature of the subject
properties, the directors of the Company determines the net
realisable value of properties under development by reference
to the estimated market prices of the properties under
development, which takes into account a number of factors
including the recent prices of similar property types in the same
project or by similar properties, and the prevailing real estate
market conditions in the PRC. The directors of the Company

estimates the costs to completion.
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2.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contq)
Critical accounting estimates and judgements (Contq)
(I) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Contd)

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of the
reporting period. An intangible asset not yet available for use
is tested for impairment annually and at other times when
such an indicator exists. Other non-financial assets are tested
for impairment when there are indicators that the carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists when
the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds
its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value
less costs of disposal and its value in use. The calculation of
the fair value less costs of disposal is based on available data
from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction of
similar assets or observable market prices less incremental costs
for disposing of the asset. When value in use calculations are
undertaken, management must estimate the expected future
cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of
those cash flows.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contq)
Critical accounting estimates and judgements (Contq)
(I) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Contd)

(i)

(viii)

Income taxes

Determining income tax provisions involves judgement on the
future tax treatment of certain transactions. The Group carefully
evaluates tax implications of transactions and tax provisions are
set up accordingly. The tax treatment of such transactions is
reconsidered periodically to take into account all changes in tax
legislation. Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible
temporary differences and tax losses only to the extent that it
is probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which the deferred tax assets can be utilised. As a result,
management'’s judgement is required to assess the probability
of future taxable profits. Management reassesses these estimates

at the end of each reporting period.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

The management determines the estimated useful lives of the
Group's property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
based on the historical experience of the actual useful lives of
the relevant assets of similar nature and functions. The estimated
useful lives could be different as a result of technical innovations
which could affect the related depreciation charges included in

profit or loss.
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YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
(E_EUF+ = A=+—HIFFE

2.

142

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contq)
Critical accounting estimates and judgements (Contq)
(2) Critical judgements made in applying accounting policies

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group applied the following judgements that significantly

affect the determination of the amount and timing of revenue from

contracts with customers:

Determining the timing of satisfaction of property engineering services
The Group concluded that revenue for property engineering services
is to be recognised over time because the Group's performance
does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and

the Group has an enforceable right to payment for performance

completed to date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FUTURE CHANGES IN IFRS ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS

At the date of authorisation of these consolidated financial statements, the
IASB has issued the following new/revised IFRS Accounting Standards that
are not yet effective for the current year, which the Group has not early

adopted.

Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability'

Amendments to IFRS 9 Amendments to the Classification and

and IFRS 7 Measurement of Financial Instruments?

Annual Improvements to IFRS  Volume | |2

Amendments to IFRS 9 Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent

and IFRS 7 Electricity?
IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements?
IFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability:

Disclosures?
Amendments to IFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between
and IAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint

Venture?

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after | January 2025

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after | January 2026
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after | January 2027
4 The effective date to be determined

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the adoption of these
new/revised IFRS Accounting Standards in future periods will have any

material impact on the Group's consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE T _mEf—A=+—HILFE

4. SEGMENT REPORTING

The executive directors have been identified as the chief operating decision
makers to evaluate the performance of operating segments and to allocate
resources to those segments. Based on risks and returns and the Group'’s

internal financial reporting, the executive directors consider that the

operating segments of the Group comprise:

(i)  Property management and value-added services;

(i) Property engineering services;

(i) Property development; and

(iv) Others (Note).

Note: “Others” comprises online group-buying services, charging pile services
and club house services (including catering and ancillary services) as well as

intermediary services (including real estate leasing and selling intermediaries

service, and renovation intermediaries service).

In addition, the executive directors consider that the Group's place of

domicile is the PRC, where the central management and control is located.

Segment results, which are the measures reported to the chief operating
decision makers for the purposes of resources allocation and assessment of

segment performance, represent the profit eamed or loss incurred by each

segment without allocation of certain head office income and expenses.

All assets are allocated to operating segments other than certain bank and

cash balances and certain other receivables as these assets are managed on

a group basis.
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SEGMENT REPORTING (contq)

All liabilities are allocated to operating segments other than certain other
payables and deferred tax liability as these liabilities are managed on a group

basis.

Year ended 31 December 2024

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRRMEE

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE_ZT_mEf—A=1+—HIFFE

4. DEB2IH &)

PrEREHDET

REDE - D

BIRE T AR R MR TR A

afE -
I8 o

Az

BIEERERE

BE-S-mE+=A=+—
HIEF

Property
management
and Property
value-added  engineering Property
services services  development Others  Consolidated
MEEER MEIR
IR ER AR5 WEmH% Hith e
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRE ARBTR AR®TRE AR®TR ARET=R
Segment revenue pak=iti 6 302,826 20,947 - 35,301 359,074
Segment results NEEE 65,029 (6,970) (351) 5511 63,219
Unallocated income AOEWA 406
Unallocated expenses ANEFE (2,642)
Profit before tax BE AR A 60,983

Year ended 31 December 2023

BE-_E_=F+=-A=4+-—

HIEFE
Property
management
and Property
value-added engineering Property
services services  development Others  Consolidated
MEELR  WEIR
BB MRS 75 ESEE S Hft ma
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETRT AR®TT ARETT ARETR
Segment revenue DE s 278,245 40,469 - 40,229 358943
Segment results NEEE 64,533 (7,161 - 4416 61788
Unallocated income AOBWA |
Unallocated expenses AOBRX (4914)
Profit before tax BRECAE R 56,875
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A PSRRI Y

YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2024

BE T _mEf—A=+—HILFE

4. SEGMENT REPORTING (contq)
Segment assets and liabilities

4.

An analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by operating segments is set

out below:

As at 31 December 2024

DEE2R )

PHEEREE
AEBZEEDHBE D 2 EEKRE
BOWETIAT

R-F-_mFE+—F=1+—H

Property
management
and Property
value-added  engineering Property
services services development Others  Unallocated Consolidated
PEER  YRIE
RIBERT ki WX Hitr OB &a
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARMTR ARBTRT ARETR AR¥TT ARET=R
Total assets BESE 272,161 84,478 352,763 4,892 1,841 716,135
Total liabilties RiEER 170,030 31,693 2,282 6,165 5,994 216,164
Additional segment information:  EESNY ERER}
Additions in property, plant RENE  WE
and equipment E 47 - 17,136 1,757 - 18,940
Depreciation of property, plant ~ #1% * FiE &
and equipment REIE 242 2 14 1,775 - 2,033
Depreciation of right-of-use assets {F B EITE 345 - - - - 345
Impairment losses on financial SBRANEE
and contract assets REBE 1,393 4329 - 50 - 5772
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A IS ERRMIRE

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

HE—ZT-NF+—_A=+—HIFE

4. SEGMENT REPORTING (contq) 4. DEWEW =)
Segment assets and liabilities (Contd) SEHEEREEw)
As at 31 December 2023 R-E—_=—fFf+—_H=+—H

Property
management
and Property

value-added  engineering Property

services services  development Others  Unallocated Consolidated
WEEER  WETRE
SR(E MR B EFEE Hit ADEC A
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARETT ARETT
Total assets BERE 252857 107,605 319,833 15289 3470 699,054

Total liabilities BERE 174,622 44,883 8323 9,127 7,069 244024

Additional segment information: ZESN D ERE Y -

Additions in property, REWE

plant and equipment BB 192 - 180,231 5,699 - 186,122
Depreciation of property, mE - BER

plant and equipment RIBITE 271 28 - 890 - 1,189
Depreciation of EREEE

right-of-use assets e 345 - - - - 345
Impairment losses on TRRANE

financial and contract assets  EE L {EE1E 267 1,071 - 4 - 342
Geographical information WEEH
Since the Group has operations in the PRC only, no further operating HRAEEEEREEE - I &
geographical information analysis is presented. 2IE—FRERER DT -
Information about major customers FHRXEEFNEN
Revenue of approximately RMB19,688,000 and RMB13,258,000 (2023: AR # 196880007 & A K ¥
RMB 17,346,000 and RMB26,260,000) respectively were derived from 13258000L(ZZFE==4F : AR¥K
provision of property management and value-added services and property 17,346,0007T F2 A R #626,260,0007T )
engineering services to a group of entities which is controlled by Zensun BV U ES 2R B (A IE 7 B R R B AT
Enterprises Group. HH—HERRHYEEIEIEE

AR5 LA K ) 5k TRE AR ©

Except for those mentioned above, there was no single customer from Br batESN - REEHR - AR
which the revenue amounted to 10% or more of the Group's total revenue BE -—EPHBEEAER KRR
at the end of the reporting period. BEI10%E A L o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BEHRRMEE

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
HE—T-mF+—_A=+—HIEFE

5. REVENUE 5. Uk
HERIEIS 2 WS DT -

Revenue is analysed by category as follows:

2024
—F-mF

RMB’000
ARETT

Revenue from Contracts with Customers

TSRS YER S I55R A

within IFRS |5

=
KB EFEKMWKES

2023

— =

RMB'000
ARETT

Type of services BRISHEE
Property management and value-added services )2 &R [ HE{E RS 302,826 278,245
Property engineering services Y5 TR 20,947 40,469
Club house services @ ATARTS 14,919 18,258
Charging pile services T EERS 14,224 8,593
Intermediary services N IRTS 3,295 11,328
Others Hifb 2,863 2,050
Total revenue gt 359,074 358,943
Timing of revenue recognition Wi 5 hE R R
A point of time N S ElS R
— Value-added services —18(E RIS 5,498 4,097
— Club house services — S FTARTS 14,919 18,258
— Charging pile services — REBER 14,224 8,593
— Intermediary services — R AR 3,295 11,328
— Others —HAth 2,863 2,050
Over time R — BB
— Property management —MEER 297,328 274,148
— Property engineering services — Y TRRARF 20,947 40,469
359,074 358,943
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5.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE (contq)

The following table shows the revenue recognised in relation to contract

liabilities carried forward from the end of the prior year:

A B IFIRARIEE

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE_ZT_mEf—A=1+—HIFFE

5. W22

TR E—FEREENELH
BETRER WS -

2024 2023
—ETWEF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARBTTT

Types of services R
Property engineering services E MRS Y 2,799 2,477
Property management and value-added services )2 & 12 & IE{E RS 82,624 64,376
85,423 66,853

Performance obligations
Information about the Group's performance obligations is summarised

below:

Property management

The performance obligation is satisfied over time and payments are
generally paid in advance. For property management services, the Group
recognises revenue in the amount to which the Group has a right to invoice
and the amount corresponds directly with the value to the customer of
the Group's performance to date. The Group has elected the practical
expedient of not to disclose the remaining performance obligations for
property management. The majority of the property management service

contracts do not have a fixed term.

Value-added services

The performance obligation is satisfied at a point in time and payments are
generally due when the services are rendered. For value-added services,
they are rendered in a short period of time and there is no unsatisfied

performance obligation at the end of each reporting period.

BHEE
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T

WEEZE

ZEAEERN—BREBEX - 3R
BEIBILEN - SLEE R RS M
B OAREBRASEERFAAERE
MeERRAlE  MAHSEER
HEAKBESRATEFPIEHNELD
BE AEBECDEEEREERES
A FAEBEVMEEENBR TREOR
£ REBDMEELRY AL E
[ £ HARR

BERE
ZEARENE—RAENX - M
OB E RIS LR RS B HE A -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BEHRRMEE

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
E LT U= A= —HIFFEE

5. REVENUE (contq)
Performance obligations (Contd)
Property engineering services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services are rendered
and payment is generally due within 30 days from the date of billing. A
certain percentage of payment is retained by customers until the end of
the retention period as the Group's entitlement to the final payment is

conditional on the satisfaction of the service quality by the customers over a

certain period as stipulated in the contracts.

The transaction prices allocated to the remaining performance obligations

(unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) of property engineering services as at the

end of each reporting period are as follows:

W2z )

BHEFE )

YETERE
ZEHNE TR IRESIER BN —E
REfEER - MRBEEERZEHER
SP30KRE|EIEN - BREFEREBET
Ao NREZREHRER 1)
A #IRT B A & B U ER R B+ 3¢
RIBE R BURN B E RS E R — BB
BNEREEERTME °

REREHR D EEMETER
B TEAORECRERE D RE
ROMR ZERIMT

2024 2023
—EEF —E-=

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT | AREFE

Amounts expected to be recognised as revenue: JEFTHER BRI ¢

Within | year —FR 36,709 27,052

| to 2 years —EWE 13,040 7310
49,749 34,362

Club house services, including catering and ancillary services EFrIRE (B1EEMRIERE)

The performance obligation is satisfied at a point in time when food,
beverages and other services are delivered to or rendered to the customer
and payment is generally due within 30 days from delivery. There is no

unsatisfied performance obligation for club house services, including catering

and ancillary services, at the end of each reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE (contq)

Performance obligations (Contd)

Charging pile services

The performance obligation is satisfied at a point in time and payments are
generally paid in advance. For charging pile services, the Group recognises
revenue based on the amount actually consumed by customers. The
Group has elected the practical expedient of not disclosing the remaining
performance obligations for charging pile services. The majority of the

charging pile service contracts do not have a fixed term.

Online group-buying services

The performance obligation is satisfied at a point in time and payments
are generally due when the services are rendered. For online group-
buying services, they are rendered in a short period of time and there is no

unsatisfied performance obligation at the end of each reporting period.

Intermediary services, including real estate leasing and selling
intermediaries service, and renovation intermediaries service

The performance obligation is satisfied at a point in time and payments
are generally due when the services are rendered. For intermediary
services (including real estate leasing and selling intermediaries service, and
renovation intermediaries service), they are rendered in a short period of
time and there is no unsatisfied performance obligation at the end of each

reporting period.

A B IFIRARIEE

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE_ZT_mEf—A=1+—HIFFE

W2z )

BHEFE )

T EBRE
ZBAOBEAE—EREER B —
BERAISZNA - MAEBEREM
5 ALERBEREFEREENS
BERNEG c AEEDEELTR
EABHEREHRTRERAETNER
AIITHEE A - REHFTEBERS
& #N B EHARR o

AR BB R

ZEARERE —REHEREN
RN B R R 2] - s
BEREME  ZRFHNEHE
o RREREMRLERBEOE
(Ea

HIRE (BIEEHEHEREEF
TTERFE U R EAEH I AR )
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FBE R RGERER D RS -
PN RS (BEEHERERHE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BEHRRMEE

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
HE—T-mF+—_A=+—HIEFE

7.

152

OTHER INCOME, OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES, 6. H{tiUg A - Bk 3s R E5i8

NET R
2024 2023
—EEF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETTT
Other income Hithdg A
Government grant (Note) BT Bh (P 5E) 77 5946
Interest income FEMA 176 784
Sundry income HMIEWA 177 -
Other gains and losses, net Hitts R Eia358
Foreign exchange differences, net ME AR HER 3) (1,023)
427 5,707
Note: Government grants relate to income that are received or receivable as MizE © BNEBEEAD EAF S
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose B EREEBERKE AR
of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future related IR T S AN B E 45 T BN B 765
costs. These government grants are recognised in profit or loss in the period YiEme Wk EKRN I A B -
in which they become receivable. In the opinion of the management of the ZERTHEB EWE AL ER
Group, there were no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these BRBEER NEEEEER
grants. R BEEZSHIERRE
ERIRIT R B EE
FINANCE COSTS 7. BFEERAN

Interest expense on lease liabilities (Note 16) HEAENF S (FEE6)

2024 2023
—FmF

RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®STR | ARSI

107 120
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRRMEE

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE_ZT_mEf—A=1+—HIFFE

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 8. BRFiATEF

2024 2023
—F-mEF —T-=F

RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ETT ARETIT

This is stated after charging: KR TFIBERZZY -

Staff costs, including directors’ remuneration ETRA(BIEEELM)

Salaries, allowances and other short-term Fe  RUMNHMEEESREN
employee benefits 76,472 57,537
Contributions to defined contribution plans ATEHITGHEIHER 8,639 5714
85,111 63,251
Other items HitEH
Auditor's remuneration BRI 2 B
— audit services — RS 920 800
— non-audit services — IR BURTS 80 300
Cost of services provided (Note) PR AR IS A A (BT 5E) 251,922 261,724
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ~ #12£ 5= MEREITE (BT A
(included in “Cost of services” and [ PRAGAA ] K[ 1T R RS ] -
“Administrative expenses”, as appropriate) fisii@ AR ) (BEE15)
(Note 15) 2,033 1189
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (included e A& ETTE GEAT R
in “Cost of services” and "'Administrative NITBAXZ] - WiEa)
expenses’, as appropriate) (Note |6) (MFzE16) 345 345
Impairment losses on financial and contract assets <& @k & & 4 & EREE B 5,772 1,342
Research and development expenses (included in #iZ4& A (GT AT TTHAEX 1)
“Administrative expenses') 2,429 4,252
Note: Cost of services provided included approximately RMB60,352,000 (2023: st : FTIRtIRGSKABRIEEBE T
RMB44,837,000) relating to aggregate amount of certain staff costs and BIRARMEABBHOARE
depreciation, including which were included in the respective amounts as 60352000 (ZE==F : AR
disclosed above. #44,8370007T) * EHEFTAL
MR ERE R IR R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BEHRRMEE

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
HE—T-mF+—_A=+—HIEFE

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive's remuneration for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of

Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

9. EERESITHASHM

BRI EmRA - FECREEDIDSE
383(N(@) * (b) * (@) KN IERLAF]
(BRBEEFEER) RO 2505
BENEERESTHRABRAFE
HE BT -

2024 2023
o1 £ —T==
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFT AR¥ETT
Fee we 360 360
Salaries, allowances and other short-term e RMNHEMEEESREN
employee benefits 459 527
Contributions to defined contribution plans FE BT SR 27 27
846 914
(a) Independent non-executive directors (@) BIAFMITES
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during the year NEE LN FBT I TES
were as follows: BHEINT
2024 2023
—ETMEF —T—=
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARBFTT
Mr. Feng Zhidong IBER A 120 120
Mr. Zhou Sheng ABEE 120 120
Mr. Xu Chun wERE 120 120
360 360

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent
non-executive directors during the year (2023: Nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRRMEE

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE_ZT_mEf—A=1+—HIFFE

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 9. EERESTHABEM

REMUNERATION (contq) (#)
(b) Executive director and non-executive (b) BITESRHEMTES
directors

Salaries,

allowances
and other Contributions
short-term to defined

employee contribution

benefits plans
e #28
R E{th 52 HA
EEEF
RMB’000
ARETR

SRIEHK

TN b

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT AR¥®TR

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—_Z_NF+_—A

=t+—HIEFE
Executive directors WITES
Mr. Qiu Ming (Note ii and iii) F A5 4 (M Fii Kiii) 459 27 486
Non-executive directors EHITES
Ms. Zhang Huiqi REIH A+ - - -
Mr. Wang Jinhu TEiREE = - -
Mr. Liu Zhengiang 2|08 4 - - -
459 27 486
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BEHRRMEE

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE—_Z_mFE+_A=1—HIFE

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 9. EERESTHABEM

REMUNERATION (contq) (#)
(b) Executive director and non-executive b) BITESRIMITES
directors (Contd) (&)

Salaries,
allowances
and other  Contributions

short-term to defined

employee contribution

benefits plans
e 2Rh
Ko E A 32 BR SEHFK
REEA IR et
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETRT ARBTRT
Year ended 3| December 2023 BT - =F+—HA
=t—HIEFEE
Executive directors WITES
Mr. Qiu Ming (Note i and i) F A % A (B i Kiii) 404 18 422
Mr. Zhu Jie (Note i and iii) RS A (B i Kiii) 123 9 132
527 27 554
Non-executive directors FHITES
Ms. Zhang Huigi SREBHE L - - -
Mr. Wang Jinhu FeEEE - - -
Mr. Liu Zhengiang D fRoR S A _ _ _
527 27 554
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

REMUNERATION (contq)
(b) Executive director and non-executive
directors (Contd)

Notes:

0]

(i)

(ii)

Mr. Zhu Jie was a chief executive officer of the Company. He also
served as chief executive officer in Xingye IOT Management. His
remuneration disclosed above included the remuneration for the

services rendered by him as the chief executive officer.

Mr. Qiu Ming is a chief executive officer of the Company. He also
serves as chief executive officer in Xingye IOT Management. His
remuneration disclosed above included the remuneration for the

services rendered by him as the chief executive officer.

On 28 April 2023, Mr. Zhu Jie resigned as an executive director, the
chairman and chief executive officer of the Company while Mr. Qiu
Ming was appointed as an executive director, the chairman and chief
executive officer of the Company to replace Mr. Zhu Jie on the same
date.

None of the Directors waived any emoluments in the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to

waive any remuneration for the years ended 3| December 2024 and 2023.

In addition, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors as

an inducement to join, or upon joining the Group or as a compensation for
loss of office for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

9. EERE

FE I RRME
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE-F_MF+_A=+—HILFE

=EITEA B &M

(4)

b) BITEERFHTES
(#)
P&

()  EREEGARERRRITHE
oo BB INEFEEYEE
HRITHRAR - EXFTEE
Z BRI S BRIEE S BT
BERHOREONE

iy FEHILERBRRRITHE
H o BIMEEEEYBER
BITTERAER o EXFRHERE 2
BRI & B IR & RITAR
MRS -

iy RZZE-_=ZFMWA=-+AN

B RANFEEBERRTH

TESR - TRBITHAR -

H - ZREEEZIRE

NAPITES - EERITH
BEARBRASLE

BE_Z_NFR-_Z_=F+_
A=1+—BLLHFE  HMEEENE
(E=CIEAT I

BE_Z_NFR-_FT_=F1+=
A=1t—HIL%E *E%?ﬁii%b’ﬂ(%
2[R B E A H M -
S BEZE_MER-T __E
TZA=T—BLLFE  X&EEH
BEREAESENEAME - ER
B INASINAA SR B IR H) 825 K
1ERBERLFRIE -

FH2024 | EEYBRFEEERAR 157



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eI IS ERRMIRE

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

BT -puFE+=—H=+—HILFEZ

10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

158

The five highest paid employees during the year included one (2023: one)
director, whose remunerations are set out in Note 9 to the consolidated
financial statements. Details of the remunerations of the remaining four

(2023: four) non-director, highest paid employees for the years are as

10. AR &= FHEHES

FR- IERSFHEERE—%
(ZF==F: —R)EZF - HFM
HNEAPHHRERME - FR - B
BTN (ZT=F : mW&)F

follows: BEENRTMESHFENT
2024 2023
—EFNE e S
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBFT

Salaries, allowances and other short-term e RMRHEMEEESREN

employee benefits 1,088 1,082
Contributions to defined contribution plans REHFETEIHR 136 7z
1,224 [,199

The number of these non-director, highest paid employees whose

remunerations fell within the following bands:

FHNFUATHENZEIFESTR
= RS AR

Number of employees

EEAR

Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 E 21,000,000 7T

During the years ended 3| December 2024 and 2023, no emolument
was paid by the Group to the any of the four highest paid non-director
individuals as an inducement to join, or upon joining the Group, or as a
compensation for loss of office. There was no arrangement under which
any of the five highest paid employees waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration for the years ended 3| December 2024 and 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TAXATION

A B IFIRARIEE

YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2024
HE—F-MF+=—A=1—HILFE

11, BB

2024 2023
—FCWEF

T -=F
RMB'000
ARET T

RMB’000
ARETT

Current tax BNEAF I8
PRC Enterprise Income Tax A D EEPTISH 16,845 | 6,655
Deferred tax EERIE
Origination and reversal of temporary differences &= 4= I B O &5 Z= 58 (M aE17)
(Note 17) (929) 39
15,916 16,694

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profits arising in or
derived from the jurisdictions in which members of the Group are domiciled

and operate.

Hong Kong Profits Tax at the rate of 16.5% has not been provided as the
Group entities' had no assessable profits arising from Hong Kong for the
years ended 3| December 2024 and 2023.

The Group's entities established in the Cayman Islands and the BVI are

exempted from the payment of income tax of the respective jurisdictions.

KEI/AWE$E.}3X§\/_\ Eaiinnd

M & E B R AERTEE
ﬁ%ﬁiﬂ’\]xﬁﬂ&;ﬁ HELINFT1S
o

HAAEEERRNBE_T_MF
R—ZF-_=Ff+-R=1+—HL*F
B ERNBBELRRTUEN - 8
W HIZ 1 6.5% KL BB MG VAT IR
B e

KSR MR LB SR

AEBERERCBMNAERIER
KPS -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE IS ERRM AR
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

E LT U= A= —HIFFEE

1. TAXATION (Contq) . B )
Pursuant to the Enterprise Income Tax Law of the PRC and the respective BB BEPEMEREY R E IR
regulations, except for, as defined in Note 14 to the consolidated financial HE - RIEER - B ie 1 EY)
statements, Anyang Yuexing Property Management Co., Ltd.* (“Anyang 2EBEAEEATI([ZEBNE]) - 5
Yuexing”), Nanyang Jinfu Property Management Co., Ltd.* Henan e REEEESELNT  JAEIE
Zhengshang Jinyuan Hotel Management Co., Ltd.* (“Zhengshang Jinyuan™) BeshEEBAaE AR ([ EES
and Henan Zhengshang Xingyuan Hotel Management Co., Ltd.* (2023: 4 ) R EIF g E s JE B IE AR
Henan Zhengshang Haoshenghuo Service Co., Ltd.*, Anyang Yuexing Nl (EEBEESHIEHREKNFTI4)
and Zhengshang Jinyuan) which enjoyed a preferential enterprise tax rate —E-=F I EIEEFEERG
of 5% and Henan Wuxiang Intelligent Technology Co., Ltd.* (*Wuxiang EEREAT BN EEIFES %)
Intelligent”) (2023: Wuxiang Intelligent) which enjoyed a preferential tax ZEEEMEMER Y NEYIRE
rate of 15% as High and New Technology Enterprise during the reporting BERIHER AT (MR (=F
period, the subsidiaries which operate in the PRC are subject to enterprise T=F YR E) AT
income tax at a rate of 25% on the taxable income. ZEBEBR|I5%IN - EREKLEH

B I8~ B) B 4% B RR TR A 259 51 4
EMBH -

* For identification purpose only.
Reconciliation of income tax expense RSB ¥R
2024 2023
—EEF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARBFT
Profit before tax Nzl 60,983 56,875
Income tax at tax rate of 25% 1R259% T R Gt B AT 15,245 14,219
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries REAMENEERLE CHBAR]
operating in other jurisdictions TRBE & 251 1214
Non-deductible expenses AR HOR R S 729 171
Tax exempt revenue RHWER (102) ©)
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses BN i@ KRR IBE R (425) -
Unrecognised tax losses RIERBIBEE 798 1,698
Effect of super deduction of research and HEEABEIIRNTE
development expense (580) (602)
Income tax expense for the year FAMERAX 15,916 16,694
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12. DIVIDENDS

The board of directors does not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount is based on the
profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent, and
the weighted average number of ordinary shares of 400,000,000 (2023:
400,000,000) in issue during the year ended 31 December 2024.

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue during the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

The calculation of basic eamings per share is based on:

A B IFIRARIEE

YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2024
HE—F-MF+=—A=1—HILFE

12. IR 2
EEETRERHAE T -MER
—E-=E+-A=+—HIEFE
ERTREIRR S, o

13. BIREF
BREARFSENRES QR
AR = %E/\E{Eﬁmdmﬂu
KBEZZT-_NF+=ZA=+—
HIEFED#ETE @R METF
9 #1400,000000f% (= F = = F :
400,000,000/ ) 5+&

HE-Z-_NFR-_FT-=F+=
A=+—HLFE " Z?»"*@IE%E
BITRBEEEL R

BREAXBNWEER

2024 2023
—EEF =

RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR | ARSI

Earnings &7

Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of ~ FTESMERZF|FFEHA
the parent used in the basic earnings per share AR E@ERERSIFE A

calculation FE(R ST 45,053 40,173
Number of shares
R8I E
Shares &ia

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in 51 & &A% B A4S 2 1B {55 A3 49
issue during the year used in the basic earnings A 317 & AR INHE 2

per share calculation

400,000,000 400,000,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
HE—T-mF+—_A=+—HIEFE

14. SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

14. B QS
s R I B 2 RSB 5

162

Name of the subsidiaries

Place and date of
incorporation/
establishment

BT R

Particulars of issued
and paid-up capital/
registered capital

BROTRMERS,/

e

Effective ownership
interests held by
the Company

ARARHAEN

BRA D

2024 2023

Principal activities/
place of operation

WELARER R R A HMERERE —2-RE ST 8 GBS
Directly held by the Company
ALATFHERA
Siu Wing Holdings Limited BVI, Ordinary shares, 100% 100%  Investment holding/BVI
7 January 2019 United States Dollars
("US$") 50,000
FAMERBR A RERKAES - ERARS00005 T RERR/
“E-NF-AtR EvM) RERLES
Indirectly held by the Company
FRAARERE
Xingye IOT Company Limited Hong Kong, Ordinary shares, 100% 100%  Investment holding/
I Apnil 2019 HK$10,000 Hong Kong
ARYBERLR & LR 100007 RARk/B%
“T-NENAT-R
Zhaoxiang IOT Company Limited Hong Kong, Ordinary shares, 100% 100%  Investment holding/
30 June 2023 HK$10,000 Hong Kong
KB ERLR BB L3RR 1000087 RARR/EA
“BZ=FRA=TH
Henan Xingye Internet of Things Management The PRC, Registered capital 100% 100%  Property management/
Technology Co, Ltd* 20 October 1999 RMB100,000,000 the PRC
AR REENRARAT Paid-up capital
(“Xingye IOT Management”)” RMB100,000,000
MEERYHREERRARAR) RE AR MEER
(TEEMEEE ) —“NANETAZTE AR¥100,0000007T
BRRA
AKH100,0000007C
Henan Wuxiang Intelligent Technology Co,, The PRC, Registered capital 100% 100%  Property engineering/
Ld* AR E R BR AT 9 August 2017 RMB20,000,000 the PRC
("Wuxiang Intelligent")* Paid-up capital
RMB20,000,000
NS E R RERAR E AR NEIR/HE
(MzEeel)r “E-EENAAE ARK00000007
BB
AE#20,000,0007T

XINGYE WULIAN SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD.
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14. SUBSIDIARIES (contq)

Name of the subsidiaries

WBARER

Indirectly held by the Company (Contd)

FRARMEREE

Henan Zhengshang Haoshenghuo Service
Co, Ltd* AR EEFEERBBRAF]
(Zhengshang Haoshenghuo")*

AR EAFEEREERAT
(TERFEE D)

Henan Xingzheng Hotel Management Co, Ltd*
MEREEEERARAA

EEEEEERARAG

Henan Kangnuan Yuenian Elderly Care Service
Co, Ltd* WRBIR R F AL R
ARARA!

AERERFRERBARLA

Henan Kangnuan Yueju Elderly Care Service
Co, Lid* ARER M ERE RS
ARAE

RN EREREERAF

Hebi Zhengxiang Property Management
Co, Ltd* BEMEFNEERERAF

BETLHENEEEERRA)N

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A IS ERRMIRE

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
HE—ZT-NF+—_A=+—HIFE

Place and date of
incorporation/
establishment

REMERSL AL
R A

The PRC, 20 April 2018

E
“E-\FMA=1+H

The PRC, 9 July 2020

HE
“E-EF-ANAB

The PRC, 26 May 2022

B
“ECCERRT1AE

The PRC, 27 May 2022

PE -

The PRC, I August 2022

g
“E--FN\A+-H

14.

Particulars of issued
and paid-up capital/
registered capital
BRTRMERE,
i MEARER

Registered capital
RMB10,000,000
Paid-up capital

A A
AR 10,0000007T
A

Registered capital
RMB10,000,000
Paid-up capital

sk
ARE10,000,0007T
SRRE

Registered capital
RMB1,000,000
Paid-up capital

SREK
AR | 000,0007T
HREA

Registered capital
RMB1,000,000
Paid-up capital

A A
AR 000,0007T
R

Registered capital
RMBI,000,000
Paid-up capital

sk

AR 10000007
BB

BT =)

Effective ownership
interests held by
the Company
ARAREN
ERR R
2024 2023

“ECME S8

100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%

Principal activities/
place of operation

IRER/
Ly

Intermediary leasing
services/the PRC

PNEERYE/
hE

Hotel and catering
operations/the PRC

BELREREE/
RE

Elderly care/the PRC

Bl PHE

Elderly care/the PRC

BERG/TE

Property management/

the PRC

MEEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE IS ERRM AR

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

HE—T-mF+—_A=+—HIEFE

14. SUBSIDIARIES (contq) 14. B AT )

164

Name of the subsidiaries

WEAAEH

Indirectly held by the Company (Contd)

Place and date of
incorporation/
establishment

S L
2R A

Particulars of issued
and paid-up capital/
registered capital
ERTRBERAE
i MERRE

Effective ownership
interests held by
the Company
ARAREN
ERRERD
2024 2023

“ECME S8

Principal activities/
place of operation

TEEE/
B

FRARERE ()
Anyang Yuexing Property Management Co, The PRC, 14 April 2022 Registered capital 55% 55%  Property management/
Ltd* ZHREN X ERBRAA] RMB500,000 the PRC
("Anyang Yuexing")@ Paid-up capital
ZHRENZEREARAR E AR YEER /hE
([RF5HE])e “E-ERATEA AR#5000007T
BRRAR
Nanyang Jinfu Property Management Co, Ltd* The PRC, 25 May 2022 Registered capital - 51%  Property management/
HEeRNEERARAT RMBI,000,000 (Note I) the PRC
(“Nanyang Jinfu")@ Paid-up capital
HEEEYEERARAA hE AR N NEER/PHE
([MkBeE])e “E-FRACTRA ARE10000007T (KRN
BB
Henan Zheng Zhi Yue Real Estate Co, Ltd* The PRC, 30 March 2018 Registered capital 100% 100%  Property development/
AEEZREZRRAF RMBI00,000,000 (Note33)  the PRC
("Zheng Zhi Yue")* Paid-up capital
RMB100,000,000
AEEZHEFBRAT e AR 100% WERE/DE
(TEz) “E-\FZAZTE AREI000000007T (Fit5E33)
0N
AE#1000000007C
Henan Zhengshang Jinyuan Hotel Management  The PRC, 20 September 2023 Registered capital 100% 100%  Hotel and catering
Co, Ltd* RS A BEEEERAR RMBI,000,000 operations/the PRC
("Zhengshang Jinyuan)* Paid-up capital
MEEASHBEERERAR hE - EMER BEREREE/
(EAE&)) “E-ZFAACTR ARH10000007C E
BRRA
Henan Zhengshang Xingyuan Hotel Management ~ The PRC, 29 December 2023 Registered capital 100% 100%  Hotel and catering
Co, Lta* WA FAELKBEERERAR RMBI,000,000 operations/the PRC
("Henan Zhengshang Xingyuan”)# Paid-up capital
MR EARGEEERERAR R - AR BEREREE/
(TIAEAEE ] “ECZFET-AZTAR AR1,0000007C FE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRRMEE

YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2024

14. SUBSIDIARIES (contq)

Place and date of

incorporation/
Name of the subsidiaries establishment
30T AV AT
WEARAR AR B
Indirectly held by the Company (Contd)
FRAMERE£)

Henan Chibin Property Management Co,, Ltd*
AEEENFEERRARY

The PRC, 15 January 2024

AEEENEERBROA)N hE -

—E-M&-A+EH

Henan Xing Zhi Yuan Property Management
Co, Lid* MR ZENMXERRRAA

The PRC, 16 January 2024

MR ENEERERAR) hE

“E-UE—-A+5<H

Xiangcheng Zhengjia Property Services Co, Ltd*
BH M LENFREERA A

The PRC, 24 January 2024

BRMEENFREARLAR wE

“E-mFE-A=+WA

Henan Zhengdun Security Service Co,, Ltd* The PRC, 20 December 2024

AELERZREERLF)

AEEERTREBRAA hE -

“E-MF+-A=+H

14. iIB 28] &)

Particulars of issued
and paid-up capital/
registered capital
ERTRBERAE
i MERRE

Registered capital
RMB1,000,000
Paid-up capital

SREK
AR 000,0007T
HREA

Registered capital
RMBI,000,000
Paid-up capital

Sak
AR 1 000,0007T
HRBEK

Registered capital
RMBI,000,000
Paid-up capital

sfhak
AR 0000007
SRRE

Registered capital
RMB1,000,000
Paid-up capital

SREK
AR 000,0007T
HREA

Effective ownership
interests held by
the Company
ARAREN
ERRERD
2024 2023

“ECME S8

100% -

100% -

51% -

100% -

BE_ZT_mEf—A=1+—HIFFE

Principal activities/
place of operation

TEEE/
B

Property management/
the PRC

WEEE /hE

Property management/
the PRC

YEEE /hE

Property management/
the PRC

EERE /hE

Property management
and security/the
PRC

NEEBRRR/
RE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
E LT U= A= —HIFFEE

14. SUBSIDIARIES (contq) 14. B AT )

Effective ownership
interests held by
the Company

ARAREN

Place and date of Particulars of issued

incorporation/ and paid-up capital/ RRARRED Principal activities/

Name of the subsidiaries establishment registered capital 2024 2023° 1 place of operation
BAY/ A ERARUERE/ LB,
WEATRE R A AMEREE —F-RFE SR8 RS
Indirectly held by the Company (Contd)
FRAMEREE)
Nanyang Zhenrui Property Management The PRC, 9 December 2024 Registered capital 100% —  Property management/
Co, Ltd* B EIRMEERER AR RMBI,000,000 the PRC
Paid-up capital
AR EERERAR) hE -  HRER YEER /hE
“E-RETZANR AR 1,00000070
BRRAR
* English name is for identification purpose only. * B BTBEHMR o
# Wholly owned enterprise with limited liability established in the PRC # B 2 BREEBEE R
e Non-wholly owned enterprise with limited liability established in the PRC @ REABIKILZ BRETIFBED
ES
Wholly foreign owned enterprise with limited liability established in the PRC ) RPBERZZ ERETBERE
Note I: The Company was deregistered during the year ended 31 December 2024. MRl R ARNEE—T_MNF+ A
S+—BIEREHER -
None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of the BMEMB AT RMERAREITEM
reporting period. BERES °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A IS ERRMIRE

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

HE—ZT-NF+—_A=+—HIFE

5. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT I5. 2% - BENKRE

Electronic
equipment  Construction

Machinery and others in progress Total
oz
EFR

s R E At ERIE ELh
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TRE AR®Tz AR®Tz AR%®Tx

Cost 2%
As at | January 2023 RZZEZ=%—H—H 3192 4309 - 7,501
Additions NE 5,842 49 - 5891
Additions arising from acquisition of WE—ZRNBRAREEZ
a subsidiary (Note 33) AE (PHEE33) 72 - 180,159 180,231
As at 31 December 2023 and RZZE-=%F+_A
at | January 2024 ST-ARZTo@mF
—HA—R 9,106 4,358 180,159 193,623
Additions NE 1,760 44 17,136 18,940
As at 31 December 2024 R=B-MmF+ZA
=+—-H 10,866 4,402 197,295 212,563
Accumulated depreciation REiE
At | January 2023 RW_EZ=F—-H—H 387 3511 - 3,898
Depreciation charged nEER 896 293 - 1,189
As at 31 December 2023 and RZZE-=F+=A
at | January 2024 =+—Hk
—T-NFE-A—H 1,283 3,804 - 5,087
Depreciation charged nEER 1,839 194 - 2,033
As at 31 December 2024 R=2-MmF+ZA
=+-H 3,122 3,998 - 7,120
Net carrying amount IREFE
As at 3| December 2024 R-ZB-MF+ZA
=+—H 7,744 404 197,295 205,443
As at 31 December 2023 RZZE-=F+_A
=+—H 7823 554 180,159 188,536
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
(E_EUF+ = A=+—HIFFE

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES 6. FRHESEREEAE

Right-of-use assets FEREEE
Buildings
B¥
RMB’000
AR®TR
Reconciliation of carrying amount — year ended FHEHR-BHE_T_=F
31 December 2023 F+ZRA=+—RHLFE
As at | January 2023 RZEZ=F—H—H 2,484
Depreciation charged HEER (345)
As at 31 December 2023 R-E-_=F+=-"A=+—H 2,139
Reconciliation of carrying amount — year ended REEHR-8FE_—FT_F
31 December 2024 +=A=+—HLFE
As at | January 2024 KT F—A—H 2,139
Depreciation charged HEER (345)
As at 31 December 2024 R-2-NF+-A=+—8H 1,794
As at 31 December 2023 RZEBE-_=F+-"A=+—H
Cost [B#N 2,839
Accumulated depreciation e (700)
Net carrying amount R FE 2,139
As at 31 December 2024 R=FBZ-NME+=-A=+—H
Cost D% 2,839
Accumulated depreciation 2 E (1,045)
Net carrying amount ERENR{E 1,794
The above right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over RS EIRE G EERNEY
the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term. HAFEREHEAE(URESE A

) PEHESTE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A EERRMEE

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

HE_T_FE+ —_H="+—HIFFEZ

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES o9 16, ERREEREEEE »

Right-of-use assets (Contd) FRAEEE &)

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group leases HE T WNWER T -_=F+—
various buildings for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into for A=+—HIFE  XAEFEHEES
fixed term of 8 to 10 years, the Group is restricted from assigning and BEFURARELE - HESLHH
subleasing the leased assets outside the Group, and there is no lease ETFHR A8E I0F - AEEWR
contract that includes extension and termination options and variable lease HIANARER I 2 N EFAAEE
payments. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain E - WAVWESIEER LK EE
different terms and conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing LRASHEENTMBEESY -
the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of RS EREERTARSRE
a contract and determines the period for which the contract is enforceable. TRMER K& - REEHE R

EAATHE AN RER - A kE
ERAHNEELEEAS LA RS
MITHOHIMA] o

Lease liabilities HEARE
2024 2023
o1 £ 5
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ETT ARETTT
Lease liabilities payable: EREEEE :
Within one year —FR 343 1,107
Within a period more than one year but not FRIE—F MR E
exceeding two years 361 343
Within a period more than two years but not 8 38 M HE TN R AR L
exceeding five years 1,116 1,139
Exceeding five years HBARE 118 456
1,938 3,045
Less: Amount due for settlement within twelve & © 121& B AEIEA&E R FIE
months shown under current liabilities (RREBAETIIR)
(343) (1,107)
1,595 1,938
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BEHRRMEE

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
HE—T-mF+—_A=+—HIEFE

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES (contq)
Lease liabilities (Contd)
During the year ended 3| December 2024 and 2023, the Group did not
enter into any lease contracts of buildings with a related party. Included
in the lease liabilities were amounts due to related parties after the debt
transfer (Note 30) of RMB1,938,000 as at 31 December 2024 (2023:
RMB3,045,000).

The Group has recognised the following amounts for the year:

l6. EREEERHEESR #

HEAE»)
HE-_Z-_NFR-_T-_=F+=
A=+—RHLLFE  AEEHER
BRI L EREFHEHESLN - »
—E-_MFE+-—A=+—8" A&
BEREENEREEMNEE X
TE (M5E30) AR 1,938,0007T (=&
—=F : AR¥3,0450007T) °

FR - AEBECDHERNSHOT

2024 2023

—E-EF —ECo=4F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®ETT ARETT

Interest expense on lease liabilities HEBBENFERX 107 120
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEENE 345 345
Total amount recognised in profit or loss RIBRER A 4A%E 452 465
Total cash outflow for leases MERESMHEE = -

As at 31 December 2024, the weighted average effective interest rate for
the lease liabilities of the Group was 5.00% per annum (2023: 5.00%).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A IS ERRMIRE

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

HE—ZT-NF+—_A=+—HIFE

|7. DEFERRED TAX 17, EAERLIE
The movement for the year in the Group's deferred tax assets (liabilities) AEBELEKREBELEE(AB)NER
was as follows: SEIT -

Impairment Withholding
losses Accruals taxes Total
MERE &R FAMH Mt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®STR AR%®TR ARESTR AR%®TR
As at | January 2023 RZE-=F
—HA—H 295 1,005 (590) 710
Credited (Charged) to AR EB)BR
profit or loss (Note | 1) (BFRE11) 234 (273) - (39)

As at 3| December 2023 and R_ZTE-=%F

| January 2024 +=—A=+—Ak
—TomE
—HA—H 529 732 (590) 671
Credited (Charged) to profit &1 A (F0BR 8 ) 1B
or loss (Note |1) (BEzEI1) 978 (49) — 929

As at 31 December 2024 WRZ-ZFZ-NF+=H

=+—H 1,507 683 (590) 1,600
2024 2023
—EMF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT AREETTT
Deferred tax assets FEAETRIEEE 2,190 1,261
Deferred tax liabilities EERIHA & (590) (590)
1,600 671
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BEHRRMEE

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE—F_NF+=—A=1T—HIFE

17. DEFERRED TAX (contq)

172

Unrecognised deferred tax assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses of
RMB975,000 (2023: RMB975,000) arising in Hong Kong available for offset
against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect

of the tax losses due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.

Except for the tax losses arising in the PRC, remaining tax losses are carried
forward indefinitely. At the end of the reporting period, the Group has
the following tax losses arising in the PRC that can be offset against future
taxable profits of the respective subsidiaries for a maximum of five years

from the year in which the tax loss was incurred:

17. SEEERRIE 42)

RERHIRERIEEE

RBEBR  AEEBREERBE
A H) R E) AT IEE 18 A R #975,000
T(ZZE=Z=F : AR ¥975000
7T) - AR AOE R o ERLE
BN IEEBEREERIEEE )
R AR SR A7 S T FEORIME PR B

HEETBEELENHRABERIN - &
MIBEE R ERREE - NS
IR AREREETEELERAR
3K 2 B 2 B B R 2R B R B A
ML NRIEER - BHBELTIA
BRZFEEARZHE -

2024 2023
—EEF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT ARETTT

Year of expiry FIHAF
2027 B F = 631
2028 —E-NF 8,449 9519
2029 —E-hEF 3,188 -
11,637 10,150

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 0% withholding
tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the foreign
investment enterprises established in the PRC. The requirement is effective
from | January 2008 and applies to eamnings after | January 2008. A lower
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between China
and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group, the applicable
rate is 10%. The Group is therefore liable to withholding taxes on dividends
distributed by those subsidiaries established in the PRC in respect of

eamings generated from | January 2008.
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17.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DEFERRED TAX (contq)

Unrecognised deferred tax assets (Contd)

The board of directors distributed certain dividends to overseas holding
companies from the distributable profit eamed by Xingye IOT Management
in Mainland China from | January 2020 to 31 December 2020. Therefore,
the Group is liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by Xingye
IOT Management established in Mainland China in respect of eamings from
| January 2020 to 31 December 2020 and a deferred tax liability amounting
to RMB590,000 was recognised regarding the withholding taxes as at 31
December 2020.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, no additional deferred tax liability
has been recognised for withholding taxes that would be payable on the
unremitted earmings in 2024 that are subject to withholding taxes of the
Group's subsidiaries in the PRC. In the opinion of the directors, it is not
probable that these subsidiaries will distribute such unremitted earnings for
the year ended 31 December 2024 and unremitted earnings accumulated

since | January 2008 in the future.

The aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with the
investment in the subsidiary in the PRC for which deferred tax liabilities
have not been recognised totalled approximately RMB239,407,000 as at
31 December 2024 (2023: RMB233,262,000). There are no income tax
consequences attaching to the payment of dividends by the Company to its

shareholders.

. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

Properties under development are all situated in the PRC and arising from
acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 33). The Group carried out assessment
on net realisable value at the end of the reporting period and compared
the cost and its realisable value and there was no write-down to the net
realisable value of properties under development during the year ended 31
December 2024.

FE I RRME

YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2024
HE—F-MF+=—A=1—HILFE

|7. SREENTE )

RERHBERIEEE &)
ETSHEEYREEN_T -
F—A—BE=-ZE=-_FTF+=A
=+—BESRERMERIA A DB
FMEPE T BIMERAT - Bt -
7N E2 B 78 BLAE R B A HE K ST A L 2
MBEERN T -_TF—A—H
EFE_TFF+A=+—HMHA
FIFTR AR BB TEM - WHR
ZEZTFA+Z H7+—Hﬁﬁm
FAER A R 590,000 7T FY IR IE /I8
aBfE-

BE-T-mE+-A=+—A1
Ervlﬁﬁ¢%IE¢ImWﬁ

AF=F = A BTENB A
FE 1+ 0 7 8 T 801+ 0 T3 e e 2
AAENEEHEEE EER
B ZEWEAARARETAT 8
EHERBE-F-ME+= A
=+— B EE AR RELEF

RE-TT/\FE—A—BHENE
SHREBEF -

N -pUE+—_HF=+—0H - #
i R B R IR RE A TE B (& A 5O R BBt
BARIMKRE SRR EZREATE

#5 ANR#239,407,000t( — 2=
F 0 AR8233262,0007T) © ANA A
1) L A% SRR 15 2 A S0 4 B A A {)
FRISTER o

18. FAEE %

FERYEDILRTE - WER
BB AR (P33 MESE - A&
BN RS R A &R F EAETTRT
3 B R E AT IR E(E L
AR#E—FT_NF+-_A=1+—
BILFE  SENFREPYEZA
BT FEETTIOR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BEHRRMEE

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE—F_NF+=—A=1T—HIFE

18. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT (ontg 18. B YR 2
Properties under development are classified as current assets as the RN B Y EFRTEE WiEREITE
construction period of the relevant property development project is A IE B & A BAATERK - B3P
expected to be completed in the normal operating cycle. The Group is YEDHEAREEAE - NEFTEH
expected to recover properties under development after the completion of BRAYEGEAR _E_RAFEFEER
the property which is estimated to be by the end of 2025. BT EFEEERYE o
19. TRADE RECEIVABLES 19. B 5 BURTE
2024 2023
—FmEF —T-=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B aE ARETR ARETTT
Trade receivables from third parties EWE=RE HFIA 29,436 28,114
Less: Loss allowance o EERE 34(a)(ii) (914) (752)
28,522 27,362
Trade receivables from related parties e BERSE 5 F0E 30,228 74,065
Less: Loss allowance B BERE 34(a)(ii) (3,033) (1,752)
27,195 72,313
55,717 99,675
The Group’s trading terms for rendering property management, charging NREFBAHERTPRHEYMESTE &
pile services, online group-buying services and value-added services with BER - SR EERRS MIEER
its customers mainly require payment in advance. The trading terms for BEHE 5 17kk§jﬂ\jggg§i§\§5ﬁ§y\ o ¥
property engineering services, club house services, including catering and TR - @FRE(BIEZEHR
ancillary services are mainly on credit and the credit period is generally RERS NE S EFIAZRE AT -
within 30 days. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its MiERE—A30KA - NEB
outstanding receivables and to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are T 5E i R U B A E Uk 2o ’gﬁf‘ﬁif&
reviewed regularly by senior management. The Group does not hold any B RESEREKEERRE
collateral or other credit enhancements over its trade receivable balances. SR E T HM T B HR 4 B o ﬁ’i
Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing. B EgEE S EWRIEGESRER

ET‘HEE?Eﬁ R E M E IR R
cBHRPKBERRE °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

19. TRADE RECEIVABLES (contq)

At the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of the trade

receivables (net of loss allowance) by invoice date is as follows:

A B IFIRARIEE

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE_ZT_mEf—A=1+—HIFFE

19. B 5 BURIE @)

R|EHR - BHREIA(ENR

EERRE) IR B BNRED TN

T
2024 2023

—EomEF —E-=F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®ETT ARETTT

Within | year [N 39,946 52,585
| to 2 years | 224 14,111 42,863
2 to 3 years 2E3F 1,523 4,040
3 to 4 years 3E4AF 137 187
55,717 99,675

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade receivables

are as follows:

T

2024

—ENE
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTFT
At beginning of year REH] 2,504 1,263
Impairment losses, net REEIRFE 1,443 1,241
At end of year WER 3,947 2,504

Information about the Group's exposure to credit risks and loss allowance
for trade receivables is set out in Note 34(a) to the consolidated financial

statements.

ERAAEEE SRR FKEZEER
BN ERBEZENERGEAVE

HMRMTE340) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BEHRRMEE

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
E LT U= A= —HIFFEE

20. CONTRACT ASSETS

176

20. BHEBE

2024 2023
—F-mEF —T-=F

RMB’000
ARETT

RMB'000
ARETIT

Contract assets arising from provision of property Fe#t#¥123 T2 RIEFTELR

engineering services BREE 45,810 39,536
Less: Loss allowance (Note 34(a)(ii)) R ER R (M EE34(a) (i) (4,663) (334)
41,147 39,202

Contract assets are initially recognised for revenue earned from property
engineering services as the receipt of consideration is conditional on certain
milestones or successful completion of construction. Upon the milestones
or completion of construction and acceptance by the customer, the
amounts recognised as contract assets are reclassified to trade receivables.
The Group's trading terms and credit policy with customers are disclosed in
Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements. The increase in contract
assets during the reporting period was mainly because the property
engineering services have not obtained the client’s acceptance on certain
milestones or successful completion of construction. Contract assets, that
are not expected to be settled within the Group’s normal operating cycle,
are classified as current and non-current based on expected settlement

dates.

Included in contract assets were amounts due from related parties stated at
gross carrying amount of RMB45,810,000 as at 31 December 2024 (2023:
RMB39,536,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

20. CONTRACT ASSETS (contq)

The expected timing of recovery or settlement for contract assets as at 3|

December is as follows:

A B IFIRARIEE

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE_ZT_mEf—A=1+—HIFFE

20. BHNBE #)

R+ A=+—BREHEEEL
BEMNTEHBBOT

2024 2023

—ENEF —E-=F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AE®Tr ARETIT

Within one year —ER 43,621 37,763
After one year —F1& 2,189 1,773
Total contract assets BREEHRE 45810 39,536

Included in carrying amounts of contract assets as stated above is retention
money of RMB2,189,000 as at 31 December 2024 (2023: RMBI1,773,000).
The retention money is to be settled after one year at the end of each

reporting date.

Retention money is unsecured and interest-free and represented the
monies withheld by customers of contract works fully recoverable within 2
years (i.e, the warranty period) from the date of completion of respective
property engineering services in accordance with the terms specified in the
relevant contracts. Upon satisfactory completion of the whole project as
set out in the contract, the customers will issue a completion certificate.
Generally, two years after the issuance of the completion certificate, the
whole retention money of such project will be released to the Group. This
amount of retention money is included in contract assets until the end of
the warranty period as the Group's entitlement to this final payment is
conditional on completion of the warranty period. The Group is responsible,
at its own costs, for remedial works that may arise from defective works
or materials used. The warranty period serves as an assurance that the
construction services performed comply with agreed-upon specifications
and such assurance cannot be purchased separately. The Group classifies
these contract assets as current because the Group expects to realise them
in its normal operating cycle. The retention money does not have any

significant financing component for a financing benefit.

RZZEZWOF+=—A=+—H " £
MEHNEENEAERERESA
R¥2,189000T(ZZ-=4F: AR
¥&1,773,0007T) ° REE KR ERE
HiIR—FREE -

RESAEERREE  EEHOT
BEFPAHMEBHZIE - HAl R
P TI2RRIS A 2 BB (BIR
(EH) NIZRB A KIRT M IETE
ZHUE - REHFEREER AL
ARENFRTIE  FEBEY
FTLER - —RiME - TLERAE
HEHRF - BEEEHNE2IHRE
CHREAEE - ZIRESFTAS
HEE  BEEREHER  REAR
AN 62 BN 3% fx 12 T B B T AR
(EHI TR - REBEH AR
PAE) TRk AAIM AL AT 8ES| B Y
HRIEER  BRABAEEET
A o RIEHRREBEETHEER
BHEEHTENRE RZREFETATE
BEE AKEBRZSEENEED
BARDEE REASANEETEH
REFEELEBAAAMKEER - R
E& W™ s E R AEEREE M=
MEBABERD °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BEHRRMEE

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
E LT U= A= —HIFFEE

20. CONTRACT ASSETS (conrg 20. SHEE g
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of contract assets are as AXEERENEIEREESIINT
follows:

2024 2023
“EEF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ETT ARETT
At beginning of year REA) 334 233
Impairment losses, net B E 1R FEE 4,329 101
At end of year RER 4,663 334
Information about the Group's exposure to credit risks and loss allowance BRAEBEYNEEZEERR K
for contract assets is set out in Note 34(a) to the consolidated financial EEBRE C BRENERE I FHE
statements. MF5E34(a) ©
The movements (excluding those arising from increases and decreases FRRBIFR RS ERIFE 1555
both occurred within the same year) of contract assets from contracts with NERFANELEZENEE
customers within IFRS |5 during the year are as follows: 28 (TR IEER S E A EE 0 5O
VEEZEH)WT

At beginning of year REA) 39,202 23,074
Impairment loss BIEEE (4,329) (ro1)
Transferred to trade receivables EREE 5 EWIE (14,673) (24,240)
Recognition of revenue W R 20,947 40,469
At end of year WER 41,147 39,202
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

21. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
OTHER ASSETS

A B IFIRARIEE

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE_ZT_mEf—A=1+—HIFFE

21. FARRIE - HittEWRRER
Hit g =

2024 2023
—EBEF —T-o=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ETT ARETT

Analysed into current portion ST RRENE D
Prepayments TERFRIE 11,961 1,327
Deposits A 856 301
Other receivables H At EU TR IA 17,864 13,207
Value-added tax recoverable Al g e {ER 12,058 10,387
42,739 257232

The carrying amounts of financial assets included in prepayments, other
receivables and other assets approximate to their fair values. None of the
above assets is either past due or impaired. As at the end of each reporting
period, deposits and other receivables were classified within stage | and
no impairment was provided for. The financial assets included in the above
balances relate to receivables for which there was no recent history of
default.

SEATAM IR « B YR KR H
MEENTRMEERTERELQF
BMEFE o Lt & AR 8 5 IR R
B REREHR REREME
W IE SR AR 5B | P R B B AR
BRE - sTALLESRNEREE
B P ST B R A RE BV B UGRIR R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BEHRRMEE

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
E LT U= A= —HIFFEE

22. RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS AND CASH AND

180

CASH EQUIVALENTS

22. ZRB|ITERUARRERR

=EE8EY

2024 2023
—E-MF —EB-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®Tr ARETTT
Cash and bank balances B MIRTT4 S 226,132 212,271
Less: Guarantee deposits classified under W DERRRIBITESRIET
restricted bank deposits ZERTFR (2,188) (1,587)
Cash and cash equivalents B MEEHEY 223,944 210,684
Denominated in: EE
RMB AR 222,122 207,335
US$ ETT - 165
HK$ 7T 1,822 3,184
223,944 210,684

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however, under
Mainland China's Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration
of Settlement, and Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the
Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks

authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks and restricted bank deposits earn interest at floating rates
based on daily bank deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default and no expected credit

loss was expected to incur.

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents approximate to their fair

values.
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23.

24,

TRADE PAYABLES

At the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of the trade payables

by invoice date is as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A B IFIRARIEE

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE_ZT_mEf—A=1+—HIFFE

23. ESERIE
RIS - B S RN REREE
AEROBEE AT T

2024 2023
“EEF

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARBFT

Within | year —FR 21,245 51,856

Over | year —F LA E 3,057 3,103

24,302 54,959

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled in less

than three months. The carrying amounts of trade payables approximate to

their fair values.

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

BHRNFBETFEAE—RN=E
ARNES - B 5 RN FIANREE
EENHERE °

24, HitEA FRIBER BT EH

2024 2023

—F-mEF —T-=F

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBFT ARBFTT

Payroll payables ERTE 12,341 10,285
Tax payables other than income tax FERTHIE (PRISBIRR M) 12,536 13,259
Amounts due to related parties JE{S a5 k0B 12,511 14,687
Deposits ®e 13,555 13,075
Other payables H A R FIE 38,045 44,773
88,988 96,079

The amounts due to related parties were non-trade in nature, non-interest

bearing and repayable on demand. The carrying amounts of financial

liabilities included in other payables and accruals approximate to their fair

values.

FEREME T R RIEE S ME - T
AEERBIRERKEE - T ARME
MREMEERNEREENRR
EEREAHERS -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BEHRRMEE

YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2024

BE-T-_NF+=A=+—HILFE

25. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

182

25. AAE

2024 2023
—EME —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ETT ARBFT

Advances received from customers: TR EF IR
Charging pile services FEERS 2,639 2,309
Property management and value-added services ¥ 12 K7 38 {E AR 75 89,836 80315
Property engineering services E MRS 4,080 2,799
96,555 85,423

Included in contract liabilities were amounts due to related parties of
RMB4,080,000 as at 31 December 2024 (2023: RMB2,799,000). The
increase in contract liabilities during the reporting period was mainly due to
the increase in advances from customers of property management services.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, none of the contract liabilities that are
expected to be settled after more than |12 months. As permitted under
IFRS 15, the transaction price allocation to the unsatisfied contracts is not
disclosed.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, revenue recognised that
was included in the contract liability balances at the beginning of the vyear
amounted to RMB85,423,000 (2023: RMB66,853,000).

The movements (excluding those arising from increases and decreases both
occurred within the same year) of contract liabilities from contracts with
customers within [FRS |5 during the year are as follows:

R-E-_mE+-A=+—H &
AERBENENBE I RIERA
R¥E4080000c(ZE=-=F : AR
#2,799,0007T) - HEEEELNEE
EMDHEEARMEEERBENTE
W B SRIBE TSR

RZB-_NER-—FT-_=F1+-A

=t—8 #$ESOAEEENE
B12MERREE - MANBE BRI 53R

EHRERIE ISSRPTERT - WERKED
FEZFRTRAEKNNZHER -

HE—_Z-_WF+-_A=+—H1F
FE  RFEVFAGHNEELET
2 BRI E A A R 85423000
TT(ZEZ=F : AR 66,853,000
JL) °

FRARBIFR B F i S RIS 155780
ERNEEPZANELZANERE

m@J(T@?ﬂBHEVWIiﬁJD&H
PEEZEE)WT

2024 2023

—ENEF e S——

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥TT ARETTT

As at | January w—H—H 85,423 66,853
Recognised as revenue RAalzE (85,423) (66,853)
Receipt of advances UG EREA R 96,555 85,423
As at 3| December wnt+—BA=+—H 96,555 85,423
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A EERRMEE

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

HE_T_FE+ —_H="+—HIFFEZ

26. PROVISIONS 26. ¥&

Assurance-type

warranties
RIBRER
RMB’000
AR®TT

As at | January 2023 RZEZ=F—H—H 3718

Amount reversed BRIR e (174)

As at 31 December 2023 and | January 2024 E’\\_ Z_—Ft+A=t+—HBK

—E-FE—H—H 3,544
Amount reversed BRI eE (659)
As at 31 December 2024 R-F_NF+=-H=+—H 2,885

2024 2023
—EBEF —Eo=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ETT ARBTFT

Analysed into: DA
Current portion BREAER S 1,887 827
Non-current portion SEBNERER > 998 2,717
2,885 3,544

FEBEDREBEREES MG - 5
services provided during the year, based on estimation of management. It FAREPRBOIEIRRIE R R
is expected that these costs will be incurred in the next one to two years. R BHZEREERRR—ER
FRES - ARTEREBRENR
JIVER S RIHE KT KR E R A&
1S8E S (ERRERBHIRIE
H) &R -

The above provision is recognised for expected warranty claims on

Assumptions used to calculate the provision for warranties were based on
current sales levels and current information available about repairs based on

the warranty period for the services provided.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A PSRRI Y

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE T _mEf—A=+—HILFE

27. SHARE CAPITAL

27. B

Number of

shares

IR EE

000 RMB’000
TR AR®TR

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each

Authorised:
At | January 2023, 31 December 2023 and
31 December 2024

B0 75T R B

=3

EE :
RZEBE-_=F—H—H8 -
—E-=F#+_-HA=+—H

—EME+_HA
=+—H 10,000,000 89,858
Issued and fully paid: ERTEES2HEYE :
At | January 2023, 31 December 2023 and RZE_=F—H—H"
31 December 2024 —E-_=F+-A=+—H
—TNFE+A
=t—H 400,000 3,572

All the shares issued during the year rank pari passu with other shares in issue

in all respects.

28. RESERVES

(a) Share premium

RERBETHMBERNHEEMBE
BIROEME T EZFARFA -

28. &
(@) RPEE

184

The share premium of the Group represents the difference between

capital injection and the share capital paid by the shareholders.

(b) Merger reserve and capital reserve
The merger reserve and capital reserve of the Group represent those
reserves arising from the reorganisation for the purpose of listing on

the Stock Exchange.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28. RESERVES (contq)

29.

©

C)

O)

Statutory surplus reserve

In accordance with the PRC Company Law and the articles of
association of the subsidiaries established in the PRC, each of these
entities is required to appropriate 10% of its net profits after tax,
as determined under the Chinese Accounting Standards, to the
statutory surplus reserves until the reserve balance reaches 50% of its
registered capital. Subject to certain restrictions set out in the relevant
PRC regulations and in the articles of association of the entities, the
statutory surplus reserves may be used either to offset losses, or to
be converted to increase share capital provided that the balance after
such conversion is not less than 25% of the registered capital of the
Group. The reserves cannot be used for purposes other than those

for which they are created and are not distributable as cash dividends.

Exchange reserve

Exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising
from the translation of the Group’s entities that have functional
currency different from the presentation currency for consolidation.

Other reserve
Other reserve of the Group represents those reserves arising from

the share-based payment in prior years.

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group signed an agreement
with certain related parties to net off the receivables of RMB41,383,000

against the payables or amount due to related parties as set out in note

31(b).

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group signed a debt

transfer agreement with certain related parties to transfer the receivable

collection rights due from those related parties to Henan Zensun Real Estate
Co., Ltd* ORI EREmE X BR A F]) (“Zensun Real Estate”), another
related party of the Group, as such, lease liabilities of RMB433,000 were net

off with amounts due from related parties.

*

English name is for identification purpose only.

A B IFIRARIEE

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE_ZT_mEf—A=1+—HIFFE

28. it =)

(c) EERMRMHE
RIRCPE AR LM A BE)
R AR B A S HO B B 8 BV 4R
BERME  ZEFEBEAR
BB HEF B | 0%IREVEE
B - WWBREBREEET
£REF - EEREHRTEED
HE & A50%5 1 o 1868
B AR R B ARSI
Fraa TIRHEIMRE - EER
SREETAN RS RS ER
BEIARA - BEIRE EER
BEIEIORAEETMERR
25% ° BB TS REERT B
BIASNS B Rig - TS E
BRSRBEDIER -

d) EHEE
P E P IEENGE RS E R
REFNEE 2 AEBEERAR
BMETREMES 2 FTEIN
PE =% o

(e) HfithftfE
AEEEMERERSNBEFE
PABAD ST B s ©

29. ¥ BFBRERS

REE-Z-_MF+=-HA=+—H
IEFE - AEBSEET@E SRR
ek - S FEWGRIE A R 41,383,000
7T F DAFO B FE A~ 3k R A B Bt 75 BB
(FRHIEE3 1 (b)) °

REE-_ET-_=F+=-A=+—H
IEFE - NREBEEE TS %3
EREEGE  BREKZSER S
B IB RS E T A RE S
— A A TEEFNEXEAERAR
([EEmEZX]D Bt - HEAEBA
R #433,0007T B 0B FE Uk B8 B 75 5%
1A o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE—F_NF+=—A=1T—HIFE

30. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 30. BiZEHEL B EZHIR

186

FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Details of the changes in the Group’s liabilities from financing activities are as

follows:

BT

AEERELTDEECAEZEHF

Lease liabilities

HESR

RMB’000
NG i

At | January 2023 RZZE_=F—H—H 3,358
Change in financing cash flows BEIR S RE 2 & _
Non-cash transactions: HEERH

Interest expenses f 8 F';ﬂi 120

Amount settled through a debt transfer agreement BIRESEEREEEN SR (433)
At 31 December 2023 and | January 2024 _3__¢+ A=+—HxK

—T-F—-HF—H 3,045

Change in financing cash flows mERSRECE _
Non-cash transactions: FRERS

Interest expenses FEFHX 107

Amount settled through a debt transfer agreement RBAEKEENREENEHE (1,214)
At 31 December 2024 R-Z2-_NFE+=-HA=+—H 1,938
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRRMEE

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE_ZT_mEf—A=1+—HIFFE

31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(2) Related party transactions

3. AR S
(a) B AR B
B A BT RE Hfh 205 A 5t
MR SN - RAER - ANE

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in the consolidated

financial statements, the Group had the following transactions with

related parties during the year:

Notes
BRE

EEME AU TRS -

2024
—E-mE

RMB’000
ARETT

2023

—=

RMB'000
ARETT

Sales of services or products:
Property management and

value-added services rendered

HERF e EM -
FIRAEE T IR R EIE &
L E AR

to related parties (i), (i) 33,195 30,264
Property engineering services ) BB T SR Y 2 T IR RAS
rendered to related parties (i), (i) 19,754 39412
Property construction services A o IR MY E R R RS
provided by a related party (i), (i) 27,184 -
80,133 69,676

Notes:

0]

(i

The sales of services rendered to the related parties were based on

agreements mutually agreed by both parties.

The Group was engaged in the provision of property management
and value-added services and property engineering services to Ever
Diamond Group, Zensun Enterprises Group and Zensun Development
Group, while the Group engaged Zensun Development Group to

provide property construction services to the Group.

Ever Diamond Global Company Limited and Zensun Enterprises
Limited are ultimately owned as to 100% and 71.99% by a discretionary
trust established by Ms. Huang as settlor and protector as at the date
of this report. As Ms. Huang is the mother of Ms. Zhang, the non-
executive director of the Company, both Zensun Enterprises Group
and Ever Diamond Group are connected entities of Ms. Zhang.
Additionally, the Zensun Development Group are entities controlled
by Ms. Zhang.

() AT RENEERER
BT HRRENTRETT -

iy AEEEZERKEEE-
FRAEEEEREEERE
B R EE R LIS ERRT
INRMETRERYE - A5E
ZREIREREENASER
REMEERR

RAHERR - EatER
WEET ARREARIE
PREERE D HIFFEKE
RIKBRARMENEES
FR 22 & 1009 A0 71.99% B Bx
1 AREX LT AARNARGE
WITEBRL TG
It - FEEFESEENKES
B RRZTHBERE -
PEoN - IEEEREERRL
TG EEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR

YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2024

BE-T-_NF+=A=+—HILFE

31.

188

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (contq)

@

(b)

XINGYE WULIAN SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD.

Related party transactions (Contd)

The related party transactions in respect of property management
and value-added services rendered to related parties and property
engineering services rendered to related parties above also constitute
continuing connected transactions as defined in Chapter 4A of the
Listing Rules.

All of the transactions above were carried out in the normal course of
the Group’s business and on terms as agreed between the transaction
parties.

Related party balances

During the year ended 31 December 2024, Xingye IOT Management,
a subsidiary of the Company, signed a debt transfer agreement with
certain related parties to transfer the receivable collection rights to
or payable settlement obligation from certain related parties. Those
certain related parties are all controlled by Ms. Huang or Ms. Zhang.
After the completion of the transfer, Xingye IOT Management would
settle the rest of receivables or payables with certain related parties
on a net basis after offsetting.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, Xingye IOT Management,
signed a debt transfer agreement with certain related parties to
transfer the receivable collection rights due from those related parties
to Zensun Real Estate, another related party of the Group. After the
completion of the transfer, Xingye IOT Management would settle the
rest of receivables or payables with Zensun Real Estate on a net basis
after offsetting.

Details of the Group's outstanding balances of trade receivables,
contract assets, other payables, contract liabilities and lease liabilities
and amounts with related parties are disclosed in Notes 19, 20, 24, 25
and 16 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively. These
related parties are controlled by the shareholders of the Company.

The trade receivables, contract assets, other payables, contract
liabilities and lease liabilities and amounts with related parties due
from/to related parties are unsecured and interest free.

| ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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B prE R BN A LB E
BERBBRETRZZ T 2EH
TE YRR

BN 75 & ER
HE-_Z-_WF+—-_A=+—
HIEFE - ARG B A FH
XYHMREEREE TR AR
AIESE R - AU
TR R R B o T s T ARG 5 3k
BHERENRIBEERT -
ZEATHEB ST ELLTK
SRR o BEETTAK R - B
XA E RS AR IE R
B sHAETHB NGB TRE
Wiskaa & e IR o

EILtEr E@i%%% ZHEE@E@
?%%ﬁhﬁ@ﬁiﬁ%
% - ISR S A 7 e

1451 IR IR R T AR E 5

—RAE T ER B 5 o EiETK

1% - EIZEY BT IR S AP S

BRFREAEHEIEEXNG

TREMGRIR B RRIA o

AEBEE SRR 6HE
B~ ERARIEA Ai’]ﬁ@
KA E BB AN B 5 5RIRE
RBEEHRFBED RN i*/\ﬁﬁ

EEREMIEEI9 20 24~ 25 %
|6 FE o X ZRABE T AT
P& BR 4% ) o

BHRWFE  ANEE &
RN FIE - AWRENEE
BB AR, BERE J7 B
BRSO S EER R

B o
o



31.

32.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (contq)
(¢) Compensation of key management personnel
of the Group

FE I RRME
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE-F_MF+_A=+—HILFE

|. EAEE AR 5 ()
() AREEEEEE S

2024 2023
ko1 £ —T_=4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETTT
Short term employee benefits RHEERA 1,548 1,609
Post-employment benefits EEER R EF 162 |44
1,710 1,753
Further details are set out in Note 9 to the consolidated financial BiE—FHEFHNEEMHEEHE
statements. MF3E9 o
RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES 32. RIKERIFTE

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) for all qualifying employees including directors in Hong Kong.
The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in funds under the control of the independent trustee. The scheme
contributions represent contributions payable to the fund by the Group at

rates specified in the rules of the scheme.

Where there are employees who leave the MPF Scheme prior to vesting
fully in the contributions, the amount of the forfeited contributions will be

used to reduce future contributions payable by the Group.

According to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, the PRC
subsidiary is required to contribute a certain percentage of the salaries of
their employees to the state-managed retirement benefit schemes. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit scheme is to

make the required contributions under the scheme.

REBAREBMBEAERER (BIE
BBt AEeRTEI([8iE
T2l - miESFTEIEERAE
BEESFRFA  WHBMLXFTA
B ESTE - srERZKEAS
BEAZLTEIRAEEL X  mEAS

STIROBR o
HEERNHAREBEEATR L RS
ZEHE - ISR WA EE R AR

D 7R SR B R SR FEAS HY (K o

WIRPBERRERER - PEMME
D\ﬂé REEFENETADLRA
BIERRRAEFIFHEI R - K
%@EﬁLﬁiﬁaﬂ-JrilJE’Jﬂﬁ—fﬁz%
RIBFTEIEHPIFR AR

N,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
(E_EUF+ = A=+—HIFFE

32. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES (contq)

The total cost charged to the profit or loss of RMB8,639,000 (2023:
RMBS5,714,000) represents contributions payable to the MPF Scheme and
the state-managed retirement benefit schemes, there were no forfeited

contributions available to reduce future contributions at the end of the

reporting period.

33. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 5 July 2023, Xingye |IOT Management, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a sale and purchase agreement
(the "Agreement”) with Zensun Real Estate, in relation to the acquisition of

its entire equity interest in Zheng Zhi Yue. Pursuant to the Agreement, the

consideration shall be RMB95,000,000 in cash (the “Acquisition”).

Zheng Zhi Yue is principally engaged in property development in the PRC.
The transaction was completed on 26 December 2023 (the “Acquisition
Date"). Details of the acquisition were disclosed in the announcements
or circular of the Company dated 5 July 2023, 28 September 2023 and 2

January 2024.

In the opinion of the directors, the Acquisition did not constitute business
combination as defined in IFRS 3 (Revised) “Business Combinations”.

Therefore, the acquisition had been accounted for as acquisition of assets

during the year ended 31 December 2023.

The directors of the Company have engaged APAC Asset Valuation and
Consulting Limited (“APAC") to provide assistance in determining the fair
value of the assets and liabilities of Zheng Zhi Yue in accordance with IFRS

Accounting Standards. APAC has reviewed the methodologies, the key

valuation parameters and business assumptions adopted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A B IFIRARIEE

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE_ZT_mEf—A=1+—HIFFE

33. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (ontq) 33. WIBHIB 28] )

Since the Acquisition Date and up to 31 December 2023, Zheng Zhi
Yue has not commenced its business, neither revenue nor profits were
contributed to the Group's revenue and profit for the period, between the

Acquisition Date and the end of the reporting period.

The following summarises the consideration paid and the amount of the

BREBEHEREE-T_=F
TZA=+—8  Ez2¥HKRHAR
HERB RNRERHESHREHNR
HAR) - Hah som A TR R AR SR
B H et Ko Al o

RUER B B E 2 A (B A M P B

assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the Acquisition Date: BENMFAIEAESBHMIT
RMB’000
AR%ETR
Net assets acquired: ERBEERE
Property, plant and equipment M - WERFE 180,231
Properties under development R Y% 130,738
Other receivables and other assets HAv e k& E 8,718
Cash and cash equivalents ReKBEEEY 146
Trade payables B 5N FIR (1,926)
Other payables Hh A< 500E (37)
Amounts due to related parties (Note) JE 1< R 75 k3B (B e ) (222,845)
Tax payable JERT AR IE (25)
Total identifiable net assets B EE R ELEE 95,000
Consideration paid, satisfied by: BRE > BBUTHFXZA :
Cash consideration ReERE 95,000
An analysis of the cash flows in respect of BUEBHEATNRERESN
the acquisition of a subsidiary
Cash consideration paid ENRERE 95,000
Cash and cash equivalents acquired R & RIREEEBY (146)
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of FUFEMBARNRE KRS EEY
the acquisition of a subsidiary e 94,854

Note: As at the Acquisition Date, Zheng Zhi Yue was indebted to Zensun Real
Estate in the amount of approximately RMB216,510,000. Pursuant to the
Agreement, Xingye IOT Management is required to repay the full amount of
the amount due to Zensun Real Estate within six months from the Acquisition
Date. As at 31 December 2023, such amount due was fully repaid to Zensun
Real Estate.

fisE: RIKEBRH  FE2HRMNEBE
EHARE2165100007T ° BIF
e BEEYBREEAS KRS
BHIRRNEANEREEERNT T
FRAEXEMNNE RZTZ=F
+-A=+—H EEXZEE
BEETIHBE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—
oy

A AR R EE

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE T _mEf—A=+—HILFE

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

192

(a) Financial risk management objectives and

policies

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise of other assets,
restricted bank deposits, cash and cash equivalents and lease liabilities.
The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise and
maintain finance for the Group's operations. The Group has various
other financial instruments such as trade and other receivables,
contract assets, trade and other payables and contract liabilities, which

arise directly from its business activities.

The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments are (i)
liquidity risk and (i) credit risk. The Directors meet regularly and co-
operate closely with key management to identify and evaluate risks
and generally adopt conservative strategies on the risk management
and limit the Group's exposure to these risks to a minimum as

follows:

(i) Liquidity risk
Management of the Group aims at maintaining sufficient level of
cash and cash equivalents to finance the Group's operations and
property construction. The Group’s primary cash requirements
include payments for operating expenses, additions or upgrades
of property, plant and equipment and payment for construction
cost. The Group finances its working capital requirements

mainly by the funds generated from operations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A IS ERRMIRE

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

HE—ZT-NF+—_A=+—HIFE

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (contg) 34. EM TR (g
(a) Financial risk management objectives and (@) BREMREEEERERBE
policies (Contd) (&)
() Liquidity risk (Contd) () REELER &)
The Group's financial liabilities at the end of the reporting RNEFNIREERER
period based on contractual undiscounted payments are SRR AFZTH S
summarised below: BES@ROT

Weighted Total
average contractual Total

effective Less than Over  undiscounted carrying

interestrate O demand lyear  ltodyears  2toSyears 5 years cash flow amount

it 3] RRARR
Rz HER  JRF 1B EE EBF RERELE  AREE
RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBON  RMBOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO
ARRTR  ARMTR  ARMTR  ARBTx  ARWTR  ARBTn  ARMTR

Asat 31 December 2024 R-B-ME+ZR

=t-f
Non-derivative financial HitemeR
liabilities
Trade payables BREMIE - 430 - - - - 1430 430
Frencid labites nduded nother ST AR BN EERES B
payables and accruals BfRek - 64,111 - - - - 64,111 64,111
Lease bl HEak 500 5 434 434 1,220 120 2,008 1,938
88413 434 434 1220 120 90,621 90351
Asat 31 December 203 S Jas
=t-A
Non-derivative financial Hitemes
liabilities
Trade payables BARMNE - 54959 - - - - 54959 54959
Fiencia labites nduded i other ST AR MEMFUEREH B
payables and accrudls BheBER - 75% - - - - 7253 725%
Lease s HEER 500 - 1214 %4 1301 m 30 30
177494 1214 34 1301 M 130916 130539
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR

YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2024

BE-T-_NF+=A=+—HILFE

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (contq)
(a) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Contd)

194

(ii)

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties and related parties. It is the Group's policy that all
customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to
credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances
are monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group's exposure

to bad debts is not significant.

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group's credit policy,
which is mainly based on ageing information unless other
information is available without undue cost or effort, and year-
end staging classification. The amounts presented are gross

carrying amounts for financial assets.

XINGYE WULIAN SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2024

34 £ TR »)
BREMREEEERBE

(i) EEER

AREEERRARESR
REFME=TT MHEET
ETEE - REBMK
RER MEEAEREER
FRRETEENEFA
BEXEEERERF It
SN - FEUR IR A R HT B
XEE RAKEAX

EERMERI AEK o

TRETREAEEE
ERREENEELER
kemiEERR  EE
2R E M SER (B
FHEHMEMEANS
BEKARL L BN A] &
% AtERIER) - ARF
REBRDE - 252
BATHEENARD
g -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A IS ERRMIRE

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

HE—ZT-NF+—_A=+—HIFE

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conr) 34. EM TR (g
(@) Financial risk management objectives and (@) BREMREEEERERBE
policies (Contq) (%)
(ii) Credit risk (Contd) (i) EEREP &)
As at 31 December 2024 R-EFE-pFE+—H
=+—H

12-months
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1248 A 853

EEEBR RREEESR ——

Stage | Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
FIER FER FMR  WHLEE )
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRE AR®TR AR®TR ARETR AR®TR

Trade receivables EV )36V - - - 59,664 59,664
Financial assets included in AR - Efp
prepayments, other receivables B R E

and other assets BENEREE
— Normal* —EF* 18,720 - - - 18,720
Contract assets BNEE - - - 45,810 45810
Restricted bank deposits XRFATFH
~Not yet past due — R 2,188 - - - 2,188
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEED
~ Not yet past due Ry v 223,944 - - - 3944
244,852 - - 105,474 350,326
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BEHRRMEE

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE—_Z_mFE+_A=1—HIFE

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (contq) 34. €T H )
(@) Financial risk management objectives and (@) BREMREEEERERBE
policies (Contq) (&
(i) Credit risk (Contd) (i) EEREP &)
As at 31 December 2023 R-F—=F+—H
=+—H

[2-months
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 A T8

EEBR 2HBRHEERE S
implified

Stage | Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total

F IR FIER FWER Bl T
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETRT ARBTE ARETR ARETR

Trade receivables B S EWRFR - - - 102,179 102,179
Financial assets included ATATRRFUE - Bt
in prepayments, other FETE R E A &
receivables and otherassets ~ EREREE
— Normal* —IEE* 13518 - - - 13518
Contract assets AHEE - - - 39,536 39,536
Restricted bank deposits XRFATFH
— Not et past due —mARRH 1587 - - - 1,587
Cash and cash equivalents e REEEEW
— Not yet past due — R ER 210,684 - - - 210,684
225,789 - - 141,715 367,504
* The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments, * e ATE 58 - B
other receivables and other assets is considered to be “normal” 1 5018 Jo B
when they are not past due and there is no information indicating B2 Fl A A e
that the financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk since B H L fm SR I
initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets E DR EER = B
is considered to be “doubtful’”. B B 1745 BEZR LA A
1E1E 0 - Rl E2 f
BEMNEEEXRYT
WIIEE ] > A it
EeHMEEMNEZEE
EREBMATFE] -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (contq)
(a) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Contd)

(ii)

Credit risk (Contd)

The Group's customer base consists of a wide range of clients
and the trade receivables and contract assets are categorised
by common risk characteristics that are representative of the
customers’ abilities to pay all amounts due in accordance
with the contractual terms. The Group applies a simplified
approach in calculating ECL for trade receivables and contract
assets and recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECL
at each reporting date and has established a provision matrix
that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment. The expected loss rate used in the
provision matrix is calculated for each category based on
actual credit loss experience over the past years and adjusted
for current and forward-looking factors to reflect differences
between economic conditions during the period over which
the historical data has been collected, current conditions and
the Group'’s estimate on future economic conditions over the

expected lives of the receivables.

Throughout the year, management kept monitoring the
recoverability of trade receivables and contract assets. Since
there is a slow recovery in the PRC property market which is
an indicator for a significant change in credit risk, management
reassessed and revise the expected credit loss rate during the
year ended 31 December 2024.

A B IFIRARIEE

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE_ZT_mEf—A=1+—HIFFE

34 £ TR »)
(@) BKEREEEERIBER

(i) EERE &)

AEENEFPHEHEK
BRHEKRUARE S BN
HREREHNEENRLE
RS EOE  ZER
BAREREFPERRBREH
R P B B AR IR
BRE S - AREREAKY
b EETEE S REKK
BRENEEMNEHRE
EEE - BES®REH
A2 HEREEEE
WREERE  BEE
BEEERBELREY
BiEER - WHEBKA
A8 IR 5 E Y A I
MEZRETHE - BHE
EERMEANTERE
BEDERBREFED
EREEBBELRIES
BRETHE  UE
Al R ATIE R REITH
B RS RBTEH
BHESLBERR - &
AR S 2 7K & Bt e UK
FIATEHAF BABY R R A8
B ET 2 F R ZE
o

REEFE  BEEE—
EEEBESRUFAR
BHEEMAYEME -
HRFEMETSRE
re(REERRBLE

BERHBE_ZT_NE
+-—A=+—8B1ItFE
NES IR CHEER

EEEEEX -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE IS ERRM AR

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

HE—T-mF+—_A=+—HIEFE

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conr) 34. EM TR (g
(@) Financial risk management objectives and (@ UKEMREEEERBER
policies (Contq) (&)
(i) Credit risk (Contd) (i) EERER &)
As at 31 December 2024 R-EFE-pFE+—H
=+—H

Within
| year
£
Trade receivables BAERFE
Expected credit loss rate BHEERRX 1% 3.8% 24.1% 54% 100% 3.1%

Gross caryingamount due ~ [EMCEV =
from independent third Z%mE

parties (RMBOOO) (NRETFTT) 24,384 3,988 556 298 210 29,436
Bxpected credit losses BHEERR

(RMB(000) (ARETT) 258 151 134 16l 210 914
Bxpected credit loss rate LI 4.7% 12.3% 35.1% 100% 100% 10%

Gross carmying amount el BREE
due from related parties (AREFTL)

(RMBOOO) 16,607 11,709 1,697 192 2 30,228
Expected credit losses EHREEEE
(RMBI00O) (AREFT) 786 1,436 596 192 yki 3,033

Total expected creditlosses ~ TAEREEFFBAE
(RMB(000) (ARETFT) 1,044 1,587 730 353 233 3947
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A IS ERRMIRE

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

HE—ZT-NF+—_A=+—HIFE

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (contt) 34. £MT A p)
(@) Financial risk management objectives and (@ UKEMREEEERBER
policies (Contq) (%)
(i) Credit risk (Contd) (i) EEREP &)
As at 31 December 2023 R-DF-—=F+_H
=+—A

Within
| year
IER

Trade receivables ESEWRE

Expected credit loss rate REEEERX 1% 41% 203% 42.6% 27%

Gross carrying amount due FECE 2 = 77 120k
from independent third HEARETT)

parties (RMB'000) 20964 6,166 686 298 28,114
Expected credit losses EHEEEE

(RMB000) (AR®FTT) 233 253 139 127 752
Expected credit loss rate EEEEERX 0.8% 3.1% 7.6% 304% 2.3%
Gross canrying amount el N B REE

due from related parties (ARETT)

(RMB'000) 32,125 38,138 3779 23 74,065
Expected credit losses REEEER

(RMB'000) (ARETT) 271 [,188 286 7 [,752

Total expected creditlosses ~ TREVEEEEBRE
(RMBI000) (AR%F) 504 | 441 95 134 2,504

Contract assets ANEE

Expected credit loss rate TBHEEEEE 10.2% 0.8%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) HEMEARETT) 45,810 39,536
Expected credit losses (RMB'000) EHEEEBR(ARETT) 4,663 334
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—
5

A

A AR R EE

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
E LT U= A= —HIFFEE

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (contq)

(b) Categories of financial instruments
Categories of financial instruments of the Group are set out as
follows:

34 £ TR »)

(b) £ERTEYERI
AEER SR T AERIHS 0
T

2024 2023
—E-=F

—FMmF
RMB’000
ARETT

RMB'000
ARETT

Financial assets at amortised cost BREERATRNEMEE
Trade receivables 2 5 e EIE 55,717 99,675
Financial assets included in prepayments,  5F ATETFUE ~ HiEWERIE N
other receivables and other assets HtWEENESREE 18,720 13518
Restricted bank deposits SRIITTER 2,188 1,587
Cash and cash equivalents RekBeEEY 223,944 210,684
300,569 325,464
Financial liabilities at amortised cost BREERATRNEHEE
Trade payables B S IR 24,302 54,959
Financial liabilities included in other payables &t AELfthFE I 30IA K fEZTE A
and accruals eRasE 64,111 72,535
Lease liabilities HEBE 1,938 3,045
90,351 130,539

35. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

200

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash equivalents,
trade receivables, trade payables, financial assets included in prepayments,
other receivables and other assets and financial liabilities included in other
payables and accruals approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to
the short term maturities of these instruments as at 3|1 December 2024 and

2023.

The Group’s finance department headed by the finance manager is
responsible for determining the policies and procedures for the fair value
measurement of financial instruments. The finance manager reports directly
to the chief financial officer and those charged with governance. At each
reporting date, the finance department analyses the movements in the
values of financial instruments and determines the major inputs applied in
the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved by the chief financial
officer.
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35.

36.

37.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (contq)

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at the
amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current
transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The objectives of the Group's capital management are to safeguard its ability
to continue as a going concem in order to provide returns for shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders, to maintain an optimal capital structure
to reduce the cost of capital and to support the Group’s stability and
growth. The directors of the Company consider the total equity as disclosed
in the consolidated statement of financial position as the Group’s capital.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital structure
to ensure optimal capital structure and shareholder returns, taking into
consideration the future capital requirements of the Group. In order to
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount
of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares or return capital
to shareholders. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or
processes during the years ended 3| December 2024 and 2023.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings divided by total equity. As at the end of the
reporting period, there were no interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.
As such, no gearing ratio as at the end of the reporting date was presented.

COMMITMENTS
Capital expenditure commitments

A B IFIRARIEE

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE_ZT_mEf—A=1+—HIFFE

35. &M T AN A FER D FE

B )
SREAERAEY AT ERAEET
475 2 B T 5 (e s e
EX GBI BEERET AN
INT

36. EARER

AEBNERNEEBFRAEREA
BRELEHRE S ARIRERIEH
[B] 3 K% /% E Al ) 25 48 B & 7 2R UL
o BRREENEBUREER
B S A5 AR SR B AR TE B K o
ARBEEGERE M BARRK P P
BENEDERAAAEENER -

Kt RASEBRRERESR - K
SEFXrHMEFHEMREREER
HEERUBREEEAEERRRE
o REFRABRERERE K&
EreEAERRRRNTORES
B BOFTRMDIARRRESR
ReRBEZZE-_NFR-FT-=
FH+-_A=+—HLFE  UEE
WEMERE « BURIER o

RERBIABE B B R (A BIRTT
REAMERGARRER) EREE
Ko RIBEHR - WEEBIRITR
HAERR - Bt - RS HRIL &
2IEMEERELE -

37. IRiE

BARRXEE

2024 2023
—EEF —E-=

RMB’000
ARETT

RMB'000
ARETT

Contracted but not provided for property
TEL B

development expenditures

EATAME R EF R

282,068 311,454
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BEHRRMEE

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
HE—T-mF+—_A=+—HIEFE

38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 38. A BB IR T
COMPANY

2024 2023
—EEF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ETT ARBFT

Non-current asset FERENEE
Interest in a subsidiary N E=YNGI oy £ 350 350

Current assets RENEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries JFE LB BB A B 7R 240,638 237,882
Cash and cash equivalent ReMReEED 1,748 291
242,386 238,173
Current liabilities RENBE

Amount due to a related party &~ A B 7 3k 1B 6,316 5,637
Other payables and accruals H b e FOE K EETE 3,652 454
9,968 6,091
Net current assets RENEERE 232,418 232,082
NET ASSETS BEERE 232,768 232432

Capital and reserves BARRGRE
Share capital fi& A< 27 3,572 3,572
Reserves s 38(a) 229,196 228,860
TOTAL EQUITY SR 232,768 232432
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRRMEE

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE_ZT_mEf—A=1+—HIFFE

38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 38. AQ BB RNR &)

COMPANY (contq)
(a) Movements of the reserves (@) REE2H
Share Exchange  Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
RipEE B 2EE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR®TE AR¥TR AR®TxR
(Note 28(a))
(M3E28(a))
Asat | January 2023 R-Z-—#—F—§ 246327 2811) (13373) 230,143
Loss for the year FREE - - (4,639) (4,639)
Other comprehensive income FREMZERA
for the year
ltem that will not be reclassified subsequently B TS EFH 7452
to profit or loss RahEE
Exchange differences on translation from ~ HEEEEH A2 7|
functional currency to presentation SENERER
currency - 3356 - 3356
Total comprehensive income FRZHERALE
for the year - 335 (4639) (1283)
As at 31 December 2023 and RZEZ=F+=f
| January 2024 =t+-AKR-T-QmF
—H—H 246,327 545 (18,012) 228,860
Loss for the year FREE - = (4,668) (4,668)
Other comprehensive income FREMZERA
for the year
ltem that will not be reclassified subsequently ~EETBEFH7EE
to profit or loss BB A
Exchange differences on translation from &N EK A2
functional currency to presentation EEMERLES
currency - 5,004 - 5,004
Total comprehensive loss for the year A2 EEHEEH - 5,004 (4,668) 336
As at 31 December 2024 R=B-MF+=A
=+-H 246,327 5,549 (22,680) 229,196
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
RIEBE

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS GEEE
2024 2023 2020
—EMEF 28 = = —E-FF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AREBTET ARETRT ARETRT ARETT
Revenue g 359,074 358,943 321,069 281,660 213,188
Gross profit E5 107,152 97219 99,682 93,806 86,739
Profit before tax BRI AT & A 60,983 56,875 64,986 72,769 60,720
Income tax expense PGB (15,916) (16,694) (17,788) (18241) (172217)
Profit for the year F @A 45,067 40,181 47,198 54,528 43,503
Attributable to: AT LG -
Owners of the Company AR BIHEA A 45,053 40,173 47,175 54,528 43,503

CONSOLIDATED ASSETS, EQUITY AND LIABILITIES #GAEE - EXREE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—ENF 28 28 25 —E-FF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETRET ARETRT ARETRT ARETT

Assets BE
Non-current assets IEREBEE 209,427 191936 7,387 6,209 7,141
Current assets TRENEE 506,708 507,118 583,944 526,020 423,113
Total assets BERE 716,135 699,054 591,331 532,229 430,254

Equity and liabilities EsRaE

Non-current liabilities FRBALE 3,183 5,245 4762 6,037 5,833
Current liabilities nBBE 212,981 238779 173,072 155,684 108,077
Total liabilities BEER 216,164 244,024 177,834 161,721 113910
Total equity B 499,971 455,030 413,497 370,508 316,344
Total equity and liabilities  # % &2 B {E4R R 716,135 699,054 591,331 532,229 430,254
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